
 

 
 

 

 

 
Resources Department 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 
 
 

AGENDA FOR THE PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE B 

 
Members of Planning Sub Committee B are summoned to a meeting, which will be held in the 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 2 October 2017 at 7.30 pm. 
 
Yinka Owa 
Director of Law and Governance 
 

Enquiries to : Jackie Tunstall 

Tel : 020 7527 3068 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 21 September 2017 

 
Welcome:  
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.  
 
Consideration of Planning Applications – This is a formal agenda where decisions are taken on 
planning applications submitted to the Council. Public speaking rights on these items are limited to 
those wishing to comment on specific applications. If you wish to speak at the meeting please 
register by calling the Planning Department on 020 7527 2278 or emailing 
enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk 
 
Committee Membership Wards Substitute Members 
 
Councillor Donovan-Hart (Chair) - Clerkenwell; 
Councillor Khan - Bunhill; 
Councillor Court - Clerkenwell; 
Councillor Kay - Mildmay; 
Councillor Fletcher - St George's; 
 

Councillor Nicholls - Junction; 
Councillor Picknell - St Mary's; 
Councillor Gantly - Highbury East; 
Councillor Ward - St George's; 
Councillor Chowdhury - Barnsbury; 
Councillor Convery - Caledonian; 
Councillor A Perry - St Peter's; 
Councillor Williamson - Tollington; 
Councillor Gill - St George's; 
Councillor Wayne - Canonbury; 
Councillor Poyser - Hillrise; 
Councillor O'Halloran - Caledonian; 
Councillor Webbe - Bunhill; 
Councillor Turan - St Mary's; 

Quorum: 3 councillors  

Public Document Pack

mailto:enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk


 
 
 

 
 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Introductions 
 

 

2.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Substitute Members 
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and 
the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e)  Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

5.  Order of Business 
 

1 - 4 

6.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 
 
 
 

5 - 12 



 
 
 

B.  
 

Consideration of Planning Applications 
 

Page 

1.  44 Pear Street, London, EC1V 3SB 
 

13 - 62 

2.  60 Halliford Street, N1 3EQ 
 

63 - 94 

3.  Newington Green Primary School, 105 Matthias Road, N16 8NP 
 

95 - 112 

4.  Orchard Building, 25 Pear Tree Street, EC1V 3AP 
 

113 - 144 

5.  Unit 9 & 10, 9 Frogmore Industrial Estate, 99 Kelvin Road, N5 2PL 
 

145 - 162 

C.  
 

Consideration of other planning matters 
 

 

D.  
 

Urgent non-exempt items 
 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair is of the opinion should be considered 
as a matter of urgency and to consider whether the special circumstances 
included in the report as to why it was not included on and circulated with the 
agenda are acceptable for recording in the minutes. 
 

 

E.  
 

Exclusion of press and public 
 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the 
agenda, it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and public during 
discussion thereof. 
 

 

F.  
 

Confidential/exempt items 
 

Page 

G.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by 
the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 
Date of Next Meeting: Planning Sub Committee B,  21 November 2017 
 

Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the council's 
website: 

www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 
 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


 
 
 

PROCEDURES FOR PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
 
Planning Sub-Committee Membership  
Each Planning Sub-Committee consists of five locally elected members of the council who will 
decide on the applications for planning permission. 
 
 
Order of Agenda  
The Chair of the Planning Sub-Committee has discretion to bring forward items, or vary the order 
of the agenda, where there is a lot of public interest. 
 
 
Consideration of the Application  
After hearing from council officers about the main issues of the proposal and any information 
additional to the written report, the Chair will invite those objectors who have registered to speak 
for up to three minutes on any point relevant to the application. If more than one objector is present 
for any application then the Chair may request that a spokesperson should speak on behalf of all 
the objectors. The spokesperson should be selected before the meeting begins. The applicant will 
then be invited to address the meeting also for three minutes. These arrangements may be varied 
at the Chair's discretion.  
 
Members of the Planning Sub-Committee will then discuss and vote to decide the application. The 
drawings forming the application are available for inspection by members during the discussion.  
 
Please note that the Planning Committee will not be in a position to consider any additional 
material (e.g. further letters, plans, diagrams etc.) presented on that evening. Should you wish to 
provide any such information, please send this to the case officer a minimum of 24 hours before 
the meeting. If you submitted an objection but now feel that revisions or clarifications have 
addressed your earlier concerns, please write to inform us as soon as possible.  
 
 
What Are Relevant Planning Objections?  
The Planning Sub-Committee is required to decide on planning applications in accordance with the 
policies in the Development Plan unless there are compelling other reasons. The officer's report to 
the Planning Sub-Committee will refer to the relevant policies and evaluate the application against 
these policies. Loss of light, openness or privacy, disturbance to neighbouring properties from 
proposed intrusive uses, over development or the impact of proposed development in terms of 
size, scale, design or character on other buildings in the area, are relevant grounds for objection. 
Loss of property value, disturbance during building works and competition with existing uses are 
not. Loss of view is not a relevant ground for objection, however an unacceptable increase in 
sense of enclosure is. 
 
 
For further information on how the Planning Sub-Committee operates and how to put your 
views to the Planning Sub-Committee please call Ola Adeoye/Jackie Tunstall on 020 7527 
3044/3068. If you wish to speak at the meeting please register by calling the Planning 
Department on 020 7527 2278 or emailing enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk 
 
 

  

mailto:enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk


Schedule of Planning Applications

PLANNING COMMITTEE -  Monday 2 October, 2017

COMMITTEE AGENDA

44 Pear Tree Street

London

EC1V 3SB

1

60 Halliford Street, London, N1 3EQ2

Newington Green Primary School

105 Matthias Road

Islington

LONDON

N16 8NP

3

Orchard Building, 25 Pear Tree Street, London, EC1V 3AP4

Unit 9 & 10

9 Frog more Industrial Estate

99 Kelvin Road

London

N5 2PL

5

44 Pear Tree Street

London

EC1V 3SB

1

BunhillWard:

Demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment of the site to include the 

construction of a 5 storey including basement level  mixed use development containing 

863sqm office floorspace GIA (Class B1) on the lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 

residential units (Class C3) on the second, third and fourth floors (6 x 2 beds, 2 x 3 beds) .  

Provision of refuse & recycling facilities and cycle parking facilities on the ground floor and 

associated alterations. (AMENDED PLANS: Amendments include alterations to the screening 

and relationship with the Pietra Lara Building (Flats 1 and 4) and alterations to the layout of 

units 7 and 8 at the fifth floor level).

Proposed Development:

P2017/0865/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning ApplicationApplication Type:
Emily BenedekCase Officer:
c/o AgentName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

60 Halliford Street, London, N1 3EQ2

Page 1 of 3Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 1

Agenda Item A5



CanonburyWard:

Variation of condition 2 (Approved Drawings) of planning consent Ref: P2016/4970/FUL for 

'Demolition of the existing rear lower ground floor level conservatory and erection of a single 

storey full width, two storey part width rear extension. Installation of new upper ground floor 

window to side elevation. Enlargement of existing dormer window in rear roof slope and 

installation of new Velux-type roof window in rear roof slope' to allow for the demolition and 

rebuilding of the garden wall to form a side wall of the single storey extension..

Proposed Development:

P2017/2464/S73Application Number:

Removal/Variation of Condition (Section 73)Application Type:
Thomas BroomhallCase Officer:
Mr AveryName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Newington Green Primary School

105 Matthias Road

Islington

LONDON

N16 8NP

3

MildmayWard:

Erection of external canopy to east elevationProposed Development:

P2017/1518/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning ApplicationApplication Type:
Daniel JeffriesCase Officer:
Canopies UK - Mr Stephen WruckName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Orchard Building, 25 Pear Tree Street, London, EC1V 3AP4

BunhillWard:

The erection of two roof extensions and stair walkway over fifth floor level to provide three x 

self-contained 2 bedroom residential units together with private terraces and a green-brown 

roof. (Reconsultation following updated drawings which seek permission for the following 

amendments to the scheme:

- The height has been reduced to 3.6m from existing roof level.

- The layout plan has been annotated to clarify the terrace areas that are for access only and 

common parts. The balustrades of the roof terraces on all have been set back from the 

parapet and size of terrace areas reduced.

- The position and size of external doors and windows have been adjusted .

- Updated Sunlight/daylight report submitted.

Proposed Development:

P2016/4087/FULApplication Number:

Full Planning ApplicationApplication Type:
Joe AggarCase Officer:
Central Street (Pear Tree) LtdName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Unit 9 & 10

9 Frog more Industrial Estate

99 Kelvin Road

London

N5 2PL

5

Page 2 of 3Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 2



Highbury EastWard:

Section 73 application for the variation to conditions 3 (hours of operation and deliveries) of 

planning consent ref P122329 dated 12/08/2013 for the : 

Retention of unit 9 & unit 10 for use as B8 storage and distribution with ancillary trade counter.

The variation seeks to alter the hours of operation and deliveries to: 

07:30-18:00 hrs Monday to Friday 

07:30-13:00 hrs Saturday 

Closed on Sundays and Bank Holidays

Proposed Development:

P2017/1597/S73Application Number:

Removal/Variation of Condition (Section 73)Application Type:
Joe AggarCase Officer:
Mr Mark ChurchillName of Applicant:

Recommendation:

Page 3 of 3Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

4 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Sub Committee B held at Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on  25 July 2017 at 7.30 pm. 

 
 

Present: Councillors: James Court (Items B2-B11), James Court, Alice 
Donovan-Hart (Chair), Jenny Kay and Robert Khan.  

   

Councillor Alice Donovan-Hart in the Chair 

 

290 INTRODUCTIONS (Item A1) 
 
Councillor Alice Donovan welcomed everyone to the meeting. Members of the Committee 
and officers introduced themselves. 
 

291 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A2) 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Kat Fletcher. 
 

292 DECLARATIONS OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A3) 
 
There were no declarations of substitute members.  
 

293 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A4) 
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

294 ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item A5) 
 
The order of business would be B1, B2, B4-B9, B3, B11 and B10. 
 

295 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A6) 
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2017 be confirmed as an accurate record 
of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 
 

296 198 BRECKNOCK ROAD, N19 5BE (Item B1) 
 
Change of use of the building into seven residential dwellings (C3 use class), including 
extensions fronting Corinne Road at lower ground, ground floor and roof level and other 
external alterations including replacement timber windows with new timber windows 
throughout.  Associated landscaping and new fencing. 
(Planning application number: P2015/5283/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 Two letters of objection from a neighbouring resident had been received which had 
not been included in the report.  The planning officer read out a summary of these 
objections and informed the Sub-Committee that all issues raised had been 
addressed in the report. 

Page 5

Agenda Item A6



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

5 
 

 The objector had asked that this item be deferred as he had not been informed 
about the date of the meeting.  However, members considered that as he was 
present at the meeting and could hear the submissions this carried little weight and 
agreed not to defer the application. 

 Regarding the daylight/sunlight report, the loss of sunlight to the garden at 200 
Brecknock Road was greater than a 20% loss, however this was considered by the 
Sub-Committee to be a breach of such a level to be weighed against the benefits of 
the scheme coming forward. All other neighbouring premises were BRE guideline 
compliant. 

 Where the distance of neighbouring windows was less than 18m, three windows at 
ground floor level in the north eastern elevation of the proposed extension would be 
obscure glass to prevent overlooking. One of these serves a living room area, 
however the living room had another window to another elevation which would not 
be obscure glazed, maintaining a good level of outlook and providing good level of 
amenity for future occupiers. 
 

RESOLVED: 

That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
Appendix 1 of the officer report and subject to the prior completion of a Deed of Planning 
Obligation made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing 
the heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report. 
 

297 27 COLLEGE CROSS, N1 1PT (Item B2) 
 
Retention of existing timber clad outbuilding, with a reduction in size (from 3.6m deep x 4.65 
wide x 2.8m high to 2.5m deep x 3.7m wide and 2.8 high) and excavation with lowering into 
the ground (by 200mm) located to the end of the rear garden, re-orientation of timber 
cladding from horizontal to vertical orientation. 
(Planning application number: P2016/0261/FUL and P2016/0309/LBC) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 Permission was granted for the height of the outbuilding at 25 College Cross at 
2.15m.  The height of the current outbuilding at 27 College Cross was 2.8 m reduced 
to 2.6 including ground excavation of 200m proposed.  There was also a difference 
in land levels which reduced the appearance of height. 

 It was considered that the existing overhang of 30cms increased the total perceived 
scale and mass of the structure and increase the visibility of the roof from 
neighbouring properties. 
 
Councillor Jenny Kay proposed a motion to condition the removal of the overhang. 
This was seconded by Councillor Khan and carried. 

 
RESOLVED: 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 of the officer report and the additional condition outlined above; 
the wording of which was delegated to officers and detailed as follows:- 

 Condition 6: 
Notwithstanding the approved drawings planning permission is not granted for the 
overhanging roof to the front elevation. The proposed roof shall match the 
dimensions of the footprint in area 3.7m wide by 2.5m deep. 
REASON: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the 
heritage asset and the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 

 

Page 6



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

6 
 

 

298 PART OF LAND AT WILLIAMSON STREET ESTATE (AREA BETWEEN 28/29 AND 46 
BELFONT WALK), WILLIAMSON STREET, N7 (Item B3) 
 
Redevelopment of existing open hard landscaped to provide 2 no. two-storey, two bedroom 
residential units.  A public access route through the estate will be maintained within the 
proposals. 
(Planning application number: P2017/1736/FUL) 
 
RESOLVED: 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
Appendix 1 of the officer report and subject to the prior completion of a Directors’ 
Agreement made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing 
the heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report. 
 

299 PAVEMENT AREA OPPOSITE NUMBER 34 ISLINGTON GREEN (Item B4) 
 
Full planning permission:  Retrospective application for the installation of a free-standing 
solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer interface. 
Advertisement consent: Retrospective application for the erection of 3no. non-illuminated 
signs displayed on the free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding 
surfaces and a customer interface. 
(Planning application number: P2017/1530/FUL & P2017/1590/ADV) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 The applicant had confirmed by email on the day of the Sub-Committee that no more 
than 1 advertisement would be displayed at any one time with the remaining 
surfaces either blank or containing information about the Smart Bench (i.e user 
instructions or Wi-Fi). 

 The content of the advertisements used could not be controlled by planning 
condition. 

 It was noted that the smart benches could have been installed by the council as 
highways authority using permitted development rights. 

 Members considered that there was a very small public benefit which needed to be 
weighed against the public harm. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not a material planning 
consideration.  

 The contract was for ten years (which was not a relevant planning consideration), 
although if granted permission this would not be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 9 letters of support and 1 further letter of 
objection had been received. 

 The applicant had stated that in this location it was proposed to have 1 
advertisement on the front pillar only. 

 There was no knowledge of any police incidents following the installation of the 
smart bench however the concerns of the police were detailed in the report. 

 This bench replaced an existing bench which was a low level bench and not visible 
from the views across Islington Green. 

 The consideration that the benches added to the street clutter and was not 
appropriate for the area. 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission and advertisement consent be refused for the reasons set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report.  
 

Page 7



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

7 
 

 

300 PAVEMENT AT THE CORNER OF NEWINGTON GREEN ROAD AND FERNTOWER 
ROAD N1 4RA (Item B5) 
 
Full planning permission:  Retrospective application for the installation of a free-standing 
solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer interface. 
Advertisement consent: Retrospective application for the erection of 3no. non-illuminated 
signs displayed on the free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding 
surfaces and a customer interface. 
 
(Planning application number: P2017/1567/FUL & P2017/1636/ADV) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 The applicant had confirmed by email on the day of the Sub-Committee that no more 
than 1 advertisement would be displayed at any one time with the remaining 
surfaces either blank or containing information about the Smart Bench (i.e user 
instructions or Wi-Fi). 

 The content of the advertisements used could not be controlled by planning 
condition. 

 It was noted that the smart benches could have been installed by the council as 
highways authority using permitted development rights. 

 Members considered that there was a very small public benefit which needed to be 
weighed against the public harm. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not a material planning 
consideration.  

 The contract was for ten years (which was not a relevant planning consideration) 
although if granted permission this would not be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 7 letters of support and 1 further letter of 
objection had been received. 

 There was no knowledge of any police incidents following installation of the smart 
bench however the concerns of the police were detailed in the report. 

 That consideration be given to reducing rather than increasing the amount of street 
clutter. 

 This was a replacement of an existing bench which would be taller but kept to a 
minimum height. 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission and advertisement consent be refused for the reasons set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report.  
 

301 PAVEMENT IN FRONT OF 81-83 ESSEX ROAD (Item B6) 
 
Full planning permission:  Retrospective application for the installation of a free-standing 
solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer interface. 
Advertisement consent: Retrospective application for the erection of 3no. non-illuminated 
signs displayed on the free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding 
surfaces and a customer interface. 
 
(Planning application number: P2017/1554/FUL & P2017/1602/ADV) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 The applicant had confirmed by email on the day of the Sub-Committee that no more 
than 1 advertisement would be displayed at any one time with the remaining 

Page 8



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

8 
 

surfaces either blank or containing information about the Smart Bench (i.e user 
instructions or Wi-Fi). 

 The content of the advertisements used could not be controlled by planning 
condition. 

 It was noted that the smart benches could have been installed by the council as 
highways authority using permitted development rights. 

 Members considered that there was a very small public benefit which needed to be 
weighed against the public harm. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not grounds for 
consideration.  

 The contract was for ten years (which was not a relevant planning consideration) 
although if granted permission this would not be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 9 letters of support and 1 further letter of 
objection had been received. 

 The bench did not replace an existing bench. 

 The bench had been situated directly outside a Grade II building and would add to 
the clutter in the existing street scene contrary to Policy DM2.6. It was also contrary 
to the NPPF. 

 Councilor Khan advised that he was not further convinced of further public benefit 
from air quality monitoring details against the harm caused. 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission and advertisement consent be refused for the reasons set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report.  
 

302 PAVEMENT OPPOSITE 130 OLD STREET, EC1V (Item B7) 
 
Full planning permission:  Retrospective application for the installation of a free-standing 
solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer interface. 
(Planning application number: P2017/1566/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 It was noted that the smart benches could have been installed by the council as 
highways authority using permitted development rights. 

 Members considered that there was a very small public benefit which needed to be 
weighed against the public harm. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not a material planning 
consideration.  

 The contract was for a ten year period (which was not a material planning 
consideration), although if granted permission this would not be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 12 letters of support and 4 further letters of 
objection had been received. 

 The bench did not replace an existing bench. 

 There was no knowledge of any police incidents following the installation of the 
smart bench however the concerns of the police were detailed in the report. 

 The application for the smart bench and advertisement consent were taken as two 
separate items following legal advice. 

 The metropolitan police were considered to be the experts regarding crime and 
disorder. 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission be refused for the reasons set out in Appendix 1 of the report.  
 
 

Page 9



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

9 
 

303 PAVEMENT OPPOSITE 130 OLD STREET, EC1V (Item B8) 
 
Retrospective application for the erection of 3no. non-illuminated signs displayed on the 
free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer 
interface. 
 
(Planning application number: P2017/1566/FUL) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 The applicant had confirmed by email on the day of the Sub-Committee that no more 
than 2 advertisements would be displayed at any one time. 

 The content of the advertisements used could not be controlled by planning 
condition. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not grounds for 
consideration and was not an issue that could be weighed in favour of an 
advertisement consent application.  

 The contract was for a ten year period, although if granted permission this would not 
be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 12 letters of support and 4 further letters of 
objection had been received. 

 The application for the smart bench and advertisement consent were taken as two 
separate items following legal advice. 

 Members were concerned regarding the location of the advertisements and 
considered that they would have an unacceptable impact on visual amenity.  
 

Councillor Khan proposed a motion to refuse the application on the grounds of visual 
amenity with its proximity to the Grade 1 St Lukes Church. This was seconded by Councillor 
Donovan-Hart and carried.  

 
RESOLVED: 
That advertisement consent be refused for the reasons set out above, the wording of which 
was delegated to officers in conjunction with the chair and detailed as follows:- 
 
REASON: The proposed advertisements, by reason of their number, size and siting on the 
Smart Bench would be unduly prominent and have a detrimental visual impact on the 
amenity of the area when viewed within context of the Grade I listed St Lukes Church and 
the setting of the St Lukes Conservation Area located within close proximity. As such the 
proposal would be contrary to policies CS8 and CS (of the Islington Core Strategy (2011), 
policies DM2.1, 2.3 and 2.6 of the Islington Development Management Policies (2013) and 
the Islington Urban Design Guide (2017). 
 

304 PAVEMENT OPPOSITE 198 ESSEX ROAD, N1 (Item B9) 
 
Full planning permission:  Retrospective application for the installation of a free-standing 
solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding surfaces and a customer interface. 
Advertisement consent: Retrospective application for the erection of 3no. non-illuminated 
signs displayed on the free-standing solar-powered Smart Bench featuring four branding 
surfaces and a customer interface. 
 
(Planning application number: P2017/1563/FUL & P2017/1619/ADV) 
 
In the discussion the following points were made: 

 The applicant had confirmed by email on the day of the Sub-Committee that no more 
than 2 advertisements would be displayed at any one time. 

Page 10



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

10 
 

 The content of the advertisements used could not be controlled by planning 
condition. 

 It was noted that the smart benches could have been installed by the council as 
highways authority using permitted development rights. 

 Members considered that there was a very small public benefit which needed to be 
weighed against the public harm. 

 The direct financial benefit to any charity advertised was not a material planning 
consideration.  

 The contract was for a ten year period (which was not a material planning 
consideration), athough if granted permission this would not be time limited. 

 Following the publication of the report 8 letters of support and 1 further letter of 
objection had been received. 

 The bench was a replacement of an existing bench and was not in a conservation 
area.  

 The pavement was wide and the bench was not considered to be visually dominant.  

 The application was consistent with policy. 
 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission and advertisement consent be granted subject to the conditions 
and informatives set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report with the amendment to condition 
6 as follows:- 
 
A maximum number of 2 advertisements can be displayed at any one time on the following 
areas: front pillar, side pillar, inner side, door and interface. In addition, the maximum area 
of advertising per surface is set as following: 
Front Pillar: 60% 
Side Pillar: 40% 
Inner Side: 30% 
Door: 100% 
Interface: 100% 
 
REASON: To ensure the adverts do not have an adverse effect on the amenity of the 
locality. 
 

305 PLAYGROUND BETWEEN 92 AND 94 BRIDE STREET, N7 (Item B10) 
 
Section 73 application to vary Condition 2 (Drawings) of Planning Permission reference 
P2015/3442/FUL for the ‘refurbishment of pitch to include artificial turf pitch, plus new 
entrance with ramp, cycle standards, associated fencing, lighting and safety surfaces’. 
(Planning application number: P2017/0819/S73) 
 
RESOLVED: 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
Appendix 1 of the officer report and subject to the prior completion of a Directors’ 
Agreement made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing 
the heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report. 
 

306 TYNDALE MANSIONS, 33-102 UPPER STREET, N1 2XG (Item B11) 
 
Replacement of existing single glazed Crittal windows with double glazed aluminium units 
on the rear elevation.  
(Planning application number: P2017/0343/FUL) 
 
 

Page 11



Planning Sub Committee B -  25 July 2017 
 

11 
 

RESOLVED: 
That planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and informatives set out in 
Appendix 1 of the officer report. 
 
 
 
 

 The meeting ended at 10.15 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIR 
 

Page 12



 
 
 

 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE B  

Date: 2 October 2017 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2017/0865/FUL 

Application type Full Planning Application  

Ward Bunhill Ward 

Listed building Not listed 

Conservation area None 

Development Plan Context Bunhill & Clerkenwell Core Strategy Key Area 
Central Activities Zone 
Finsbury Local Plan Policy BC8 – Employment Growth 
Area (General) 
Finsbury Local Plan Area 
Within 50m of St Luke’s Conservation Area 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address 44 Pear Tree Street, London, EC1V 3SB 

Proposal Demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment 
of the site to include the construction of a 5 storey 
including basement level mixed use development 
containing 863sqm office floorspace GIA (Class B1) on 
the lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 residential 
units (Class C3) on the second, third and fourth floors (6 x 
2 beds, 2 x 3 beds).  Provision of refuse & recycling 
facilities and cycle parking facilities on the ground floor 
and associated alterations. 

 

 

Case Officer Emily Benedek 

Applicant North Square Properties (UK) Ltd 

Agent Mr Kieron Hodgson – Iceni Projects 

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
  The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission: 
 

 
1. subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item B1



2. subject to the completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation made under section 106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing the heads of terms as set out in 
Appendix 1. 

 
 

2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 14



 
3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 

 
 

 
 

Image 1:  Aerial view of the application site 
 
                                                                                                           

 

 
 

Image 2: Aerial view in north direction 

Application Site 

Application Site 

Page 15



 
 

Image 3: Photo of Application Site 
 
 

 

 
 
Image 4: Photo of existing relationship with Pietra Lara Building to the east of the site 
 

Page 16



 

 
 
Image 5:  Photo showing existing relationship with student accommodation to the east of the site 
  
 

 
 
Image 6: View of the site from the rear facing windows an existing flat in the Pietra Lara Building 
to the east of the site 
 

Page 17



 
 
Image 7: View of the site and the rear of 26 Bastwick Street to the south of the site taken from the 
Pietra Lara Building  
 
 

 
 
Image 8: Computer Generated Image (CGI) of proposed street elevation looking east along Pear 
Tree Street 

Page 18



 

 
 
Image 9: Computer Generated Image (CGI) of the proposed development from the rear showing 
rear lightwells and balcony 

 
 

 
Image 10: Computer Generated Image (CGI) of proposed street elevation looking south along 
Pear Tree Street 
 

Page 19



 
4.0 SUMMARY  
 
4.1 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing building and the 

redevelopment of the site to include the construction of a 5 storey (including basement 
level) mixed use development containing 863sqm office floorspace GIA (Class B1) 
(resulting in an uplift of 29sqm) on the lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 
residential units (Class C3) on the second, third and fourth floors (6 x 2 beds, 2 x 3 beds).  
Provision of refuse & recycling facilities and cycle parking facilities on the ground floor and 
associated alterations. 

 
4.2 The application is brought to committee because of the number of objections received. 

 
4.3 The issues arising from the application are the principle of additional office floorspace and 

new residential dwellings, the quality of the new residential accommodation, the impact on 
the character and appearance of the street scene and wider locality, and the impact on 
the neighbouring amenity of the adjoining and surrounding residential properties. 

 
4.4 The design of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and would not detract from the 

character and appearance of the street scene or wider locality. The principle of the 
creation of additional office floorspace within the Central Activities Zone and an 
Employment Growth Area is considered to be acceptable. The new residential units are 
considered acceptable in terms of their size and design and would provide an acceptable 
standard of living space for future occupiers of these units.  The proposal would not 
detrimentally impact on the amenity of the neighbouring properties. 
 

4.5 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and it is recommended that the 
application be approved subject to conditions and the completion of a legal agreement.  

 
5. SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 
5.1 The application site presently accommodates a two storey commercial building over 

basement which occupies the complete footprint of the site.  The massing and 
appearance of No. 44 Pear Tree Street are notable in contrast to the surrounding taller 
and generally more modern properties, the majority of which are used as for commercial 
purposes at the ground floor level with residential dwellings at the upper floor levels.   

5.2 To the west of the site is a 6 storey building comprising of student accommodation for 
students at City University.  This neighbouring building projects further forward than the 
application site and also projects to the same depth as 26 Bastwick Street, a 5 storey 
building located to the south of the application site.  The Pietra Lara building is located to 
the east of the site and comprises a four storey building with a curved rear elevation which 
is angled towards the application site.  Located directly to the north of the site, on the 
opposite site of the road, is Dance Square, a densely populated residential development 
comprising a series of modern buildings ranging between four and ten storeys in height.   

5.3 The application site is not located in a conservation area and the property is not listed.  
However, the site is within 50 metres of the adjacent St Luke’s Conservation Area.  The 
site is also located within the London Plan designated Central Activities Zone (CAZ), the 
Bunhill & Clerkenwell Core Strategy Key Area and is also designated as an Employment 
Priority Area (General). 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



6. PROPOSAL (in Detail) 
 
6.1 The application proposes the demolition of the existing building which currently contains 

834sqm of B1 floorspace and the redevelopment of the site to include the construction of 
a 5 storey including basement level, mixed use development containing 863sqm office 
floorspace GIA (Class B1) on the lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 residential 
units (Class C3) on the second, third and fourth floors (6 x 2 beds, 2 x 3 beds).  Provision 
of refuse & recycling facilities and cycle parking facilities on the ground floor and 
associated alterations. 
 

6.2  The proposed five-storey building would cover the full footprint of the site at basement, 
ground and first floor levels.  At the upper floor levels (2nd, 3rd and 4th floors) the building 
will be set in 3.1 metres from the boundary with the Pietra Lara building and will include 
obscurely glazed fins up to third floor level to prevent overlooking to these neighbouring 
properties. In terms of design, the proposal would be a contemporary building with full 
height windows and projecting metal balconies on the front elevation.  It is proposed that 
aluminium cladding will be used at the roof level whilst a mix of reconstituted stone panels 
and white glazed bricks will be used to clad the building.  With the exception of the plant 
room at the fourth floor level, the building will be covered in a green roof.  A glazed light 
well will extend down the side of the building at the second floor level to provide additional 
light to the office accommodation below. 

 
6.3 With regards to office (B1a) accommodation the building will comprise of 863sqm located 

at the basement ground and first floor levels and will include an uplift of 29sqm from the 
current provision.  It should be noted that the existing use for the site is B1(a) offices.  
 

6.4 The 8no. residential units will be located at the second, third and fourth floor levels and 
will provide 6no. 2 bedroom units and 2no. 3 bedroom units.  All units will provide a good 
level of amenity for future occupiers.  The self-contained units will be dual aspect and 
private outdoor amenity space will be provided in the form of roof terraces or balconies. 

 
6.5 The development will provide 10no. cycle parking spaces for the office accommodation 

and 18no. cycle parking spaces for the residential units.  In addition, refuse and recycling 
facilities will be provided for the commercial and residential uses. These facilities will be 
located at the ground floor level.   

 
6.6 The application is recommended for approval subject to the completion of a legal 

agreement for small sites contributions including £480,000 towards affordable housing 
and £8,000 towards carbon off-setting.  The Unilateral Undertaking will also include an 
agreement to future proof and future connection the site to the District Energy Network. 

 
6.7 This application was submitted following the dismissal of a previous scheme for the 

redevelopment of the site to provide 775sqm of B1 floor space and 8no. residential units 
(application reference P2014/3178/FUL – full details are provided in Section 7 below), at 
appeal in March 2016.  The main differences between the current application and the 
previous scheme are: 

 The separation distance between the Pietra Lara Building and the application site has 
increased by 1 metre 

 The location of the windows and balconies on the east elevation no longer overlook 
the Pietra Lara building and are angled away from them.  These facing windows in the 
Pietra Lara building serve open plan living/dining/kitchen rooms. 

 The inclusion of obscurely glazed fins on the east elevation to minimise the mutual 
overlooking and loss of privacy between the application site and the Pietra Lara 
building 

Page 21



 The relationship between the application site and 26 Bastwick Street – the proposal no 
longer projects beyond the neighbouring building line 

 The layout of the residential accommodation, especially at the fourth floor level which 
provides improved living arrangements for future occupiers of these units with the 
main living rooms located to the front of the building facing Pear Tree Street and the 
bedrooms located to the rear 

 
7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

7.1  P2014/3178/FUL - Demolition of the existing building and the construction of a new 6 storey 
building comprising of 775m2 B1(a) floor space on the lower ground, ground and first floor 
with 8no. residential units on the second, third and fourth floors.  Appeal against non-
determination (03/11/2015).   

            The application (appeal reference number APP/V5570/W/15/3136609) was dismissed at 
appeal (07/03/2016).  The Inspector considered that the proposal would be acceptable with 
regards to the character of the area and the impact of the living conditions of the neighbouring 
properties at 26 Bastwick Street and the student accommodation.  However, the Inspector 
raised concerns with the interrelationship between the flats to the rear of the Pietra Lara 
building and the three proposed flats located to the rear of the site with regards to overlooking 
and loss of privacy.  It was also considered that the large balconies proposed on the east 
elevation, by virtue of their close distance to the neighbouring flats in the Pietra Lara building, 
would cause harm to their existing outlook and result in increased sense of enclosure as well 
as overlooking to these neighbouring occupiers. 

            Council’s reasons for refusal at appeal: 

           1. REASON: The proposed development by reason of its inappropriate design, scale, 
massing, height and bulk is considered to form an over-dominant and visually discordant 
building when seen from both the public and private realm. The proposed development would 
fail to respond positively to its surrounding context and would form a visually harmful 
development to the detriment of the character and appearance of the surrounding urban 
environment.  The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to London Plan Policies 7.4 
and 7.6 of the London Plan (2015) policies CS8 and CS9 of the Adopted Core Strategy 
(2011), policy DM2.1 of the Adopted Development Management Policies (2013) and 
Islington’s Urban Design Guide (2006). 

 

           2. REASON: The proposed development by reason of its detailed design, height, bulk, 
massing including proposed rear windows and position of the proposed terraces on the flank 
elevation, is considered to have an adverse material impact on the rear windows of Pietra 
Lara building (No 50 Pear Tree Street) resulting in loss of outlook, increased overlooking, loss 
of privacy and an increased sense of enclosure to the occupiers of these neighbouring 
residential properties.  The proposed development is therefore considered to be contrary to 
London Plan Policies 7.4 and 7.6, policies CS8 and CS9 of the Islington Core Strategy (2011) 
and policy DM2.1 of the Development Management Policies (2013). 

 

           3. REASON: The proposed residential units P01, P04 & P07 by reason of their poor internal 
layouts and their siting in close proximity to adjoining properties are considered to be 
unacceptably overlooked by adjoining properties over short distances to the detriment of 
prospective occupier’s outlook levels and privacy levels. The main living spaces of these units 
and bedrooms would experience severely compromised outlook and privacy levels as a 
result.  The proposed layouts of these units are considered to create sub-standard living 

Page 22



environments for future occupiers of these units. The proposed development is therefore 
considered to be contrary to London Plan Policies 7.4 and 7.6,   policies CS8 and CS9 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy (2011) and policies DM2.1 and DM3.4 of the Adopted Development 
Management Policies (2013). 

            A copy of the appeal decision is attached as an appendix to this report. 

ENFORCEMENT 
 
7.2  None. 
 
 PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 

7.3  07/12/2016 - Pre-application Advice (ref: Q2016/3656/MIN) provided in relation to 
Demolition of existing two storey building and erection of 5 storey over basement mixed 
use building containing 770sqm of net internal office floorspace (Use Class B1) on the 
lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 no. residential units (Use Class C3) on the 
second, third and fourth floors.   

7.4 Advice was provided that the proposed design submitted in this pre-application would be 
very similar as that previously submitted except for the treatment to the south-eastern part 
of the building, which is only visible from the private realm and has been made in 
response to the neighbouring amenity impacts of the previous scheme.  The Council’s 
Design and Conservation officer reviewed the revised scheme and does not raise any 
design objections to the proposal, which is considered to be for a high quality building.   

 
7.5 Advice was also provided that in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity, whilst the 

installation of louvred screens running the full height of the building was an improvement, 
there was concern that the screen would still allow some visibility through between the 
properties that would not sufficiently address the planning inspector’s reasons for 
dismissing the appeal. There was also concern of the level of overlooking to the next row 
of windows as the screen does not extend this far and it was noted during the site visit 
that there was potential of overlooking from where the southern side of the balcony would 
be. 

7.6  Further advice was provided that ADF studies would be useful and evidence to prove that 
a good quality environment can be created overall. Once again there may be scope to 
reconfigure the internal arrangement of the units to try and distribute the main living 
spaces of the units from focussing only towards the rear section of the building facing the 
most sensitive and nearby adjoining residential units.   

8. CONSULTATION 
 

Public Consultation 
 
8.1 Letters were sent to 1113 occupants of adjoining and nearby properties at Pear Tree 

Street, Dance Square, Bastwick Street, Central Street and Goswell Road on 15 March 
2017. A site notice was displayed outside the site and the application was advertised in 
the Islington Gazette on 23 March 2017. The initial public consultation of the application 
expired on 13 April 2017.  

 
8.2 A second period of public consultation took place on 16 June 2017 following receipt of 

revised drawings amending the site layout, the relationship with and treatment on the east 
elevation facing the Pietra Lara building.  This consultation expired on 30 June 2017. 

 

Page 23



8.3  A third period of public consultation took place on 2 August 2017 following receipt of a 
revised Daylight and Sunlight Analysis which reflected the revised layout. This 
consultation ended on 16 August 2017. 

 
8.4  It is the Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until the date 

of a decision. At the time of writing of this report 58 objections in total had been received 
from the public with regard to the application The issues raised can be summarised as 
follows (with the paragraph that provides responses to each issue indicated in brackets): 

 
- Density of development (10.7-10.10) 
- Scale and massing (10.7-10.10) 
- Overdevelopment of the site (10.8-10.10) 
- Height of development (10.8) 
- Impact on neighbouring residential amenity including loss of outlook, over dominance 

and increased sense of enclosure (10.17-10.36) 
- Overlooking (10.20-10.22) 
- Loss of privacy (10.20-10.22) 
- Loss of sunlight and daylight to neighbouring properties (10.27-10.36) 
- Increased traffic congestion (10.58) 
- Impact on support services such as refuse collection (10.61) 
- Noise and disturbance from increased population (10.50) 
- Balconies project onto street (10.12) 
- Building should be tiered like surrounding residential developments (10.7-10.10) 
- Design inconsistent with Finsbury Plan which acknowledges importance of 

homogeneity (10.7-10.14) 
- Poor quality of living for future occupiers of units P01, P04, P07 & P08 (10.40-10.44) 
- Large glazed windows out of character with surrounding properties (10.11) 
- Proposal does not meet BRE guidance (10.27-10.36) 
- Proposal within 18 metres of multiple neighbours (10.18) 
- Concerns about design and maintenance of louvres (8.5,10.11) 
- Windows in neighbouring Bastwick Street apartment will be blocked (10.23-10.24) 
- Boxing in of balconies to Bastwick Street apartments (10.25) 
- Lowering of the louvres does not minimise its impact on neighbouring properties 

(10.18) 
- Louvres change the massing of the building and it no longer contributes to the 

courtyard of the development block which is contrary to what the Inspector deemed 
acceptable (10.11) 

- Proposal taller than recently constructed buildings in Pear Tree Street (10.8) 
- Proposal will have a negative effect in this area of predominantly low level street 

scape (10.8) 
- Balcony for commercial unit on first floor should have strict conditions with regards to 

hours of use (10.50) 
- Proposed louvres would provide privacy for No 44 but not Pietra Lara (10.18) 
- Noise from plant equipment (10.49) 
- Plans are inaccurate and misleading (8.5) 
- Amendments to plans do not mitigate impact proposal will have on neighbouring 

amenity (10.17-10.36) 
- Student accommodation will be negatively impacted (10.21-10.22) 
- Light pollution from B1 noise (10.64) 

 
 
Non-planning issues:  

- Noise and disturbance from construction works (8.5) 
- Impact on structural works to neighbouring building (8.5) 
- Lack of prior consultation from the architect (8.5) 

Page 24



- Construction should take place Monday – Friday only so as not to disturb 
neighbouring students (8.5) 

 
8.5 It should be noted that the Council accept plans on the basis that they provide an 

accurate representation of the site.  Noise and disturbance from building works and 
structural impacts on the neighbouring properties are not material planning considerations 
that can be taken into account when assessing planning applications and will be 
considered by the Building Control Act and Party Wall Act. The standard working hours 
are Monday-Friday 8:00am-6:00pm and Saturdays 8:00am-1:00pm with no works allowed 
at any other times.  Maintenance of the property is not a material planning consideration.  

 
Internal Consultees 

 
8.7 Planning Policy: No objection.  
 
8.8 Design and Conservation Officer: The design officer acknowledged the planning history 

including advice given at the pre-application stage and the Inspector’s report.  No 
objections are raised to the principle of development including the massing and general 
form.  However, objections are raised to the location of the plant enclosure at the top of 
the building. It should ideally be integrated to comply with the Islington Urban Design 
Guide.  Suggestions have been made about the composition of the building.  The Design 
officer raised concerns about the projecting balconies. Conditions are recommended 
relating to further details relating to the projecting balconies, the materials of the building 
and the details to the treatment of the bin storage on the front elevation. 

 
8.8       Inclusive Design: No objections following amendments subject to conditions. 

 
8.9 Highways: No objection subject to a Construction Management Plan being submitted 

including a proposed site layout plan.  A condition has been attached to this application 
should consent be granted. 
 

8.10 Sustainability: No objection subject to conditions relating to BREEAM (Excellent), Green 
Roofs and Sustainable Urban Drainage. 
 

8.11 Noise Officer: No objection subject to conditions. 
 

8.12 Refuse and recycling: No comment. 
 
8.13 Energy and Energy Efficiency: No objection subject to a clause in the Unilateral 

Undertaking ensuring future proofing to the District Energy Network (DEN) 
 

External Consultees 
 

8.8 London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority: No objection.  Recommends 
sprinkler systems are installed. 

 
9. RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This report 
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

 
National Guidance 

 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek 

to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and 

Page 25



social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material 
considerations and have been taken into account as part of the assessment of these 
proposals.  

 
Development Plan   

 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013. The policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this 
application and are listed at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
9.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10. ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Land Use 

 Design  

 Neighbouring Amenity including sunlight/daylight 

 Accessibility 

 Amenity for Future Occupiers 

 Basements 

 Noise 

 Sustainability  

 Highways and Transportation 

 Refuse 

 Small Sites Contributions 

 Other Matters  
 

 
Land Use 

 

10.2 The application site is situated in a mixed use area within the Central Activities Zone. The 
premises is currently used for light industrial purposes at the ground and first floor levels.  
A mixed use development is proposed including the provision of B1(a) floor space on the 
lower ground, ground and first floor levels and residential accommodation on the second, 
third and fourth floor levels.  
 

10.3 The site is designated as an Employment Priority Area (General) within the Finsbury Local 
Plan and is also located in the Central Activities Zone (CAZ).  Policy BC8 of this document 
notes that no net loss of B1 floor space would be permitted through redevelopment of the 
site.  In addition, policy CS13 of the Core Strategy encourages the provision of new 
business floor space within the CAZ. The use of the existing property is B1(a) and the 
proposal will involve an uplift of 29sqm from the current provision and therefore 
demonstrates compliance with these policies.  The provision of B1 (a) floor space is 
welcomed in this location. 

 
10.4 Policy 3.4 of the London Plan encourages boroughs to optimise housing output, taking into 

account local context and character, design principles and transport capacity. This is 
supported by Core Strategy policy CS12 which seeks to provide more high quality, 
inclusive and affordable homes within the borough. 

Page 26



 
10.5 The proposal also includes the creation of 8 residential units at the second, third and 

fourth floor levels. The resultant development would provide a mix of 6no. 2 bedroom units 
and 2no. 3 bedroom units, which would provide an appropriate mix of housing sizes in 
accordance with Table 3.1 of the Development Management Policies and would comply 
with the London Plan’s Density Standards. The site is surrounded by high density 
residential units and the provision of 8no. residential units as part of a mixed use scheme 
is considered acceptable.   

 
10.6 As such, the principle of the development is acceptable subject to the assessment of the 

proposal in light of all other relevant policy, the site context and any other material 
planning considerations. 

 

Design and Conservation 
 
10.7 The scheme involves the demolition of the existing two storey building and the erection of 

a five storey building on the same footprint. Both the existing and proposed buildings 
include a basement level. The proposal will involve an increase in bulk and massing from 
the existing building, however, as the site is surrounded by large buildings, the design 
officer considers that the mass and bulk is appropriate in this location. 

 
10.8  In reference to the previously dismissed scheme, the Inspector noted that the massing 

and appearance of the existing ‘are in notable contrast to the surrounding taller and 
generally modern, buildings.’  It is therefore considered that the proposal could 
comfortably accommodate the additional massing and bulk through the redevelopment of 
the site.  As stated above, it is proposed that a five storey building will be erected on the 
site.  The application site is located in between the Pietra Lara building, a four storey 
residential development to the east and the six storey City University student 
accommodation to the west.  In addition, 26 Bastwick Street, a five storey building is 
located to the south.  Given the height of the surrounding properties it is considered that 
there is precedent for taller buildings and therefore the installation of a five storey 
property, located in-between a four storey and a six storey building is considered 
appropriate. 

 
10.9 The proposed footprint of the building has been designed to respect the building lines of 

the surrounding properties.  Whilst the proposal will project the full depth of the City 
University building, it will align with the existing rear building line for the Pietra Lara 
building at the second, third and fourth floor levels and will be set in by a minimum of 3.25 
metres from the shared boundary before projecting further in depth.  To the rear of the 
site, the building will not extend beyond the building line of 26 Bastwick Street. 

 
10.10 The application site is located in a densely populated part of the borough, and is situated 

opposite Dance Square which contains several residential blocks ranging from four to ten 
storeys in height.  As a result, a denser development is considered appropriate in this 
location than would be in other parts of the borough.  Although the rearward projection 
and relationship with the Pietra Lara building has been reduced since the previous appeal 
scheme, both buildings propose extending beyond the rear building line of this 
neighbouring property.  However, the Inspector raised no objection to this aspect of the 
scheme and it is not considered that the rearward projection of the upper floor levels 
would be harmful to the character of the area.  The neighbouring property to the west of 
the site, providing student accommodation, in fact, extends from Pear Tree Street to 
Bastwick Street, encompassing a much greater depth to the building.  It is therefore 
considered that the massing and siting of the proposed building is acceptable. 

 

Page 27



10.11 In terms of design, the proposed building would be of modern appearance with full height 
glazed windows on the front elevation with reconstituted stone panels with a texture finish.  
The Design and Conservation officer raised no objections to the provision of large glazed 
windows which are considered to be in keeping with the character of the area.  The 
proposed roof level will be made of light-weight aluminium cladding and the flank 
elevations will comprise largely of white glazed bricks.  The textured finish of the stone 
panels on the front elevation provides some visual interest to the front elevation of the 
building, providing a contrast with the large modern glazed windows.  In addition, fritted 
glazing (up to a height of 1.7 metres) will be located on the west elevation facing the City 
University accommodation, whilst obscurely glazed fins will be located on the east 
elevation up to third floor level. A condition has been recommended with requiring further 
details of materials to ensure a high quality finish to the development.  It is considered that 
the proposed materials contribute positively to the building. 

 
10.12 It is proposed that the residential accommodation will include the provision of balconies 

with steel balustrades at the upper floor levels, although these will be partly recessed into 
the building at the second and third floor levels. It is noted that many of the properties 
including the flats to the north in Dance Square have front balconies and they are not 
considered to be uncharacteristic in this location.  The style and siting of the balconies 
has not been amended since the appeal scheme as the Inspector did not raise any 
objections to this aspect of the development.  The proposed balconies are acceptable with 
regards to their siting and design and as they will only be located at the upper floor levels 
will be not appear overly prominent from street view.  It should be noted that no balconies 
are proposed for the commercial accommodation. 

 
10.13 Concerns were raised by the Design officer regarding the location of the proposed plant 

equipment/lift overrun on the roof of the building.  The Islington Urban Design Guide 
(2017) in paragraph 5.193 states that ‘lift overruns that project above the roofline should 
be avoided. If this is not possible, they should be incorporated on the rear part of the roof, 
where they are not visible from the street.’  The proposed lift overrun/plant equipment will 
be set back 9 metres from the front building line and would measure 2.4 metres in height.  
Given the dense nature of the site, the proposed roof top enclosure would be minimally 
visible.  A condition is proposed to ensure details of the materials are submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority, in order to reduce its visibility and ensure the resulting 
appearance is of a high standard. Furthermore, given the close proximity of the 
surrounding residential properties, it would be inappropriate to locate the plant equipment 
at a lower level without it having an adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. 

 
10.14 Taking into account the design and massing of the surrounding residential properties as 

well as the reduced bulk and mass to the rear of the site in comparison with the previous 
scheme, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable with regards to 
siting, massing, design, bulk and appearance and would not look out of context with the 
surrounding residential properties.  The proposal would provide a high quality building 
through the use of appropriate materials which would contribute positively and would 
integrate with the urban grain.  The height of the proposal is acceptable given the 
prevailing height of the neighbouring buildings and the creation of a modern building 
would be appropriate in this location.  The proposal would comply with Development 
Management Policy DM2.1 as well as the Islington Urban Design Guide and Finsbury 
Local Plan and is therefore acceptable for this reason. 

 
Neighbour Amenity including Daylight and Sunlight  

 
10.15 Development Management Policy DM2.1 part x requires all new developments to provide 

a good level of amenity including consideration of noise and the impact of disturbance, 

Page 28



overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, sense of enclosure, outlook, direct sunlight and 
daylight and over-dominance. 

 
10.16 The application site is located in a densely populated area of the borough and is 

surrounded by high rise buildings. Located to the south of the site is 27 Bastwick Street, a 
five storey building used for commercial and residential purposes.  Immediately to the 
west of the site is a part five, part six storey building which provides student 
accommodation for City University.  To the east of the site is the Pietra Lara building 
which is 4 storeys in height whilst to the north of the site, on the opposite side of the road, 
is Dance Square which contains a series of residential buildings ranging from five to ten 
storeys in height. 

 
  Pietra Lara Building 

 10.17 The previous planning application (P2014/3178/FUL) was dismissed by the Inspector 
because of its impact on neighbouring amenity, more specifically the impact on the 
residents of the Pietra Lara building.  He raised concerns with the siting of the balconies 
on the east elevation, in particular Flats P01, P04 and P07 and considered that ‘they 
would be oppressively close to similarly large glazed openings to habitable rooms at the 
Pietra Lara Building.’  Furthermore, the Inspector raised concerns with regards to the 
‘proximate inter-relationship of large glazed openings and glass balustrades to the 
balconies means that the proposed relationship would be unacceptable in terms of the 
outlook and privacy of the main habitable internal spaces of both sets of residents and 
would be significantly harmful to their respective living conditions.’  As such, development 
proposals would be unacceptable on this site unless they can overcome this principle 
concern. 
 

 
 

Image 10: Proposed east elevation of previous scheme which was dismissed on appeal 

due to concerns of the proposed interrelationship between the application site and the 

Pietra Lara building  

 

Page 29



 
 

Image 11: Proposed east elevation as originally submitted as part of this application with 

obscurely glazed fins up to fourth floor level but balconies angled towards the courtyard 

 

  
 

Image 12: Amended east elevation with obscurely glazed fins reduced to third floor level 

but increased set in of balconies and windows to ensure no overlooking between the 

properties 

 10.18  As noted from Images 10-12 above, the applicant has worked with the Council to amend 
the design and layout of the proposal in order to minimise the impacts on the amenity of 
the neighbouring residents at the Pietra Lara building, specifically Flats 7 and 10, whose 
living rooms faced towards the application site, in order to overcome amenity issues 
raised with the previous scheme.  It is proposed that the new building will be set in at the 
second and third floor levels by 3.25 metres from the shared boundary with this 
neighbouring property and this recess will begin 2.4 metres before the existing rear 
building line of the Pietra Lara building.  In order to prevent any direct overlooking 

Page 30



between the two buildings, it is proposed that obscurely glazed fins will project at an angle 
away from the new building and will be located a minimum of 6.7 metres away from the 
nearest window of these neighbouring flats.  These obscurely glazed fins will ensure that 
there is no mutual overlooking between the two properties as Images 13 and 14 below 
demonstrate.  In addition, the windows for the main living area will either be angled 
towards the boundary with 26 Bastwick Street or look directly onto the shared courtyard.   
It is also proposed that the balcony for this unit will be recessed and given the angle and 
depth of the glazed fins, it would not be possible for future occupiers of units P01 and P04 
to look into the windows of the neighbouring flats from their balcony.  It is also important to 
note that the only window on the flank elevation facing the Pietra Lara building will look 
directly onto the flank wall of this property and is therefore not considered to result in 
overlooking to the neighbouring occupiers. 

 

  
 
 Image 13: Proposed internal view from third floor balcony 
 

Page 31



  
 
 Image 14: View from the second floor living room with the Pietra Lara building looking 

west towards the application site 
 
10.19 Amended plans have been received with regards to the proposed fourth floor layout in 

order to improve the interrelationship between the application site and the Pietra Lara 
building.  It is proposed that the fourth floor level will align with the neighbouring property 
at the Pietra Lara building and will then be set in by a minimum of 3.15 metres from the 
shared boundary.  The windows to the rear of the building will be angled away from this 
neighbouring property or will face directly onto the shared courtyard below.  The only 
window looking towards the Pietra Lara building will be a bathroom window for Flat P08 
which will be obscurely glazed in order to prevent any direct overlooking between the two 
buildings, and a condition is proposed to ensure it is permanently maintained as such. 

  
10.20 With reference to the impact on the Pietra Lara building, it is considered that the applicant 

has taken significant measures to minimise the concerns raised by the Inspector 
regarding this interrelationship.  The use of obscurely glazed fins, which are angled away 
from the building, will ensure that there would be no direct overlooking as habitable room 
windows would face away from each other.  Furthermore, the recessed nature of the 
balconies and the angle of the windows to the rear of the site will prevent against any 
overlooking or loss of privacy between the two buildings. This is highlighted in Image 14 
which shows a computer generated image of the site as seen from the rear facing 
windows of the Pietra Lara building and demonstrates the fact that the proposed windows 
and balconies on the east elevation on the proposed building will not be visible from the 
Pietra Lara building. As a result, it is therefore considered that the proposal would not 
have a detrimental impact on the amenity of these neighbouring occupiers.  Given the 
importance of these obscurely glazed fins, a condition is proposed to ensure they are 
installed prior to the first occupation of the site and permanently maintained as such 
thereafter. 

 

 

 

Page 32



Student Accommodation 

10.21 Turning to the student accommodation to the west of the site, it is proposed at the upper 
levels, that the windows located on this elevation will only serve bedrooms for the new 
residential units.  In order to minimise against any overlooking between the application 
site and the university accommodation, it is proposed that the windows will be obscurely 
glazed below a height of 1.7 metres and the only openable windows will be angled away 
from this neighbouring building. 

 
10.22 In his report, the Inspector noted the close proximity between the two buildings (there is a 

separation distance of 5.7 metres).  However, he did note that ‘the openings on the east 
elevation of the student accommodation have a combination of fritted glazing and mesh 
panelling such that there were be no corresponding loss of privacy, outlook or daylight.’  
As stated above, this application is similar to the appeal scheme insofar as only bedroom 
windows are proposed on the flank elevation with angled windows to provide an additional 
outlook.  The windows will also be made of fritted glass up to a height of 1.7 metres to 
ensure there is no direct overlooking between the two properties.  Whilst the close 
distance between the two properties is noted, given the transient nature of students as 
well as the inclusion of fritted glass and angled windows, it is considered that positive 
measures have been included within the proposal to ensure the development has minimal 
adverse impacts on the amenity of these neighbouring students. 

 

26 Bastwick Street 

10.23 The proposed plans illustrate that the building will be built directly up to the shared 
boundary with No 26 Bastwick Street located to the south of the application site.  At 
present, the two buildings are joined at basement, ground and first floor levels and it is 
proposed that this will be extended up to fourth floor level.  No windows are proposed on 
the rear elevation of the new building although it is acknowledged that there are some 
high level, secondary windows on the rear elevation building.   

 
10.24 With regards to the proposed relationship between the two properties, which were noted 

following a site visit to the property to be secondary windows to the bathroom, living and 
bedroom areas.  Both these habitable rooms benefit from full height windows in addition 
to the secondary windows located to the rear of the site and, it is therefore considered that 
the increase in height to the rear of the application site would not have an adverse impact 
on the amenity of the adjoining occupiers at 26 Bastwick Street. 

 
10.25 Concern was raised in the previous application with regards to the rear projection of the 

balconies and the close relationship with the existing balconies at No 26 Bastwick Street.  
It is now proposed that the rear balconies at the second and third floor levels and the 
building line at the fourth floor level will project no further than the flank elevation of this 
neighbouring property.  These amendments will ensure that there would be no harmful 
encroachment or loss of privacy to these neighbouring occupiers, especially when viewed 
from the east facing balconies at 26 Bastwick Street. 
 

Dance Square 

10.26 It is important to acknowledge that the properties to the north of the site on Dance Square 
are located on the opposite side of the road and as stated in Paragraph 2.14 of the 
reasoned justifications accompanying Development Management Policy DM2.1 
‘overlooking across a public highway does not constitute an unacceptable loss of privacy.’  
Therefore, given the separation across the public highway between these two buildings, it 
is not considered that the proposal would have an adverse impact on the amenity of these 
neighbouring occupiers.  Whilst objections have been raised regarding overlooking from 

Page 33



the front balconies onto the neighbouring residential properties on Dance Square, it is 
important to note that the Dance Square apartments also include balconies on the front 
elevation and therefore limited weight can be applied to this objection. 
 

Daylight and Sunlight 

 
10.27 The application has been submitted with a sunlight and daylight assessment. The 

assessment is carried out with reference to the 2011 Building Research Establishment 
(BRE) guidelines which are accepted as the relevant guidance. The supporting text to 
policy DM2.1 identifies that the BRE ‘provides guidance on sunlight layout planning to 
achieve good sun lighting and day lighting’. During the course of the assessment of the 
application and following public consultation additional comments and information in 
relation to the impact on neighbouring amenity including levels of Daylight and Sunlight 
were received in a letter including a Waldram Diagram. 

 
10.28 Daylight: the BRE Guidelines stipulate that there should be no real noticeable loss of 

daylight provided that either: 
The Vertical Sky Component (VSC) as measured at the centre point of a window is 
greater than 27%; or the VSC is not reduced by greater than 20% of its original value. 
(Skylight); 

 
And 

 
The daylight distribution, as measured by the No Sky Line (NSL) test where the 
percentage of floor area receiving light is measured, is not reduced by greater than 20% 
of its original value. 

 
10.29 Sunlight: the BRE Guidelines confirm that windows that do not enjoy an orientation within 

90 degrees of due south do not warrant assessment for sunlight losses. For those 
windows that do warrant assessment, it is considered that there would be no real 
noticeable loss of sunlight where: 

 
In 1 year the centre point of the assessed window receives more than 1 quarter (25%) of 
annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), including at least 5% of Annual Winter Probable 
Sunlight Hours (WSPH)  between 21 Sept and 21 March – being winter; and less than 
0.8 of its former hours during either period.  

 
In cases where these requirements are breached there will still be no real noticeable loss 
of sunlight where the reduction in sunlight received over the whole year is no greater 
than 4% of annual probable sunlight hours.   

 
10.30 Where these guidelines are exceeded then sunlighting and/or daylighting may be 

adversely affected. The BRE Guidelines provide numerical guidelines, the document 
though emphasizes that advice given is not mandatory and the guide should not be seen 
as an instrument of planning policy, these (numerical guidelines) are to be interpreted 
flexibly since natural lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design. Difference 
values of 0.7 to 0.79 indicate that reductions in daylight would be noticed, however such 
reductions of between 20% to 30% are generally considered to be a lesser or minor 
infringement in dense urban areas such as this. 

 
10.31 A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment was submitted in support of the application. An 

updated report has been submitted in August 2017 to show the potential impact of the 
development following the submission of amended plans. 
 

Page 34



Analysis of Daylight Losses for Affected Properties  
 
10.32 Residential dwellings at the following properties listed have been considered for the 

purposes of sunlight and daylight impacts as a result of the proposed development: 
 
10.33 46-56 Pear Tree Street (Pietra Lara Building): The report and additional letter dated 27 

July 2017 sets out that all the windows on the adjacent residential properties at the Pietra 
Lara building would pass the British Research Establishment Guidelines (BRE) Vertical 
Sky Component (VSC) Test.   The Daylight Distribution Results (DDR) also confirm that 
all windows in this building would pass this test and therefore the proposal would not 
result in any unacceptable loss of light to these neighbouring properties.  It should be 
noted that in the original Daylight and Sunlight analysis 3 windows in this neighbouring 
building failed the VSC test.  However, following amendments to the plans including the 
increased chamfered edge to the rear building line and as indicated in the revised 
Daylight and Sunlight analysis these windows no longer fail the VSC test. 
 

10.34 City University: The report concludes that 39 out of 44 windows in the City University 
building would have a noticeable difference of the remaining VSC and these same 
windows would also fail the DDR.  However, many of these windows currently have very 
poor levels, especially the lower ground floor rooms, with existing VSC levels as low as 
11%.  This accommodation is for students during their time at university. Individual 
students would occupy the accommodation for less than a year and the main function 
would be for sleeping and studying. It is not permanent living accommodation. As such 
the BRE guidance is not strictly applicable. Furthermore, as this is student 
accommodation which would have a transient population and not family accommodation, 
it is considered that the effect on this neighbouring property is not harmful. The impact of 
the development on adjoining properties in terms of demonstrable harm to daylight is not 
considered adverse. 

 
10.35 27 Bastwick Street: The report confirms that two windows would be noticeably affected by 

the British Research Establishment Guidelines (BRE) Vertical Sky Component (VSC) Test 
as set out in the table below whilst all windows would pass the DDR. However, these 
windows relate to secondary windows on the north elevation facing the application site 
and are not the principle windows to these rooms and are therefore given limited weight.  
It should also be noted that as these windows at No. 27 Bastwick Street do not face within 
90 degrees of due south, the BRE guidance states that sunlight is not relevant. 

 
 

  Vertical Sky Component No skyline (daylight distribution) 

Room / 
Window 

Room 
Use 

Existing 
VSC  

Proposed 
VSC (%) 

VSC 
reduction 
(%) 

Whole 
room 
m² 

Previous 
m² 

Proposed 
m² 

NSL 
reduction 
(%) 

3
rd

 
Floor / 
W014 

Unknown  
But likely 
LKD or 
Bedroom 

29.67 22.94 0.77  19.70 19.70  19.34   0.98 

3
rd

 
Floor / 
W015 

Unknown  
But likely 
LKD or 
Bedroom 

21.49 15.81 0.74 29.82 29.44 29.04 0.99 

 
Table 1: Windows in 27 Bastwick Street that fail the Vertical Sky Component Test (but 
pass the Daylight Distribution Test) 
 

Page 35



10.36 Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would have an impact on the living conditions 
for the neighbouring City University accommodation, it is considered that they currently 
have poor levels of amenity.  Furthermore, these windows only serve bedroom windows, 
which are given less weight, and the nature of the occupiers of this accommodation are 
transient.  It is considered that the the impact on the proposals on the levels of daylight 
and sunlight of the neighbouring residential properties is considered to be acceptable.  

 
Accessibility  

 
10.37 As a result of the changes introduced in the Deregulation Bill (Royal Assent 26th March 

2015), Islington is no longer able to insist that developers meet its own SPD standards for 
accessible housing, therefore we can no longer apply our flexible housing standards nor 
local wheelchair housing standards. The expectation is now that new residential units 
meet Category 2 of the National Housing Standards. A condition (condition 8) has been 
attached to this effect. However, the commercial element still needs to comply with the 
Inclusive Design SPD. 

 
10.38 Amendments were provided to the plans, following concerns raised by the Accessibility 

officer to ensure the commercial and residential units are fully accessible.  These changes 
included the provision of disabled toilets on every level of the commercial floor space and 
disabled shower facilities at the basement level and accessible cycle storage areas for the 
commercial and residential units.  Subject to the inclusion of conditions, the proposal is 
considered to comply with Development Management Policy DM2.2 and the Inclusive 
Design SPD. 
 
Amenity for Future Occupiers         

 
10.39 Table 3.2 of policy DM3.4 of the Development Management document stipulates the 

minimum gross internal floor space required for residential units on the basis of the level 
of occupancy that could be reasonably expected within each unit. Details of each unit are 
set out in the table below against the minimum floor space standards. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.40 The proposed residential units would exceed the minimum required floor space as set out 

in the London Plan and the Development Management Policies. The proposed units 
would provide a good level of amenity space for future occupiers and all units would be 
dual aspect in line with Development Management Policy DM3.4.   The proposed units will 
have an internal floor to ceiling height of 3.8 metres and will exceed the minimum height 
requirements set out in the London Technical Guide. 

 
10.41 With regard to amenity space, policy DM3.5 details that all new residential development 

should provide good quality, private outdoor space in accordance with the minimum 
required figures. This policy requires a minimum of 5m² on upper floors for a 1-2 person 

Unit No. 
Bedrooms/ 
Expected 
Occupancy 

Floor 
Space 

Minimum 
Required 
Floor 
Space 

Amenity 
Space 

Minimum 
Required  
Garden  
Space 

Storage Minimum 
Required 
Storage 
Space  

P01 2/4 78 70 7 7 2 2 

P02 2/4 74 70 7 7 2 2 

P03 2/4 74 70 7 7 2 2 

P04 2/4 78 70 7 7 2 2 

P05 2/4 74 70 7 7 2 2 

P06 2/4 74 70 7 7 2 2 

P07 3/5 92 86 9 30 2.5      2.5 

P08 3/6 104 95 9 30 3.8 2.5 

Page 36



dwelling and for each additional occupant, an extra 1 square metre.  Family size units with 
3 bedrooms or more should provide a minimum of 30m². 

 
10.42 The proposed units would be located on the second, third and fourth floors and will all 

benefit from private outdoor amenity space. It is noted that the Flats 7 and 8 fall short of 
the minimum amenity space requirements however, given the existing site constraints the 
amenity space provision is considered acceptable. 

 
10.43 A daylight/ sunlight report with regards to the new units was submitted with the 

application.  The report concludes that in the case of every proposed unit, rooms met or 
surpassed the BRE Average Daylight Factor test and the test in relation to sunlight.   It is 
considered that all would receive sufficient daylight, sunlight and ventilation. 

 
10.44   Overall, it is concluded that the proposed development would provide acceptable living 

conditions to future occupiers and acceptable levels of amenity space. 
 
 Basements 
 
10.45 The proposal would involve the re-provision of a basement floor which would cover the full 

foot print of the existing building.  No further excavation is required for the basement 
provision. It is noted that there is currently a basement on site which covers the same 
footprint as the proposal (albeit with an open plan layout). The basement would conform 
to the guidance set out within the Basement SPD sets out the relevant guidelines for 
mixed use developments in paragraphs 7.1.16. 

 
10.46 Paragraph 7.1.16 of the SPD sets out: 

 
‘On commercial and mixed use redevelopment schemes with proposed 
basements, the extent of basement development should be commensurate to the 
site context and building design. Sites within commercial areas such as the 
Central Activities Zone often contain buildings built to boundary. Any basement 
component of the scheme should be designed to avoid adverse impacts to 
sensitive sites, building, trees and other structures that may be affected by the 
construction of the proposed development. 

 

10.47 The proposed basement level which will provide B1(a) floor space is considered to be an 
appropriate addition to the proposed building.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
basement will cover the full foot print of the site, given that there is an existing basement 
and the existing building covers the same footprint, no excavation is required and the 
proposed basement is not considered to be an excessive form of development.  The 
proposal is considered to comply with the guidance set out appendix B of the Basement 
SPD.  

 
10.48 On the basis of the information supplied within the SMS, signed by a RICS accredited 

structural engineers, the proposal basement would comply with the Basement SPD (2016) 
and would not a detrimental impact on the structural integrity of the existing terrace or 
impact on the hydrological table in the general area.  

 
Noise 
 

10.49 The proposal includes the installation of fixed external plant to be located on the roof. The 
Council’s Acoustic Officer has reviewed the submitted documents has not raised an 
objection subject to conditions relating to the background noise level.  In addition, the 
officer noted that as the proposal is for a mixed use development, there is a requirement 

Page 37



for a higher standard of noise insulation to ensure the two uses are compatible. The 
impact of the proposals on the amenity of future occupiers of this building is acceptable 
subject these conditions.  
 

10.50 Concerns have been raised by neighbouring objectors regarding noise and disturbance 
from the increased number of residents living on this site.  The proposal seeks to provide 
8no. residential units and is a lower density development than many of the surrounding 
properties.  Given the large number of existing residential units in this location, it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on the basis that 8no. additional units would result 
in unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance to neighbouring occupiers. Furthermore, 
conditions are recommended to ensure adequate levels of sound insulation. It is also 
important to note that no balconies are proposed for the commercial floor space at first 
floor level, so they could not impact on neighbouring amenity.  
 

10.52 In summary the proposal would not conflict with the aims of Policy DM2.1 of the Islington’s 
Development Management Policies with regards to the protection of neighbouring amenity 
or with Policies 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan in terms of potential harm to residential 
amenity and is therefore acceptable in this regard. 

 
Sustainability, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy 

 
10.53 The design and access statement notes that the development is designed to be energy 

efficient adopting sustainable design and construction measures, minimising greenhouse 
gas emissions. The proposal will achieve a BREEAM level of “Excellent” which will be 
secured by condition.   

 
10.54 In terms of drainage and surface water run-off levels at the site, details on how the 

scheme is designed to ensure no net increase in surface water drainage from the site post 
development is achieved should be conditioned to be in accordance with standards in DM 
6.6 of the DMP.  

 
10.55 The proposed green roof will be biodiversity based with an extensive substrate to a depth 

of 80-150cm.  A condition is proposed to ensure this green roof is achieved. The provision 
of green roofs is encouraged and a condition is attached to control this. Rainwater 
recycling will be incorporated and a target of 95litres/day will be set for water usage in 
each dwelling.  

 
10.56 Policy DM7.3 requires minor new-build developments located within 100metres will be 

required to connect to that network including provision of the means to connect to that 
network. The application is 75m from the nearest potential pipework connection and the 
applicant has demonstrated that it is not feasible to link the proposal to the Bunhill District 
Energy Network.  However, the Council’s Energy team has recommended that the 
proposal needs to be future-proofed and future linked so it could be connected to the 
District Energy Network at a later stage and has recommended that this be included in the 
Heads of Term for the Unilateral Undertaking. Subject to this inclusion in the Section 106 
Agreement, the Council’s Energy team were supportive of this aspect of the proposal. 

 
 

Highways and Transportation 
 
10.57 Policy DM8.6 sets out that provision for delivery and servicing should be provided off-

street, particularly for commercial developments over 200m2 gross floor area, in order to 
ensure proposed delivery and servicing arrangements are acceptable. A Transport 
Assessment including a servicing plan has been submitted. In line with the existing 
arrangements, servicing and deliveries will continue to be undertaken via the Pear Tree 

Page 38



Street and are acceptable subject to a condition requiring a Construction Method 
Statement. 
  

10.58 An objection was received concerned that there would be an increase in traffic 
congestion. However, Core Strategy policy CS10 requires all new developments to be 
car-free, which means no parking provision will be allowed on site and occupiers will not 
have the ability to obtain parking permits. Therefore, there will be no material impact on 
traffic congestion as a result of the proposed works. 
 

10.59 The requirements for cycle parking set out in Policy DM8.4 and Appendix 6 of the 
Development Management Policies applies to the creation of new office floorspace.  Cycle 
parking is required to be provided at a rate of one space per every 80m2 of new floorspace 
and needs to be secure, covered, conveniently located and step free. One cycle parking 
space is also required for every bedroom within the residential development. The scheme 
proposes 10 cycle parking spaces for the commercial use and 18 cycle parking spaces for 
the residential units. The total provision of cycle parking accords with the requirements of 
Development Management Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling). As such, the scheme 
complies with the Councils transport policies.  
 

10.60 The Council’s highways officer has made comments regarding the access arrangements 
for construction and commented that a Construction Management Plan including a site 
layout plan would need to be submitted. Therefore, it is recommended that a condition is 
attached requiring a Construction Management Plan which includes details to address the 
matters outlined above.  As the application is for a mixed use development, including the 
provision of B1(a) floor space, a delivery and servicing condition is also proposed to 
ensure the delivery and servicing of goods can be appropriately managed in this location 
without having a detrimental impact on highways safety. 

 
Refuse Storage 

10.61 In terms of waste management, the Council’s Street Environment Services have raised no 
objections to the proposal. Refuse and recycling facilities have been provided at the 
ground floor level for the commercial and residential units, which will be located at the 
front of the property with an access door leading directly onto the pavement to ensure 
they are easily accessible for collection.  It is proposed that 5 1100l bins will be provided 
for refuse and recycling facilities which is considered appropriate for a scheme of this size.  
A condition is proposed to ensure the refuse and recycling facilities are provided prior to 
the occupation of the units. 

 
Affordable housing and carbon offsetting contributions  

10.62 The proposal is a minor application for eight new residential units, which is below the 
affordable housing threshold of ten units (policies 3.13 of the London Plan and CS12G of 
Islington’s Core Strategy). The applicant has agreed to pay the full small sites 
contributions towards affordable housing of £480,000 together with £8000 contribution 
towards carbon off-setting.  This has been secured in a Unilateral Undertaking.  As the 
application site is currently in B1(a) use and the proposal results in the uplift of only 
29sqm of B1(a) floor space the Crossrail CIL is not required. 

 
10.63 The application complies with policy CS12G of the Islington Core Strategy 2011, 

Development Management Policy DM7.2 and the Islington Affordable Housing Small Sites 
Contributions SPD. 

 
 

 

Page 39



Other Matters 
 

 
10.64 Concerns have been raised by neighbouring occupiers regarding light pollution from the 

B1 use.  In order to be more energy efficient many offices now provide sensor related 
lights to ensure lights are not left on in the building when it is not in use.  Furthermore, the 
office accommodation is located at the basement, ground and first floor levels with limited 
windows on the flank elevations.  As such, the proposal is not considered to result in 
unacceptable levels of light pollution to warrant refusal of the application. 

 
10.65 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, part 11 introduced the 

requirement that planning obligations under section 106 must meet three statutory tests, 
i.e. that they (i) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, (ii) 
directly related to the development, and (iii) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind 
to the development. Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), the Mayor of London’s 
and Islington’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be chargeable on this application 
on grant of planning permission. This will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor’s 
adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2012 and the Islington 
adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2014.  

 
11.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

Summary 
 
11.1 The proposal is for the demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment of the 

site to include the construction of a 5 storey including basement level, mixed use 
development containing 863sqm office floor space (Class B1) on the lower ground, 
ground and first floors and 8 residential units (Class C3) on the second, third and fourth 
floors (6 x 2 beds, 2 x 3 beds).  Provision of refuse & recycling facilities and cycle parking 
facilities on the ground floor and associated alterations. 
 

11.2 The provision of a mixed use scheme including additional B1 floor space and 8no. new 
residential units is considered to meet policy requirements and is acceptable. The design 
of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and would not detract from the character 
and appearance of the street scene. Whilst the proposal would impact on the amenity of 
the neighbouring student accommodation, given their transient nature and having regard 
to the central urban location of the site it is considered acceptable.  The previous 
Inspector’s report of the site raised no objections to the increase of the bulk, height and 
massing of the proposal. It is considered that the proposal overcomes the previous 
concerns regarding the impact on neighbouring amenity and poor interrelationship 
between the proposed units and neighbouring occupiers. Subject to the inclusion of 
conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable. 

 
11.3  The proposed development is considered to accord with the policies in the London Plan, 

Islington Core Strategy, Finsbury Local Plan, Islington Development Management Policies 
and the National Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for an 
approval subject to appropriate conditions and the completion of a legal agreement. 

 
Conclusion 
 

11.4 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in 
Appendix 1 – RECOMMENDATION and the completion of a legal agreement . 

 

Page 40



APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
RECOMMENDATION A 
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a Deed of Planning 
Obligation made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between the 
Council and all persons with an interest in the land (including mortgagees) in order to secure the 
following planning obligations to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public Services and the 
Service Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, 
in their absence, the Deputy Head of Service: 
 
ALTERNATIVELY should this application be refused (including refusals on the direction of The 
Secretary of State or The Mayor) and appealed to the Secretary of State, the Service Director, 
Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their absence, 
the Deputy Head of Service be authorised to enter into a Deed of Planning Obligation under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure to the heads of terms as set 
out in this report to Committee. 
 
The Heads of Terms are: 
 
- £480,000 contribution towards the provision of off-site affordable housing within the 

Borough 
- £8,000 contribution towards carbon off-setting 
-  The provision of an updated Energy Statement including futureproofing and future 

connection to a District Heat Network 
 
All payments are due on practical completion of the development and are to be index-linked from 
the date of committee. Index linking is calculated in accordance with the Retail Price Index. 
Further obligations necessary to address other issues may arise following consultation processes 
undertaken by the allocated S106 Officer. 
 
RECOMMENDATION B 
 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to the following conditions: 
 
List of Conditions: 
 

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 
5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  
 
1126-0100-AP-101 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-102 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-103 REV P01, 
1126-0100-AP-104 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-105 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-106 REV P01, 
1126-0100-AP-107 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-108 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-109 REV P01, 
1126-0100-AP-110 REV P01, 1126-0100-AP-111 REV P01 
 

Page 41



1126-0200-AP-101 REV P03, 1126-0200-AP-102 REV P02, 1126-0200-AP-103 REV P03, 
1126-0200-AP-104 REV P02, 1126-0200-AP-105 REV P02, 1126-0200-AP-106 REV P02, 
1126-0200-AP-107 REV P02, 1126-0300-AP-101 REV P02, 1126-0300-AP-102 REV P02,  
1126-0400-AP-101 REV P02, 1126-0400-AP-102 REV P02, 1126-0400-AP-103 REV P02, 
1126-0400-AP-104 REV P02, 1126 12.04 REP 015_Planning Amendments 
 
Design & Access Statement Reference: 1126 12.04 REP 013_Design and Access Statement 
Issue: P01 dated 20.02.17, Planning Statement dated February 2017, Green Performance 
Plan dated 05 January 2017, Thermal Modelling Report for overheating assessment dated 04 
January 2017, Area Schedule dated 20 February 2017 REV P02, Daylight and Sunlight 
Report reference K160908/PSD/Group 03 dated February 2017 and updated revision dated 
27 July 2017, Plant Noise Assessment Acoustics Report M1408/R01a dated 9 November 
2016, Structural Methodology Statement Revision A dated 15 February 2017, Site Waste 
Management Plan dated 15 July 2014, Transport Assessment dated November 2016, Flood 
Risk Assessment Version 2 dated May 2017, Fire Strategy Technical Note Dated 8 June 
2017, Energy Strategy Report dated 5 January 2017, BREEAM Pre-Assessment Report 
dated 5 January 2017, Sustainability Statement dated 5 January 2017. 
 

 
 

REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 
 

3 Materials (Details) 

 CONDITION:   Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on 
site. The details and samples shall include: 
a) solid brickwork (including brick panels and mortar courses)  
b) aluminium cladding; 
c) window treatment (including sections and reveals); 
d) door entrances 
e) fritted glazing; 
f) stone section; 
g) balustrading treatment (including sections);  
h) obscurely glazed louvres; 
i) lift overrun 
j) Any other materials to be used. 
 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the 
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard 
 

4 Construction Method Statement 

 CONDITION:  A Construction Environmental Management Plan assessing the environmental 
impacts (including (but not limited to) noise, air quality including dust, smoke and odour, 
vibration and TV reception) of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to any works commencing on site.  The report shall 
assess impacts during the construction phase of the development on nearby residents and 
other occupiers together with means of mitigating any identified impacts.  The Statement shall 
also include:  
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials  
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  

Page 42



iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate  
v. wheel washing facilities  
vi. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 
works   
 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
REASON:  To ensure that the development does not adversely impact on neighbouring 
residential amenity due to its construction and operation. 
 

5 Plant Equipment Noise Levels 

 CONDITION: The design and installation of new items of fixed plant shall be such that when 
operating the cumulative noise level LAeq Tr arising from the proposed plant, measured or 
predicted at 1m from the facade of the nearest noise sensitive premises, shall be a rating 
level of at least 5dB(A) below the background noise level LAF90 Tbg.  The measurement 
and/or prediction of the noise should be carried out in accordance with the methodology 
contained within BS 4142: 2014 
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring amenity. 
 

6 Timer for Plant Equipment 

 CONDITION: Full particulars and details of a scheme for sound insulation between the 
proposed office and residential use of the building shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works commencing on site. 
 
The sound insulation and noise control measures shall be carried out strictly in accordance 
with the details so approved, shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the 
development hereby approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change 
therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: For the protection of neighbouring amenity. 
 

7 Balconies 

 CONDITION: The proposed balconies on the front elevation should not be stuck on.  Details 
of the soffits, balustrades, fixings and materials should be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of works.  The balconies shall be constructed in 
accordance with the submitted details and permanently maintained as such. 
 
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the resulting 
appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard 
 

8 Cycle Storage and Refuse Facilities 

 CONDITION:   The bicycle storage area(s) and refuse facilities hereby approved, shall be 
provided prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved as shown on 
drawing no. 1126-0200-AP-102 REV P02 and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible on site and to 
promote sustainable modes of transport and adequate refuse facilities are provided on site. 
 

Page 43



7 Green Biodiversity Roof (Details) 

 CONDITION: Notwithstanding the approved plans, details of the biodiversity (green) roof shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
superstructure works commencing on site. The biodiversity (green/brown) roof(s) shall be:  
a) biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80-150mm);  
b) maximise the extent of the new roof area to be covered by a green roof; and  
c) planted/seeded with an agreed mix of species within the first planting season following the 
practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be focused on wildflower 
planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of 25% sedum).  
 
The biodiversity (green/brown) roof shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any 
kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or repair, or 
escape in case of emergency.  
The biodiversity roof(s) shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved 
and shall be maintained as such thereafter.  
 
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards 
creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity.  
 

8 Lifetime Homes 

 CONDITION: Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, all residential units shall be 
constructed to Category 2 of the National Standard for Housing Design as set out in the 
Approved Document M 2015 ‘Accessible and adaptable dwellings’ M4 (2).  
 
Evidence, confirming that the appointed Building Control body has assessed and confirmed 
that these requirements will be achieved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
LPA prior to any superstructure works beginning on site.  
The development shall be constructed strictly in accordance with the details so approved.  
 
REASON: To secure the provision of visitable and adaptable homes appropriate to meet 
diverse and changing needs, in accordance with LPP 3.8  
 

9 Sustainable Design and Construction 

 CONDITION: The dwellings hereby permitted shall be constructed to achieve a 19% reduction 
in regulated CO2 emissions, compared to compliance with the Building Regulations 2013, 
and a water efficiency target of 95 l/p/d. No occupation of the dwellings shall take place until 
details of how these measures have been achieved have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  
 
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the resulting 
appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.  
 

10 Car-Free Housing 

 CONDITION: All future occupiers of the additional residential units, hereby approved shall not 
be eligible to obtain an on street residents parking permit except:  
i) In the case of disabled persons;  
ii) In the case of the resident who is an existing holder of a residents parking permit issued by 
the London Borough of Islington and has held the permit for a period of at least one year.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development remains car free.  
 
 
 

Page 44



11 Delivery and Servicing Plan 

 CONDITION: A Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) detailing servicing arrangements including 
the location, times and frequency shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved.   
 
The development shall be constructed and operated strictly in accordance with the details so 
approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change therefrom shall take place 
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON:  To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory in terms of 
their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic. 
 

12 Windows to be Obscurely Glazed 

 CONDITION: Details of the obscurely glazed windows including the method of permanent 
obscuring shall be submitted be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site and shall be installed as such 
prior to the first occupation of the development. 
 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and 
maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON: To prevent the undue overlooking of neighbouring habitable room windows. 
 

13 Obscurely Glazed Fins and Privacy Screens 

 CONDITION: The proposed obscurely glazed fins and privacy screens shall be installed prior 
to the first occupation of development and shall be permanently maintained as such. 
 
REASON: To prevent the undue overlooking of neighbouring habitable room windows. 

 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
The LPA and the applicant have worked positively and proactively in a collaborative 
manner through both the pre-application and the application stages to deliver an 
acceptable development in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
The LPA delivered the decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 

2 Community infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 CIL Informative:  Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is 
liable to pay the London Borough of Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
the Mayor of London's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). These charges will be 
calculated in accordance with the London Borough of Islington CIL Charging Schedule 
2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule 2012. One of the 
development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by submitting an 
Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The Council will 
then issue a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL payable on commencement 
of the development.   

Page 45



Further information and all CIL forms are available on the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil and the 
Islington Council website at www.islington.gov.uk/cilinfo. Guidance on the Community 
Infrastructure Levy can be found on the National Planning Practice Guidance website 
at http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-
infrastructure-levy/.  
 

3 Section 106 Agreement 

 You are advised that this permission has been granted subject to a legal agreement 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 46

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy/
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy/


APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek to 
secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social 
progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material considerations and 
have been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  
The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  

 
Policy 7.4 Local Character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 
 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 
Strategic Policies 
 
Policy CS 7 - Bunhill and Clerkenwell 
Policy CS 8 – Enhancing Islington’s character 
Policy CS 9 - Protecting and enhancing Islington’s built and 
historic environment 
Policy CS 10 – Sustainable Design 
 
C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

- Policy DM2.1 – Design 
- Policy DM2.2 – Inclusive Design 
- Policy DM2.3 – Heritage 
- Policy DM5.1 - New business floorspace 
- Policy DM5.4  - Size and affordability of workspace 
- Policy DM7.1 - Sustainable design and construction 
- Policy DM7.2 - Energy efficiency and carbon reduction in minor schemes 
- Policy DM7.4 – Sustainable Design Standards 
- Policy DM8.4 - Walking and cycling 
- Policy DM8.5 - Vehicle parking 
 

 
D) Finsbury Local Plan (June 2013) 

- Bunhill & Clerkenwell Key Area 
- Mix of uses 

 
3.     Designations 
 

Rosebery Avenue Conservation Area  
 

Page 47



4.     SPD/SPGS 
 

Urban Design Guidelines 2017 
Conservation Area Design Guidelines 
Environmental Design SPD 
Inclusive Design SPD 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Appendix 3 – Appeal Decision Notice for Appeal APP/V5570/W/15/3136609 at 44 Pear Tree 
Street 
 

 

Page 49



 

Page 50



 

Page 51



 

Page 52



 

Page 53



 

Page 54



 

Page 55



 

Page 56



 

Page 57



 

Page 58



 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



- . ' 
. 

� .  

Islington SE GIS Print Template -

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission or the controller or Her 
Majesty's Stationery Office,© Crown Copyright. 

P2017/0865/FUL

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



- 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE B  

Date: 2nd October 2017 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2017/2464/S73 

Application type Variation of Condition (Section 73) 

Ward Canonbury Ward 

Listed building Not listed 

Conservation area East Canonbury Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Locally Listed Building Grade B 
East Canonbury Conservation Area 
Article 4(2) East Canonbury (1) 
Major Cycle Route 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address 60 Halliford Street, Islington, LONDON, N1 3EQ 

Proposal Application for variation of condition 2 (Approved 
Drawings) of planning consent Ref: P2016/4970/FUL to 
allow for the demolition and rebuilding of the garden wall 
to form a side wall of the single storey extension. 

 

 

Case Officer Thomas Broomhall 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Neil & Laura Avery 

Agent Peter Brades - Peter Brades Architects 

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission: 
 
1. Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item B2



2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 
 

  

Page 64



3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 
 

Location of Site 

 
 
Image 1: Aerial view of the site from directly above the site 
 

Location of Site 

 
 
Image 2: Looking into the site in a south westerly direction 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 65



 
 
Image 3: View of rear elevation 
 

 
 
Image 4: View of lower ground floor of rear elevation 

Page 66



 
 

Image 5: View towards rear of neighbouring properties 
 

 
 

Image 6: View towards existing boundary wall with neighbouring property at no.61 Halliford 
Street 

Page 67



4. SUMMARY 
 
4.1 On 5 May 2017 Planning Permission (Ref: P2016/4970/FUL) was granted for 

demolition of the existing rear lower ground floor level conservatory and erection of a 
single storey full width, two storey part width rear extension. Installation of new upper 
ground floor window to side elevation. Enlargement of existing dormer window in rear 
roof slope and installation of new Velux-type roof window in rear roof slope at 60 
Halliford Street. A copy of the Committee Report is attached at Appendix 3. 
 

4.2 Planning permission is sought for the variation of condition 2 (drawings) of planning 
permission Ref: P2016/4970/FUL dated 5 May 2017. The amendments result in the 
demolition and rebuilding of the garden wall to form a side wall of the proposed single 
storey extension. 
 

4.3 The application is brought to committee because the applicant is an employee of 
Islington Council. 
 

4.4 The issues arising from the latest application are the impact of the proposals on the 
character and appearance of the host building, being a pair of semi-detached villas and 
the East Canonbury Conservation Area; and the impact on the amenities of the 
adjoining and surrounding residential properties. 
 

4.5 The proposed amendments are considered to retain the character and appearance of 
the host building, being a pair of semi-detached villas and East Canonbury 
Conservation Area. The proposed amendments are not considered to prejudice the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties insofar as loss of light, outlook, sense of 
enclosure and disturbance. The proposals are therefore in line with policy DM2.1 of the 
Islington Development Management Policies June 2013. 

 
4.6 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions.        

 
5. SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 
5.1 The application site is a two storey over lower ground floor single dwelling house, part 

of a pair of semi-detached villas in a row of ten similar properties. The property is 

Locally Listed Grade B however it is not statutorily listed and is within the East 

Canonbury Conservation Area. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in 

character. 

6. PROPOSAL (in Detail) 

 
6.1 The details of the scheme granted consent have been outlined in the report to planning 

sub-committee B dated 20 April 2017. This latest application is for minor material 

amendments to the approved application.  

6.2 Planning permission is sought for the variation of condition 2 (drawings) of 
P2016/4970/FUL dated 5 May 2017. The amendments result in the demolition and 
rebuilding of the garden wall to form a side wall of the proposed single storey 
extension. 
 

6.3 The rear extension approved under planning consent Ref: P2016/4970/FUL would 
adjoin the existing boundary wall with no. 61 Halliford Street without altering the height 
or massing of the existing wall. The proposed amendments would result in the 
demolition and rebuilding of this boundary wall to form a side wall of the proposed 

Page 68



single storey extension. The existing boundary wall partially slopes down from the rear 
elevation of the building. The rebuilt boundary wall would no longer slope down from 
the highest part of the wall and therefore would result in a marginal increase in width, 
volume and massing of the approved rear extension 
 

 
7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  

PLANNING APPLICATIONS: 
 
7.1  23/05/2002 Planning Application (ref: P012300 60) refused for Erection of a rear 

dormer at 60 HALLIFORD STREET, N1. 

REASON: The proposed rear dormer would be visible from the street and would 
constitute an unsightly interruption to the existing skyline, by virtue of its size and 
location on the roof slope, to the detriment of the character and appearance of the 
original building and the streetscene in particular and the East Canonbury 
Conservation Area in general, contrary to Policies D21 and D24 and Unitary 
Development Plan (Second Deposit Draft June 2000) and Paragraph 23.7 of the 
Conservation Area Guidelines. 

7.2 05/05/2017 Planning Permission (ref: P2016/4970/FUL) granted for demolition of the 
existing rear lower ground floor level conservatory and erection of a single storey full 
width, two storey part width rear extension. Installation of new upper ground floor 
window to side elevation. Enlargement of existing dormer window in rear roof slope and 
installation of new Velux-type roof window in rear roof slope at 60 Halliford Street 

 
ENFORCEMENT: 

 
7.3 None. 

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 

7.4 None. 

8. CONSULTATION 

 
Public Consultation 

 
8.1 Letters were sent to occupants of adjoining and nearby properties on Halliford Street, 

Orchard Close, Morton Road and Ecclesbourne Road.  A site notice and press notice 
were also displayed on 4 July 2017. The public consultation on the application ended 
on 3 August 2017.   

 
8.2 At the time of the writing of this report no objections have been received from the public 

consultation. 

Internal Consultees 
 
8.3  Design and Conservation – No objection.  

 
External Consultees 
 

8.4 None. 

Page 69



 
9. RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This 
report considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

 
National Policy and Guidance 

 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 

seek to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, 
environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG 
are material considerations and have been taken into account as part of the 
assessment of these proposals.  

 
Development Plan   

 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013. The policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this 
application and are listed at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
9.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10. ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Design and Conservation 

 Neighbouring amenity 
 

 
Design and Conservation 

 
10.2    The application proposes an amendment to the approved full width single storey part 

width two storey rear extension which results in a marginal increase in volume and 
height due to the demolition and rebuilding of the boundary wall with no. 61. 

 
10.3   A Section 72 (1) of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires the Local Authority to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving the character and appearance of Conservation Areas within their area. 

 
10.4 Section 5.134 of the Islington Urban Design Guide (IUDG) sets out the following: 

 
Rear extensions must be subordinate to the original building; extensions should be no 
higher than one full storey below eaves to ensure they are sufficiently subordinate to 
the main building. For this reason and also in order to respect the rhythm of the terrace, 
full width rear extensions higher than one storey, or half width rear extensions higher 
than two storeys, will normally be resisted, unless it can be shown that no harm will be 
caused to the character of the building and the wider area. 

 
10.5 Paragraphs 23.41 and 23.15 of the East Canonbury Conservation Area Design 

Guidelines (CADG) set out the following: 

Page 70



Full width rear extensions higher than one storey or half width rear extensions higher 
than two storeys, will not normally be acceptable, unless it can be shown that no harm 
will be caused to the character of the area. In order to preserve the scale and integrity 
of the existing buildings it is important that rear extensions are subordinate to the mass 
and height of the main building. Rear extensions will be permitted on their merits and 
only where the scale, design and materials to be used are in keeping with the existing 
property and where all other planning standards are met. 

 
 

10.6 The small scale increase in scale, massing and width of the proposed rear extension 

are considered to remain subordinate to, and preserve the scale and integrity of the 

original building, retaining sufficient height below the eaves. Consideration has been 

given to the small extent of the proposed increase to the footprint of the dwelling and 

the impact on the character of the modest rear garden and the property’s dense 

urban setting. The amended design of the proposed extension is considered to 

continue to balance the increase in built form with retaining sufficient private outdoor 

amenity space. 

 

10.7 The revised design of the extension continues to be of a similar scale to the pattern of 

development in the area.   

 

10.8 The design, appearance and use of materials remain the same as the approved 

extension (including brickwork to match existing, timber sliding sash window at upper 

ground floor and aluminium framed sliding doors at lower ground floor level) and 

continue be appropriate to the rear elevation of the host building. 

 

10.9 The proposal is therefore considered to be consistent with the aims of Council 

objectives on design and in accordance with Islington Development Management 

Policies DM2.1 and DM2.3, and guidance contained within the Islington Urban Design 

Guide (2017) and the East Canonbury Conservation Area Design Guidelines (2002). 

Neighbouring Amenity 
 
10.10 The amendments to the approved rear extension would partially increase the height 

of the existing boundary wall between no’s 60 and 61 Halliford Street through 

rebuilding the boundary wall and partially raising the height of the wall. 

10.11 Part X of Policy DM2.1 requires new development to provide a good level of amenity 
including consideration of noise and the impact of disturbance, hours of operation, 
vibration, pollution, fumes between and within developments, overshadowing, 
overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight, over-dominance, sense of enclosure 
and outlook. 
 

10.12 Consideration has been given to the small scale increase in bulk, scale, depth and 

height from the proposed revision to the approved rear extension and the impact on 

the amenities of the adjoining properties.  

10.13 Particular consideration has been given to the revised design of the rear extension 
and the potential impact on the window on the rear elevation of no. 61 at lower 
ground floor level. The boundary wall currently slopes downwards from a maximum 
height of 3.2 metres down to 2.2 metres. It is noted that there would be a minor 
increase in height adjacent to the boundary as a result of the single storey element of 

Page 71



the rear extension, at a maximum height of 0.8 metres although this extent would 
cover a length of 2.4 metres. 
 

10.14 Given this design, the impact of the partial increase in height and massing adjacent to 
the boundary wall on the outlook and perceived sense of enclosure of no.  61 will 
continue to be minimal and not result in sufficient loss of amenity as to sustain the 
refusal of the application on this basis and is therefore acceptable.  
 

10.15 The submitted drawings indicate that the existing window to no. 61 would pass the 

45-degree rule set out by the BRE guidelines in elevation although fails in plan. This 

is sufficient to meet the BRE guidelines. The small increase in height and massing is 

not considered to result in any discernible loss of daylight on the existing situation. 

The rear elevation is within 90 degrees of due north so there will be no sunlight 

impact. The window is set away from the boundary wall, has an otherwise open 

aspect to the rear and therefore the impact of the proposals is acceptable in this 

regard. 

 

10.16 No changes are proposed to the two storey element of the proposed rear extension 

which would not result in a harmful impact in terms of loss of outlook, enclosure or 

daylight and is therefore acceptable in this regard. 

10.17 No changes are proposed to the proposed windows to the rear elevation of the 
extension which continue to only overlook the garden and therefore there is no 
potential for an increase in overlooking from the proposed extension. No changes are 
proposed to the approved side elevation window which would continue to serve a 
staircase, being non-habitable room, resulting in no undue overlooking. 

 

10.18 No amendments are proposed to the approved enlargement of the rear dormer 

window and roof light which would not have an impact on the amenities of the 

adjoining or adjacent properties in terms of an increase in overlooking, loss of outlook 

or increase of enclosure and is acceptable in this regard. 

10.19 In summary the overall impact of the proposals is not considered to result in an 
unacceptably harmful impact on the adjoining and adjacent properties in terms of loss 
of outlook, daylight, sunlight, or increase in sense of enclosure or overlooking. 
Therefore the proposals are considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy 
DM2.1 of the Islington Development Management Policies. 

 
11.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

  Summary 
 
11.1 The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the host building being 

a pair of semi-detached villas and surrounding conservation area is considered to be 

acceptable. The impact on the amenities of the adjoining and surrounding properties is 

considered to be acceptable.  

 
11.2  As such, the proposed development is considered to accord with the policies in the 

London Plan, Islington Core Strategy, Islington Development Management Policies and 
the National Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for an approval 
subject to appropriate conditions. 

 

Page 72



Conclusion 
 

11.3 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out 
in Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATIONS. 

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
RECOMMENDATION A 
 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 
List of Conditions: 
 

1 S73 - CONSENT LIMITED TO THAT OF ORIGINAL PERMISSION 

 S73 - CONSENT LIMITED TO THAT OF ORIGINAL PERMISSION:  The development 
hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration of [5 May 2020]. 
 
REASON: To ensure the commencement timescale for the development is not 
extended beyond that of the original planning permission granted on [5 May 2017] [LBI 
ref: P2016/4970/FUL].    Furthermore, to comply with the provisions of Section 
91(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  
 
1716/01, 1716/02 RevA, 1716/03, 1716/04, 1716/05, 1716/06 RevA, 1716/07 RevA, 
1716/08 RevA, 1716/09 RevC, 1716/10 RevA, 1716/11 RevA, 1716/12 RevA, 1716/13 
RevA, 1716/14 RevA, 1716/15 RevA, Design and Access Statement dated June 2017 
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning. 
 

3 MATERIALS (COMPLIANCE):   

 CONDITION:  The development shall be constructed in accordance with the schedule 
of materials noted on the plans and within the Design and Access Statement.  The 
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved 
and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the 
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard. 

 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
 
Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy advice and 
guidance available on the website was followed by the applicant. 
 

Page 73



The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration the 
policies and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a positive 
decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 

 
 
 

Page 74



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek to 
secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social 
progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material considerations and 
have been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 
2013.  The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this 
application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  

 
Policy 7.4 Local Character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 

 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 

Strategic Policies 
 

Policy CS 8 – Enhancing Islington’s character 
Policy CS 9 - Protecting and enhancing Islington’s built 
and historic environment 

 
C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

Policy DM2.1 – Design 
Policy DM2.3 - Heritage 
Policy DM7.1 - Sustainable design and construction 
Policy DM7.2 - Energy efficiency and carbon reduction in minor schemes 
Policy DM7.4 – Sustainable Design Standards 

 
3.     Designations 

 
East Canonbury Conservation Area 

  
4.     SPD/SPGS 
 

East Canonbury Conservation Area Design Guide 2002 
Urban Design Guide 2017 
Environmental Design SPD 2012 

  

Page 75



APPENDIX 3: Previous committee report for substantive extant permission 

P2016/4970/FUL 

 
 
  

Page 76



- 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE B  

Date: 20th April 2017 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2016/4970/FUL 

Application type Full Planning Application  

Ward Canonbury Ward 

Listed building Not listed 

Conservation area East Canonbury Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Locally Listed Building Grade B 
East Canonbury Conservation Area 
Article 4(2) East Canonbury (1) 
Major Cycle Route 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address 60 Halliford Street, Islington, LONDON, N1 3EQ 

Proposal Demolition of the existing rear lower ground floor 
level conservatory and erection of a single storey full 
width, two storey part width rear extension. 
Installation of new upper ground floor window to side 
elevation. Enlargement of existing dormer window in 
rear roof slope and installation of new Velux-type roof 
window in rear roof slope. 

 

Case Officer Thomas Broomhall 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Neil & Laura Avery 

Agent Peter Brades - Peter Brades Architects 

 
 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission: 
 
2. Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration 
Department 
 

 

Page 77



2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 
 

  

Page 78



3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 
 

Location of Site 

 
 
Image 1: Aerial view of the site from directly above the site 
 

Location of Site 

 
 
Image 2: Looking into the site in a south westerly direction 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 79



 
 
Image 3: View of rear elevation 
 

 
 
Image 4: View of lower ground floor of rear elevation 

Page 80



 
 

Image 5: View towards rear of neighbouring properties 
 

 
 

Image 6: View of rear roof slope from street 
 

Page 81



 
 
Image 7: View of the side elevation from the street 

 
 
  

Page 82



4. SUMMARY 
 
4.7 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing rear lower 

ground floor level conservatory and the erection of a single storey full width, two 
storey part width rear extension. The proposed works also include the 
installation of a new upper ground floor window to the side elevation, the 
enlargement of the existing dormer window in the rear roof slope and the 
installation of a new Velux-type roof window in the rear roof slope. 
 

4.8 The application is brought to committee because the applicant is an employee 
of Islington Council. 
 

4.9 The issues arising from the application are the impact of the proposals on the 
character and appearance of the host building, being a pair of semi-detached 
villas and the East Canonbury Conservation Area; and the impact on the 
amenities of the adjoining and surrounding residential properties. 
 

4.10 The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the host 
building, being a pair of semi-detached villas and East Canonbury Conservation 
Area is considered to be acceptable. The impact on the amenities of the 
adjoining and surrounding properties is considered to be acceptable.  

 
5. SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 
5.2 The application site is a two storey over lower ground floor single dwelling 

house, part of a pair of semi-detached villas in a row of ten similar properties. 

The property is Locally Listed Grade B however it is not statutorily listed and is 

within the East Canonbury Conservation Area. The surrounding area is 

predominantly residential in character. 

6. PROPOSAL (in Detail) 

 
7.5 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing rear lower 

ground floor level conservatory and the erection of a single storey full width, two 
storey part width rear extension to the rear elevation of the semi-detached 
property. The application also includes the installation of a new upper ground 
floor window to the side elevation, the enlargement of the existing dormer 
window in the rear roof slope and the installation of a new Velux-type window in 
the rear roof slope 
 

7.6 The proposed extension would extend at the lower ground floor level of the 
property to a depth of 3.75 metres across the full width of the building. A 
rooflight is proposed within in the flat roof of the single storey element of the 
extension. The single storey element rises on the boundary with no. 61 to a 
height of 3 metres. The two storey element rises to a height of 5.6 metres on 
the staircase side of the semi-detached building set away from the boundary 
with no. 59 by 1.2 metres. The two storey element would be less than half the 
width of the property measuring 2.5 metres. 
 

Page 83



7.7 The proposed enlargement of the existing rear dormer window would increase 
the width and the depth of the existing dormer window and result in similar 
proportions to the existing dormer window on the adjoining property at no. 61. 
The proposed dormer would extend 1.5 metres in width and 2.2 metres in 
depth. The proposed new rooflight to the rear roof slope would sit adjacent to 
the dormer window and measure 0.5 metres in height and width. 
 

7.8 The proposed new window on the side elevation would be located at upper 
ground floor level with proportions of 0.5 metres in width and 0.9 metres in 
height. 
 

7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  

PLANNING APPLICATIONS: 
 
7.1  23/05/2002 Planning Application (ref: P012300 60) refused for Erection of a rear 

dormer at 60 HALLIFORD STREET, N1. 

REASON: The proposed rear dormer would be visible from the street and would 
constitute an unsightly interruption to the existing skyline, by virtue of its size 
and location on the roof slope, to the detriment of the character and appearance 
of the original building and the streetscene in particular and the East Canonbury 
Conservation Area in general, contrary to Policies D21 and D24 and Unitary 
Development Plan (Second Deposit Draft June 2000) and Paragraph 23.7 of 
the Conservation Area Guidelines. 

 
ENFORCEMENT: 

 
7.9 None. 

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 

7.10 None. 

8. CONSULTATION 

 
Public Consultation 

 
8.1 Letters were sent to occupants of adjoining and nearby properties on Halliford 

Street, Orchard Close, Morton Road and Ecclesbourne Road.  A site notice and 
press notice were also displayed on 3 January 2017. The public consultation on 
the application ended on 2 February 2017.   

 
8.3 At the time of the writing of this report no objections have been received from 

the public consultation. 

Internal Consultees 
 
8.3  Design and Conservation – No objection.  

 

Page 84



External Consultees 
 

8.5 None. 
 

9. RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  
This report considers the proposal against the following development plan 
documents. 

 
National Policy and Guidance 

 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance 

(PPG) seek to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances 
economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. 
The NPPF and PPG are material considerations and have been taken into 
account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  

 
Development Plan   

 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 

Strategy 2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 
2013 and Site Allocations 2013. The policies of the Development Plan are 
considered relevant to this application and are listed at Appendix 2 to this 
report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
9.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10. ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Design and Conservation 

 Neighbouring amenity 
 

 
Design and Conservation 

 
10.2    The application proposes the erection of a full width single storey part width two 

storey rear extension, enlargement to the existing rear dormer window, 
installation of rear roof light and installation of new window at upper ground floor 
level on the side elevation. 

 
10.3   A Section 72 (1) of the of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 requires the Local Authority to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving the character and appearance of Conservation Areas 
within their area. 

 

Page 85



10.4 Section 5.134 of the Islington Urban Design Guide (IUDG) sets out the 
following: 
 
Rear extensions must be subordinate to the original building; extensions should 
be no higher than one full storey below eaves to ensure they are sufficiently 
subordinate to the main building. For this reason and also in order to respect 
the rhythm of the terrace, full width rear extensions higher than one storey, or 
half width rear extensions higher than two storeys, will normally be resisted, 
unless it can be shown that no harm will be caused to the character of the 
building and the wider area. 

 
10.6 Paragraphs 23.41 and 23.15 of the East Canonbury Conservation Area Design 

Guidelines (CADG) set out the following: 

Full width rear extensions higher than one storey or half width rear extensions 
higher than two storeys, will not normally be acceptable, unless it can be shown 
that no harm will be caused to the character of the area. In order to preserve the 
scale and integrity of the existing buildings it is important that rear extensions 
are subordinate to the mass and height of the main building. Rear extensions 
will be permitted on their merits and only where the scale, design and materials 
to be used are in keeping with the existing property and where all other planning 
standards are met. 

 

10.20 Section 5.148 of the UDG sets out the following: 

In all cases, applications for roof extensions, dormers and roof lights will be 
assessed on merit, giving due consideration to:  

- The quality of design. 

- Materials and construction proposed. 

- The cumulative effect on visual amenity, unity and coherence of the street 

scene. 

 

10.21 The additional mass, height, scale, depth and proportions of the proposed rear 

extension are considered to remain subordinate to, and preserve the scale 

and integrity of the original building, retaining sufficient height below the 

eaves. Consideration has been given to the extent of the proposed increase to 

the footprint of the dwelling and the impact on the character of the modest rear 

garden and the property’s dense urban setting. The proposed extension is 

considered to balance the increase in built form with retaining sufficient private 

outdoor amenity space. 

 

10.22 It is noted that two storey additions of varying heights and depths exist on the 

adjacent properties in the terrace including at no’s 61, 59, 57, 55 and that 

large single storey rear extensions exist at no’s 58 and 56. As a result the 

extension is of a similar scale to the pattern of development in the area.   

 

10.23 The design, appearance and use of materials (including brickwork to match 

existing, timber sliding sash window at upper ground floor and aluminium 

Page 86



framed sliding doors at lower ground floor level) are considered to be 

appropriate to the rear elevation of the host building. 

 

10.24 The proposed enlargement of the existing rear dormer would result in a 

dormer of similar proportions and in a similar position to the existing rear 

dormer window on the adjoining property at no. 61 improving the symmetry of 

the pair of villas. The dormer is positioned a clear distance below the ridge-

line, significantly clear of the boundary parapets, and above the line of the 

eaves. The use of sash windows and the small size of the cheeks around the 

dormer window also follow the appearance of the existing dormer at no. 61. As 

a result, the enlargement of the dormer is considered to be in keeping with the 

original dwelling and relate appropriately to the windows of the original house 

and pair of villas, in proportion, detailing and position. The proposed dormer is 

considered to have addressed any previous reasons for refusal of the 

application for a rear dormer in 2002.  

 

10.25 The proposed roof light is flush with the roof covering, small scale, almost 

entirely hidden behind the existing parapet wall and is acceptable in design 

terms.  

 

10.26 The proposal is therefore considered to be consistent with the aims of Council 

objectives on design and in accordance with Islington Development 

Management Policies DM2.1 and DM2.3, and guidance contained within the 

Islington Urban Design Guide (2017) and the East Canonbury Conservation 

Area Design Guidelines (2002). 

Neighbouring Amenity 
 
10.27 The proposal is for a single storey full width, two storey part width rear 

extension to the rear elevation of the semi-detached building. The extensions 

would be separated from the boundary with no. 59 by a pathway running along 

the side of the property.  

10.28 Part X of Policy DM2.1 requires new development to provide a good level of 
amenity including consideration of noise and the impact of disturbance, hours 
of operation, vibration, pollution, fumes between and within developments, 
overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight, over-
dominance, sense of enclosure and outlook. 
 

10.29 Consideration has been given to the increase in bulk, scale, depth and height 

from the proposed rear extension and the impact on the amenities of the 

adjoining properties.  

10.30 Particular consideration has been given to the design of the proposed rear 
extension and the potential impact on the window on the rear elevation of no. 
61 at lower ground floor level. The boundary wall currently slopes downwards 
from a maximum height of 3.2 metres down to 2.2 metres. It is noted that there 

Page 87



would be a minor increase in height adjacent to the boundary as a result of the 
single storey element of the rear extension, at a maximum height of 0.8 metres 
although this extent would covers 2.4 metres. 
 

10.31 Given this design, the impact of the partial increase in height and massing 
adjacent to the boundary wall on the outlook and perceived sense of enclosure 
of no.  61 will be minimal and not result in sufficient loss of amenity as to 
sustain the refusal of the application on this basis and is therefore acceptable.  
 

10.32 The submitted drawings indicate that the existing window to no. 61 would fail 

the 45 degree rule set out by the BRE guidelines in plan and elevation. The 

small increase in height and massing is not considered to result in any 

discernible loss of daylight on the existing situation. The rear elevation is 

within 90 degrees of due north so there will be no sunlight impact. The window 

is set away from the boundary wall, has an otherwise open aspect to the rear 

and therefore the impact of the proposals are acceptable in this regard. 

 

10.33 The two storey element of the proposed rear extension would be set away 

from both boundaries with no’s 61 and 59 due to the pathway running down 

the side of the semi-detached villa and given the 1.2 metre set in from the 

boundary with no. 59. There is an existing two storey addition in place at no. 

59. Consideration has been given to the separation between the dwellings, 

and the position and proximity to windows of habitable rooms sited on the rear 

elevation. The proposed two storey rear extension would not result in a 

harmful impact in terms of loss of outlook, enclosure or daylight and is 

therefore acceptable in this regard. 

10.34 The proposed windows to the rear elevation only overlook the garden and 
therefore there is no potential for an increase in overlooking from the proposed 
extension. The proposed side elevation window would serve a staircase, being 
non-habitable room, resulting in no undue overlooking. 

 

10.35 The proposed enlargement of the rear dormer window and roof light would sit 

comfortably within the rear roof slope and would not have an impact on the 

amenities of the adjoining or adjacent properties in terms of an increase in 

overlooking, loss of outlook or increase of enclosure and is acceptable in this 

regard. 

10.36 In summary the overall impact of the proposals is not considered to result in 
an unacceptably harmful impact on the adjoining and adjacent properties in 
terms of loss of outlook, daylight, sunlight, or increase in sense of enclosure or 
overlooking. Therefore the proposals are considered to be acceptable in 
accordance with policy DM2.1 of the Islington Development Management 
Policies. 

 
11.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

Summary 

Page 88



 
11.2 The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the host 

building being a pair of semi-detached villas and surrounding conservation area 

is considered to be acceptable. The impact on the amenities of the adjoining 

and surrounding properties is considered to be acceptable.  

 
11.2  As such, the proposed development is considered to accord with the policies in 

the London Plan, Islington Core Strategy, Islington Development Management 
Policies and the National Planning Policy Framework and as such is 
recommended for an approval subject to appropriate conditions. 

 
Conclusion 
 

11.4 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as 
set out in Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATIONS. 

 

Page 89



APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
RECOMMENDATION A 
 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 
List of Conditions: 
 

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1) (a) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans:  
 
1716/01, 1716/02 RevA, 1716/03, 1716/04, 1716/05, 1716/06 RevA, 1716/07 
RevA, 1716/08, 1716/09 RevA, 1716/10, 1716/11, 1716/12, 1716/13 RevA, 
1716/14 RevA, 1716/15, Design and Access Statement dated December 2016 
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of 
proper planning. 
 

3 MATERIALS (COMPLIANCE):   

 CONDITION:  The development shall be constructed in accordance with the 
schedule of materials noted on the plans and within the Design and Access 
Statement.  The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the details so approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure 
that the resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high 
standard. 

 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has 
produced policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the 
Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
 
Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy advice and 
guidance available on the website was followed by the applicant. 

Page 90



 
The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration 
the policies and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a 
positive decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 91



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent 
to the determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 
seek to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, 
environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG 
are material considerations and have been taken into account as part of the 
assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 
2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013.  The following policies of the Development Plan are considered 
relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  

 
Policy 7.4 Local Character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 

 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 

Strategic Policies 
 

Policy CS 8 – Enhancing Islington’s character 
Policy CS 9 - Protecting and enhancing Islington’s 
built and historic environment 

 
C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

Policy DM2.1 – Design 
Policy DM2.3 - Heritage 
Policy DM7.1 - Sustainable design and construction 
Policy DM7.2 - Energy efficiency and carbon reduction in minor 
schemes 
Policy DM7.4 – Sustainable Design Standards 

 
3.     Designations 

 
East Canonbury Conservation Area 

  
4.     SPD/SPGS 
 

East Canonbury Conservation Area Design Guide 2002 
Urban Design Guide 2017 
Environmental Design SPD 2012 

Page 92



Islington SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

         P2017/2464/S73 

 

EC
C
LE

SBO
U
R
N
E R

O
AD

H
ALLIFO

R
D
 STR

EET

19.9m

M
O
R
TO

N
 R

O
AD

20.9m

O
R
C
H
AR

D
 C

LO
SE

20.2m

19.3m

Shelter

42

14

46

62

45

52

9

50

54

53

52

61

100

55

49

to

108

116

Lindsey M
ew

s

33
to

37

118

120

110

77

293

68

Sub
 S

ta

300

Council

El 1 to 30

C
ed

ar
 C

ou
rt

Offices

Apartments

El

Ecclesbourne

39
1t

o8

37

41
1 

to
 1

5

62

1 to 36

2
7

3
0

2
4

31
2
9

28
2
6

2
5

Sub

Sta

64

13

12

2
3

11
10

66

1

29
a

1

42

2

3

56

8

5

M
ew

s

22

6

1

47

49

61

57

17

Li
nd

se
y

62

29

4

63
 to

 6
5

290

1 to 14

37

38
67

66

37

29

24

34

15 to 18

36

X

XXX

X

XXXXX

XX

XXX

XX

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
XX

X

XXX

X
XXX

X

X
XX
X

X

XX

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

XX

XXX

XX

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE B  

Date: 2nd October 2017 NON-EXEMPT 
 

 

Application number P2017/1518/FUL 

Application type Full Planning Application (Council’s Own) 

Ward Mildmay 

Listed building None 

Conservation area Newington Green Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Newington Green Archaeological Priority Area 
Newington Green Conservation Area 

Licensing Implications None  

Site Address Newington Green Primary School, 105 Matthias Road, 
Islington, N16 8NP 

Proposal Erection of external canopy to east elevation at ground 
floor level. 
 

 

Case Officer Daniel Jeffries 

Applicant Canopies UK - Mr Stephen Wruck 

Agent Mr Luke Godden - ML Planning Consultancy Ltd 

 

1. RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the 
conditions set out in Appendix 1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item B3



2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET  
 

 
 
Image 1: Aerial view of the site arrows pointing at location of the proposed canopy. 
 

 
 
Image 2: View of side/east elevation of existing building, showing where the 
proposed canopy would be positioned 
 

Page 97



 
 
Image 3: View of side/east (to the right) and south elevations of existing building, 
and existing canopy, taken from location of the position of the proposed canopy. 
 

 
   

Image 4: View facing west from the communal courtyard of the residential estate of 
Skelton House, showing the east elevation of the school building, where the 
proposed canopy would be positioned, and the flank elevation of Bronte House, 
and the grounds of the Factory Community Project. 

  

Page 98



4. SUMMARY 
 

4.1 The application seeks planning permission to erect a canopy, to the east elevation of 
the main school building, which would provide an area for an outdoor teaching space. 
 

4.2 In land use terms, the proposed canopy would provide the school with improved 
facilities, which is considered acceptable in principle.  
 

4.3 The design of the canopy is considered to be in keeping with the host building and 
surrounding area. For these reasons it is considered that the proposal would 
preserve the visual appearance and historic character of the Newington Green) 
Conservation Area. 
  

4.4 The Council’s Tree Preservation Officer does not object to the proposal, and is 
satisfied with the findings of the submitted tree survey which confirms that the 
proposal would not detrimentally impact the trees adjacent to the proposal area. 

 

4.5 Overall, the proposed development is not considered to have any material adverse 
impacts on adjoining residents’ amenity levels in terms of noise disturbance, 
overlooking or loss of light and balanced against the provision of improved education 
facilities the proposals are considered acceptable.   
 

4.6 The application is presented to committee because the council has an interest in the 
site, as the school is on council owned land. 

 

5. SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 

5.1 The application site is accessed via Matthias Road, to the north, and is bounded by 
the residential properties along Mildmay Road to the south, the Council residential 
block of flats to Skelton House and the Factory Community Project, to the east and 
the residential and commercial properties along Newington Green to the west.  The 
site itself consists of the main school building which is a part single storey, part two 
storey flat roofed modern building.  
 

5.2 The site is surrounded by a number of residential properties, including the flats found 
within Skelton House, and commercial properties to the west. Whilst the host building 
is not listed, the site itself is within the Newington Green Conservation Area. 
 

6. PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL) 
 

6.1 The application seeks planning permission to erect a canopy to the east elevation of 
the host building, positioned to the adjacent to the eastern boundary shared with one 
the Council owned block of residential flats within Skelton House estate (named 
Bronte House) and the Factory Community Project. 

6.2 The proposed canopy would provide additional outdoor learning facilities for the 
school. It would measure 12.3m in length, at a projection of 3.4m from the east 
elevation, with a pitched roof at a maximum height of 3.2m and 2.3m to the eaves. It 
would be constructed using plasticoated aluminium framework with plastic coated 
plastic sheeting and would be translucent to the roof. The canopy would be 
predominately grey (RAL 7043) in colour, including three of the supporting columns, 
with the other four columns being green (RAL 6024 and 6016) and yellow (RAL 
1016). 
 

Page 99



7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
 

 PLANNING APPLICATIONS: 
 

Application 
Number 

Development Description Decision Decision 
Date 

P031493 Installation of new boundary fencing 
(four metres high). 

Approve with 
conditions  

16/09/2003 

P040910 Installation of boundary fencing and 
gates and creation of 6 car parking 
spaces and refurbishment/redesign 
of existing garden/play area. 

Approve with 
conditions 

13/07/2004 

P2013/2368/FUL Refurbishment and alterations to 
main School building (Block A) 
including construction of entrance 
canopy, replacement windows and 
doors, insulation and re-cladding 
works to walls and roofing, and 
associated works 

Approve with 
conditions   

02/09/2013 

P2013/3174/FUL Change of use of school playground 
(D1 use class) to weekly Sunday 
market (A1 use class).  

Approve with 
conditions  

25/11/2013 

P2014/2448/FUL Siting of one storage container 
within the enclosed bin area of the 
school grounds to provide additional 
storage for the school.   

Approve with 
conditions 

03/12/2014 

P2015/0697/FUL Construction of a canopy to the 
western elevation of the school 
building of the nursery classrooms to 
provide direct access to the covered 
play space from the nursery 
classroom.  

Approve with 
conditions   

07/07/2015 

 
ENFORCEMENT: 

 

7.1 None 

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE 
 

7.2 None 
 

8. CONSULTATION 
 

Public Consultation 
 

8.1 Letters were sent to occupants of 214 adjoining and nearby properties at Stubbins 
Lane, Mildmay Road, Newington Green, Woodville Road, Matthias Road, Watson 
Close, and Howard Road on 3 August 2017, no responses were received from this 
consultation.  A site notice and a press advert were displayed on 10 August 2017.  
The public consultation of the application therefore expired on the 31 August 2017, 
however it is the Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up 
until the date of a decision. 
 

Page 100



8.2 At the time of writing this report no objections had been received from the public with 
regard to the application. Any response received from the publication of this report 
will be updated to members at the committee meeting on the 2nd October 2017.  
 
External Consultees 
 

8.3 None 

Internal Consultees 
 

8.4 The Design and Conservation Officer stated that whilst they had no objections to 
the canopy they had a preference for more traditional materials. 
  

8.5 The Tree Officer commented that there are no arboricultural reasons to recommend 
the refusal of the application and is satisfied with the findings of the submitted tree 
survey. 
 

9. RELEVANT POLICIES  
 

9.1 Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This 
report considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 
 
National Guidance 
 

9.2 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a 
way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this 
and future generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken 
into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 

9.3 Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published 
online. 
 
Development Plan   

 
9.4 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 

Strategy 2011 and Development Management Policies 2013.  The policies of the 
Development Plan that are considered relevant to this application are listed at 
Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
Designations 

  

9.5 The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 
Strategy 2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 
and Site Allocations 2013: 
 

- Archaeological Priority Area 
- Newington Green Conservation Area 

   
        Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 
 

9.6 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
 
 

Page 101



10. ASSESSMENT 
 

10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Land use 

 Design & impact on the Conservation Area  

 Amenity 

 Trees 
 
Land-use 

 

10.2 The canopy is proposed to provide improved facilities for the school, with the creation 
of additional outdoor teaching space. The proposal would not facilitate an increase in 
the student numbers in the school.        

10.3 Policy 3.18 of the London Plan 2016 supports the expansion of education facilities 
and the enhancement of facilities for educational purposes. The provision of 
additional school facilities and space is classified as provision of new social 
infrastructure which is supported by policy DM4.12 of the Development Management 
Policies 2013. Paragraph 4.69 associated with this policy states 
‘development/redevelopment of social and strategic infrastructure should be 
designed to meet the needs of their intended occupants, taking into account any 
appropriate regulations and national design and space standards’ 

10.4 Meeting the needs of current and future pupils within the school grounds is evidently 
a key benefit of this proposal. This would be in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework which states that the Government, “attaches great 
importance to ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet 
the needs of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a 
proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement...” The 
framework also states that Council’s should give “great weight to the need to create, 
expand or alter schools”.  The London Plan is supportive of proposals which enhance 
education and skills provision, including the expansion of existing facilities.  

10.5 Islington’s Development Management Policy DM4.12 states that ‘extensions to social 
infrastructure such as this must be located in areas convenient for the communities 
they serve and accessible by a range of sustainable transport modes; provide 
buildings that are inclusive and flexible and be sited to maximise shared uses’.  

10.6 Overall, given the policy objectives of providing expanded and improved facilities for 
educational purposes, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in land use terms 
and to enhance the teaching facilities. 

Design and Conservation Area 

10.7 Given the site is within the Newington Green Conservation Area the proposal shall 
pay special regard to preserving or enhancing this heritage asset. Therefore, in terms 
of assessing the acceptability of the design of the proposal, it is important to consider 
Development Management Policies (2013) DM2.1 and DM2.3, Islington Core 
Strategy Policies (2011) CS9, and the guidance found within the Urban Design Guide 
(UDG) 2017, and the associated Conservation Design Guidelines. 

10.8 Policy DM2.1 states ‘All forms of development are required to be of high quality, 
incorporate inclusive design principles and make a positive contribution to the local 

Page 102



character and distinctiveness of an area, based upon an understanding and 
evaluation of its defining characteristics’.  

10.9 In relation to heritage, Policy DM2.3 states ‘Islington's historic environment is an 
irreplaceable resource and the council will ensure that the borough's heritage assets 
are conserved and enhanced in a manner appropriate to their significance’. 

10.10 Core Strategy Policy CS9 states that ‘high quality architecture and urban design are 
key to enhancing and protecting Islington’s built environment, making it safer and 
more inclusive’.  

10.11 The UDG provides guidance on how urban design principles should be applied to 
ensure that new development successfully contributes to making the borough a 
better place. It is applicable to all new developments, including alterations and 
extensions to existing buildings.  

10.12 Whilst it is acknowledged that the guidance within paragraphs 5.131 to 5.134 relate 
to residential extensions and alterations, it is considered that there are elements 
which are relevant in the assessment of this application and are considered to be 
consistent with the above policy objectives. The guidance states that extensions 
‘should take into account bulk, height, massing, materials and proportion and how 
they relate to adjacent heritage assets, uses, building alignment and general 
treatment of setting. Where the proposal is within a Conservation Area, applicants 
should have reference to the guidance within the applicable Conservation Area 
Statement’ and ‘the depth of extensions must also be carefully considered, having 
regard to both the impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties and the host 
building. This is particularly important for extensions exceeding a single storey’. 

10.13 In terms of the visual appearance the Conservation Area Design Statement advise 
that ‘the council will require that alterations to existing buildings in the conservation 
area conserve or enhance its significance’… ‘with the use of appropriate materials’. 
The proposed canopy would be positioned along the side/east elevation of the main 
school building. Whilst views of the proposal would largely be obscured from the 
public realm, it is important that it would be in keeping with the visual appearance of 
the host building and the surrounding area. The scale and massing of the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable and would be subordinate to the host building. In 
addition, whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would use relatively modern 
materials, given the design and relative age of the main school building, it is 
considered to be appropriate in this instance. In addition, there existing examples 
within the application site of similar canopies. The pictures below show the elevations 
of the proposal and a visual of what it would look like. 

  

Image 5: Proposed elevation showing canopy 

Page 103



  

Image 6: Porposed side elevation 

 

Image 7: Proposed CGI of canopy attached to ground floor of school 

10.14 Overall, the proposed canopy is considered to be of appropriate siting, massing and 
detailed design and would preserve the historic character and visual appearance of 
the Newington Green Conservation Area. The proposal would therefore accord with 
policies DM2.1 and DM2.3 of the Development Management Policies (2013) and 
Islington Core Strategy Policies CS8 and CS9, and the guidance found within the 
Urban Design Guide 2017 and the Newington Green Conservation Area Design 
Guidelines.    

Amenity 

10.15 The proposed canopy extension to the main school building is considered not to 
result in any significant amenity issues in terms of loss of daylight/sunlight or outlook 
to neighbouring properties, due to its scale and position away from the boundary and 
the existing trees which are planted between the proposal and the nearest residential 
properties. 

10.16 In terms of noise, whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would result in 
additional outdoor teaching space. However, it is not considered to result in a 
significant increase in noise over and above the existing situation, with the area 
immediately to the east of the proposal being used by Factory Community Project, 
which offers services to Under Fives, 5-13s Out of School Project, Youth Clubs, 

Page 104



Women’s Activities, Ethnic Minority Groups, Elderly Groups and Community 
Education. Lunch clubs and over 50s Women's Cultural Association. 

10.17 Overall, the proposal would accord with policy DM2.1 which requires development to 
safeguard the residential amenity to neighbouring properties. 

 Trees and Sustainability  

10.18 To the east of the host building and the proposed canopy, there are a number of 
existing trees. Whilst these tree is not designated as having a Tree Preservation 
Order (TPO), the site is within a conservation area, as per the requirements of DM 
policy 6.5 a tree survey was submitted as it is a constraint to development. 

10.19 Part B i) of Policy DM6.5 states ‘Developments are required to minimise any impacts 
on trees, shrubs and other significant vegetation. Any loss of or damage to trees, or 
adverse effects on their growing conditions, will only be permitted where there are 
over-riding planning benefits, must be agreed with the council and suitably 
reprovided. Developments within proximity of existing trees are required to provide 
protection from any damage during development’. Part B ii) states ‘ii) The council will 
refuse permission or consent for the removal of protected trees (TPO trees, and trees 
within a conservation area) and for proposals that would have a detrimental impact 
on the health of protected trees’. 
 

10.20 The submitted tree survey has identified that four trees could be affected by the 
proposal. One of the trees, which is positioned outside of the site, has been graded A 
by default due to the unavailability of access. However, due to the drop in ground 
level outside of the site’s boundary retaining wall, the Root Protection Area of this 
tree it is considered that it is unlikely to extend into the site area. The other three 
trees have been given the category C, which indicates that their condition may be 
considered less of a constraint to any proposed development. As such no 
recommendations have been made as part of the survey. 

10.21 Following a review of the submitted tree survey, the Council’s Tree Preservation 
Officer raised no objections to the proposal and is satisfied with its findings. 

10.22 Overall, the proposal is considered to be consistent with the requirements of Policy 
DM6.5 of the Development Management Policies.      

Transport 

10.23 The application site is located within an area of excellent (PTAL – 6a) public transport 
provision. In this instance, given that the proposal would not result in increased pupil 
numbers, no additional cycle storage is required. 

11. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

11.1 The proposed canopy is considered acceptable. The provision of improved facilities 
for the school is welcomed and supported by policy. It is considered to be acceptable 
in design terms and will not have a detrimental impact to the character of the heritage 
asset of Newington Green Conservation Area. 
  

11.2 The amenity of neighbouring residents will not be materially harmed due to 
appropriate siting, scale and separation distances. In addition, in terms of noise the 
enlarged playground towards the entrance of the site would not result in any 

Page 105



significant to occupiers of neighbouring properties. The scheme would not 
detrimentally impact the existing trees adjacent to the proposal. 
 

 Conclusion 
 

11.3 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions set out 
in Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATIONS. 

 

Page 106



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION A 

 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 
List of Conditions: 

 

1 Commencement  

 3 YEAR CONSENT PERIOD:  The development hereby permitted shall be begun 
not later than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (Chapter 5) 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 DRAWING AND DOCUMENT NUMBERS:  The development hereby approved 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: 
 
LG/SW/3216, LG/SW3203, LG/SW/3204, Tree Survey report ref: 
ICO112TCPJUL17, Design and Access Statement, Location Plan 
 

REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as 
amended and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the 
interest of proper planning. 
 

3 Materials (Compliance) 

 CONDITION: The development shall be constructed in accordance with the 
schedule of materials noted on the plans and within the Design and Access 
Statement.  The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
details so approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that 
the resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard. 
  

 
List of Informatives: 

 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
 
Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy advice and guidance 
available on the website was followed by the applicant. 
 
The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration the 
policies and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a positive 
decision in a timely manner in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 

 

Page 108



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes 
pertinent to the determination of this planning application. 
 
1 National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a 
way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this 
and future generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken 
into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published 
online. 
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 
Strategy 2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 
and Site Allocations 2013.  The following policies of the Development Plan are 
considered relevant to this application: 
 

3 London’s people  
Policy 3.16 Protection and  
enhancement of social infrastructure   
Policy 3.18 Education facilities   
 
5 London’s response to climate  
change  
Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation   
Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide  
emissions   
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and  
construction   
 
6 London’s transport  
Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of  
development on transport capacity   
Policy 6.9 Cycling   
 
7 London’s living places and spaces  
Policy 7.1 Building London’s  
neighbourhoods and communities   
Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment   
Policy 7.4 Local character   
Policy 7.5 Public realm   
Policy 7.6 Architecture  
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and  
archaeology   
 
8 Implementation, monitoring and review  
Policy 8.1 Implementation   
  
B) Islington Core Strategy 2011  
  

 

Page 109



Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing  
Islington’s Built and Historic  
Environment)  
 
 
C) Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

DM2.1 Design 
DM2.3 Heritage 
DM6.3 Landscaping, trees and biodiversity 
DM8.4 Walking and cycling 
DM4.12 Social and Strategic infrastructure and cultural facilities 
 

 
7. Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
The following SPGs and/or SPDs are relevant: 

 
Islington Council Guidance  
- Conservation Area Design Guidelines  
- Urban Design Guide  
 
London Plan 
- None 

Page 110



NORTHGATE SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

             P2015/1518/FUL 

 

25.3m

ROAD

MILDMAY 25.7m

A
U

R
IG

A
 M

E
W

S

24.2m

TCB

22.9m

LB

26.7m

TCB

26.8m

W
A

T
S

O
N

 C
L
O

S
E

CR

C
H

U
R

C
H

 W
A

L
K

26.8m

MATTHIAS ROAD

27.3m

N
E

W
IN

G
T

O
N

 G
R

E
E

N

Def

Newington Green

7
1
6

3
2
to

3
4

86

117

60

El Sub Sta

67

69

14

M
a
tt
h
ia

s 
H

o
u
se

1
 to

 3
2

1
 t
o
 1

0

2
1
 to

 4
0

L
yd

g
a
te

 H
o
u
se

S
e
w

e
ll 

H
o
u
se

Emerson House

1 to 20

S
ke

lto
n
 H

o
u
se

9

H
e
w

lin
g
 H

o
u
se

1
 t
o
 3

1

1
4

1
1

8 1
0

2
9
to

3
1

1
3 1
2

1
5

Gay House

1 to 18

1
 to

 8

1
 t
o
 2

0

W
a
lle

r 
H

o
u
se

B
ro

n
te

 H
o
u
se

1
 to

 3
2

Shelters

Shelter

M
ild

m
a
y 

S
o
ci

a
l

36

C
lu

b
 a

n
d
 I
n
st

itu
te

5

1
0

Centre

2
3

Youth and

Community

2
2

5
1
8

to
2
5

1

122

107

132

119

121

Primary School

Newington Green

3
2

110

111

2
8

34

Shelter

2
0
 to

 2
2

1
9

8
0

9
0

142

133

1
5

9
2

2

37

39

Church

38

41

2

3

40 to 57

Hathersage

Court

8
9

Surgeries

40

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X XXXXXXX

X

XX XXX XXX XXXX XX

XXXXX

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X

XXXXXXXXXX

X

XXXXXXXXXX

XXXXXXXXXX
XXXXXXXX

X

XXXXXX

X

X

X

X
XX

XXXX
XXX

X

X

X

X

XXX

X

XXXXXXXXXX

XXXXX

X

X

XX

X

X

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
PLANNING   SUB-COMMITTEE B AGENDA ITEM NO: 

Date: 2nd October 2017 NON-EXEMPT 
 

 

Application numbers P2016/4087/FUL 

Application types Full Planning  

Ward Bunhill Ward 

Listed building None 

Conservation area Within 50m of Hat & Feathers Conservation Area 

Development Plan Context Bunhill & Clerkenwell Core Strategy Key Area 

Central Activities Zone 

Employment Priority Areas (general) 

Finsbury Local Plan  

Site Allocations  

Within 50m of Hat & Feathers Conservation Area 

 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address Orchard Building, 25 Pear Tree Street, London, EC1V 
3AP 

Proposals The erection of two roof extensions, stair, lift core and 
stair walkway over existing roof level to provide 3 x self-
contained 2 bedroom residential units together with 
private terraces and a green-brown roof. 

 

 

Case Officer Joe Aggar 

Applicant Central Street (Pear Tree) Ltd 

Agent Montagu Evans 

 
 
1  RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions 
set out in Appendix 1;  
 
-    conditional upon the prior completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation made under 

section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing the heads of terms as 
set out in Appendix 1; 

  

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration 
Department 
 
 
 

Page 113

Agenda Item B4



 
 
 
2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
  

  
 
 
3. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 
 

  
 
Image 1 - Aerial view of the site and surroundings 
 
 

Page 114



  
 
Image 2 - Aerial view of the site and surroundings 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 3 – View of front of the site and adjoining properties beyond  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Image 4 – View looking west  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 
Image 5: View looking west from roof level 
 
 
 

 

Page 116



4 SUMMARY 
 
4.1 The application site currently forms four linked blocks comprising 5 and 6 storeys. The 

development comprises commercial and residential units overlooking a new public square.  
 

4.2 The proposal is to erect two roof additions with a stair walkway to provide three, 2 bedroom 
residential units with private roof terraces. The proposed additions are considered to relate 
to the existing built forms in the vicinity. The design, layout scale and massing of the 
proposed development is considered, on balance acceptable. The proposed new dwellings 
would not detract from the appearance of the host building, the street scene or the setting 
of the adjacent Hat and Feathers Conservation Area. 
 

4.3 During the course of the application the proposal has been amended with the height of the 
proposed roof addition reduced to 3.6m in height from existing roof level. The resultant 
height of the building would be 24m. The layout plan has been annotated to clarify the 
terrace areas that are for access only and common parts and a reduction in the terrace 
areas. The balustrades of the roof terraces on all have been set back from the parapet line 
by 0.5m. The position and size of external doors and windows have been adjusted.  
Additional information has also been submitted with a sunlight/daylight assessment to 
demonstrate no undue harm to adjoining neighbouring occupiers.    

 
4.4 The quality and sustainability of the resulting scheme is acceptable, complying with the 

minimum internal space standards required by the London Plan (2016). The Core Strategy 
aims to ensure that in the future an adequate mix of dwelling sizes are delivered within new 
development. Policy CS12 (Meeting the housing challenge) notes that a range of unit sizes 
should be provided within each housing proposal to meet the need in the borough, including 
maximising the proportion two bedroom units. Development Management Policy DM3.1 
(Mix of housing sizes) further states the requirement to provide a good mix of housing 
sizes. The provision three two units is considered in line with the above stated policy.  
 

4.5 Private amenity space is provided in accordance with DM3.5 of the Development 
Management Policies. It is proposed that the new build dwellings would be constructed to 
meet the Category 2 standards set by Building Regulations.  
 

4.6 The proposal is not considered to prejudice the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties insofar of loss of light, outlook or increased sense of enclosure and would not be 
contrary to policy DM2.1 of the Islington Development Management Policies June, 2013. 
 

4.7 The redevelopment of the site proposes no vehicle parking on site and occupiers will have 
no ability to obtain car parking permits (except for parking needed to meet the needs of 
disabled people), in accordance with Islington Core Strategy policy CS10 Section which 
identifies that all new development shall be car free. The applicant has signed and 
completed a Unilateral Undertaking in respect of small sites affordable housing and carbon 
offsetting.  

 
4.1 The application is referred to committee as based on the number of objections. The 

proposal is considered acceptable in terms of land use, the quality of the proposed 
residential accommodation, dwelling mix, affordable housing, transportation and servicing, 
sustainability and energy, subject to conditions and to an appropriate Section 106 (S106) 

agreement, the Heads of Terms of which have been agreed with the applicant. The main 
shortcomings of the proposed development relate to loss of light to neighbouring 
windows. These and other matters are outweighed by the benefits of the proposed 
development and are minor in nature.  

 
4.2 The proposal, on balance is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the 

Development Plan policies and planning permission is recommended for approval.        
 
 

Page 117



 
5 SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 
5.1 The existing site comprises a relatively recent completed mixed use development 

comprising 45 residential flats and office space (Class B1). The development was granted 
planning permission in 2011 (Ref. P110653) and was completed in 2012.   

 
5.2 Pear Tree Street is within the Clerkenwell and Bunhill Area of Islington. The street 

comprises a mix of residential and commercial uses. Historically the area has had a mixed 
use of industrial and warehouse buildings although many sites have been redeveloped as 
employment space, residential units and student housing.  The surrounding area is 
characterised by a mixture of residential, commercial, business and leisure uses. The site 
inspection confirmed that there are numerous examples of buildings from the Victorian, 
interwar, post war periods along with modern and contemporary structures. Heights of 
buildings also vary greatly from 10 storey residential tower blocks to 3-storey commercial 
buildings. The area is characterised by buildings of varying architectural styles, heights and 
materials. 

 
5.3 The site to the west is currently in use by National Grid as a depot to support and carry out 

emergency repairs for National Grid gas infrastructure in and around central London. There 
is an existing vehicular entrance from Pear Tree Street, a car park and small single and two 
storey buildings on site associated with the National Grid operation. The application site is 
phase 1 of site allocation BC16 and is adjacent to site allocation BC15 at the Seward Street 
playground as laid out in the Finsbury Local Plan. This application follows the recent 
redevelopment of phase 1 of site allocation BC16. An extant application (P2015/4725/FUL) 
exists for demolition of existing National Grid building and replacement with a 4 and 5 
storey building to create circa 4,240sqm (gross) B1 office floorspace including 600sqm 
National Grid office accommodation at part first and second floors and parking at ground 
floor both associated with depot use (also referred to as Phase 2 in the Finsbury Local 
Plan).  

 
5.4 The application site is located on the north side of Pear Tree Street. It is approximately 

equidistant between Central Street (east) and Goswell Road (west) which form part of the 
strategic road network. The site is located within 800m of Farringdon Underground and 
mainline rail station. Barbican and Old Street Underground stations are approximately 
700m and 800m away respectively. There are a number of bus and cycle routes serving the 
area. The site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6a which indicates a 
very high level of accessibility to local public transport facilities. Pear Tree Street is a 
narrow street with an enclosed nature created by the building frontages and the kink in the 
street between Central Street and Goswell Road, the latter being in a Conservation Area 
although the application site lies outside of a conservation area.  

 
5.5 To the south of the site, on the opposite side of Pear Tree Street, are Finsbury and 

Heyworth Halls of Residence providing student accommodation for the City University. The 
buildings opposite the application site are 5-7 storeys. The complex is accessed from 
Bastwick Street. Adjacent to the west of the site is a 5 storey mixed use development 
providing commercial office space at ground floor and first floor and 8 flats above. The site 
is not located within a designated Conservation Area. It however is located close to the Hat 
and Feathers and the St. Luke’s Conservation Area to the east and south. 

 
6 PROPOSAL (in Detail) 
 
6.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of two single storey roof additions to 

accommodate 3 x 2bed self-contained flats linked via common walkway, plus the insertion 
of an extended lift core and stair core. Each of the proposed new units would have access 
to an external amenity space with associated balustrade to the perimeter. The external 
finish is proposed to be painted render. The proposed units would be sited above the 

Page 118



existing flat green/brown roof and set in approximately 2.5 meters from the edge of the roof.  
The proposed terraces would be set back approximately 0.5m from the roofs edge.  

 
6.2 The proposed terraces would have timber decking and the external walkways and terraces 

enclosed by stainless steel balustrades with laminated glass. The roof to the proposed 
extensions would have a biodiversity roof. The application has been referred to the planning 
sub-committee due to the number of objections received.   

 

7 RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

1 Pear Tree Street (to the west of application site)  
7.1 1, Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P112369 for the ‘Erection of a five storey 

building with office use (Use Class B1) on ground floor and first floor; 8 flats, 6 two bedroom 
flats at second and third floor, 1 one bedroom flat and 1 four bedroom flat at fourth floor 
(including demolition of existing two storey office/industrial building (Use Class B1/B8)’ was 
REFUSED on the 08/12/2011. APPEAL ALLOWED with CONDITIONS 
 

7.2 1, Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P120025 for the ‘Demolition of existing 2 storey 
building and erection of a 5 storey mixed use building to provide 446m² of commercial office 
space (Use Class B1) at ground and first floor and 8 flats above (comprising 1 x four-bed, 6 
x two-bed and 1 x one-bed flats)’ was APPROVED on the 30/03/2012.   

 

7.3 1, Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P2013/4817/S73 for the ‘Minor material 
amendment to Planning Permission Ref P120025 dated 30/3/12 including increase in 
footprint of 4th floor and alterations to elevations’ was APPROVED on the 5/02/2014.  
 
44 Pear Tree Street (to the south of the site) 

7.4  44 Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P2017/0865/FUL for the ‘Demolition of the 
existing building and the redevelopment of the site to include the construction of a 5 storey 
including basement level  mixed use development containing 863sqm office floorspace GIA 
(Class B1) on the lower ground, ground and first floors and 8 residential units (Class C3) on 
the second, third and fourth floors (6 x 2 beds, 2 x 3 beds).  Provision of refuse & recycling 
facilities and cycle parking facilities on the ground floor and associated alterations. 
(AMENDED PLANS: Amendments include alterations to the screening and relationship with 
the Pietra Lara Building (Flats 1 and 4) and alterations to the layout of units 7 and 8 at the 
fifth floor level), under consideration.   

 
1 Pear Tree Street (application site)  

7.5 1, Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P2013/0927/NMA for the ‘Non material minor 
amendment of planning permission reference P110653 dated 9 November 2011. The 
amendments involve: (i) Replacement of cycle cages with 2 tier cycle racks (ii) 
Reduction in height of gates leading to rear courtyard (iii) reduction in height of metal 
grills connecting the building to the neighbouring development’ was APPROVED on the 
24/04/2013.   
 

7.6 1, Pear Tree Street, planning application re: P110653 for the ‘Erection of part 5, part 6-
storey building providing for 45 dwellings and 354sqm business (class B1) floorspace 
together with the creation of public realm/open space and associated works’ was 
APPROVED on the 09/11/2011.   

 
122 Goswell Rd and 15 Bastwick St (to the south of the application site on Pear Tree 
St)  

7.7 122-130, Goswell Road, 15  Bastwick Street, planning application re: P111829 for the 
‘Redevelopment of the site to provide student accommodation (805 rooms), sports centre 
(3,175sqm), university teachings space (2,525sqm) and associated works and landscaping. 

Page 119



(Reconsultation: Amendments to the scheme not limited to and including: Updated 
drawings showing window changes in response to neighbour relationships; additional 
drawings showing neighbour relationships; illustrative details of gates for Pear Tree Street 
entrance; detailed drawings illustrating accessible rooms; building facing material change to 
student accommodation courtyard)’ was APPROVED on the 30/03/2012.   

 
ENFORCEMENT: 
 

7.8 None.  
 

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 
7.1 None  
 
8 CONSULTATION 
 

Public Consultation 
 
8.1 Letters were sent to occupants of 1,086 adjoining and nearby properties at Dance Square, 

Goswell Road, Pear Tree Street, Central Street, Seward Street, Gee Street and Bastwick 
Street. 
 

8.2 A site notice was also displayed. Consultation expired on the 12th January 2017.  It is the 
Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until the date of a 
decision. A further period of consultation was carried out on the 28/03/2017. This expired 
on the 13/04/2017. A further consultation period was carried out on the 25/07/2017 and 
expired on the 07/08/2017. The reason for additional consults being carried out were the 
submission of amended plans including the reduction in height of proposed roof addition, 
layout of plans clarified in relation to terrace areas and common parts, balustrades set in by 
0.5m, updated sunlight/daylight report and alteration to the position and the design of doors 
and windows, along with the reduction in the size of terraced areas and a bat survey.   
 

8.3 At the time of writing this report 60 responses have been received from the public with 
regard to the application. Members will be updated at committee of any additional 
responses received. The issues raised are summarised as follows (with officer comments in 
brackets): 
 

 Loss of daylight (10.35) 

 No public benefit (10.7; 10.59-10.60) 

 Loss of property value for residents (10.68)   

 The buildings current height is not in harmony with the surroundings (10.15) 

 Disruption as a result of works including noise (10.43-10.44) 

 Use of crane and scaffolding will hinder daily lives (10.44) 

 Poor lift maintenance (10.57) 

 Overlooking and loss of privacy (10.41-10.42) 

 Contrary to Human Rights (10.70) 

 Overdevelopment of the site (10.3; 10.17) 

 The gardens to Orchard development will be overshadowed (10.72) 

 Loss of natural light to communal areas by losing skylights (10.31) 

 Loss of existing green roof (10.64) 

 Bat activity in Orchard Place (10.66) 

 Loss of sunlight (10.39) 

 Increase in sense of enclosure (10.40) 

 Piecemeal development or ‘creep’ development (10.69) 

 Take into account other recent permission and changes (10.69) 

 Congestion to existing highway (10.44 & 10.61) 

Page 120



 If permission granted a number of certain agreements should be obtained, no 
Saturday working, strict security, a developer community liaison, a pre-build 
meeting, no storage of building materials (10.43-10.44) 

 S106 should go to improvements to Pear Tree Street (10.59-10.60) 

 Submission of application over the Christmas period (8.2) 

 Uncovered proposed common parts (10.57) 

 Not notified about the proposal (8.2) 

 Safety of residents during construction (10.43-10.44) 

 Nursey at ground floor level will be adversely impacted (10.34)  

 Notification process not properly followed (8.2) 

 No social housing provided (10.59) 

 Planning application fails to show any noise mitigation (10.44) 

 Existing refuse not large enough to take rubbish (10.58) 

 Structural implications on the existing building (10.71) 

 Limit ability to install solar panels on the roof (10.64) 

 Poor air quality (10.44) 

 Shadowing of the square (10.72) 
 
External Consultees 

 
8.4 None 

 
Internal Consultees  

 
8.5 Design and Conservation Officer: The proposed roof additions to the existing buildings 

may be considered acceptable in principle if it can be demonstrated that they will not be 
visible from the street. As currently proposed it appears that both the roof extensions and 
balustrades associated with the proposed roof terraces will be visible from the street, 
resulting in a cluttered and disjointed appearance that does not relate well to the buildings 
below. If the roof extensions were reduced in height as far as possible and set back further 
so as to reduce the visual impact, they may be considered acceptable. Terraces should 
only be provided where they are not visible from public spaces due to the increased 
perceived bulk created by clutter associated with use of the terrace i.e. planting, furniture 
etc. It may also assist in reducing the impact of the roof extensions if they are darker in 
colour. Recommends the refusal of this application.  
 

8.6 Energy Officer: Since this is over 100m from the Bunhill network and not required to 
assess connection. Policy DM7.3A requires minor new-build developments should be 
designed to be able to connect wherever reasonably possible.  As this is an extension to an 
existing building, envisage the best approach would via be connection to the heating / hot 
water systems in the existing building, if feasible.  

 
8.7 Access Officer: Approve subject to condition relating to Category 2 Homes.  

 
8.8 Planning Policy Officer: No objection   
 
8.9 Waste Officer: No comments at the time of writing.  

 
8.10 Public Protection Officer: The new development is proposed on top of existing residential 

and the potential disruption that construction will cause for the residential and office 
occupiers below.  Access to the roof will be difficult via the existing lift or crane onto the roof 
and quiet periods/delivery times will have to be arranged in liaison with the existing 
occupiers. If the application is recommended favourably a condition is advised.  
 

8.11 Building Control: As the proposal would result in a residential floor above 18m the 
proposal should comply with B3 (Internal fire spread (structure)), B4 (External fire spread) 
and B5 Access and facilities for the fire service of the Building Regulation 2010.   

Page 121



 
9 RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This report 
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

 
National Guidance 

  
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way 

that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future 
generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part 
of the assessment of these proposals.  

 
9.2 Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published online. 

9.3 On 1 October 2015 a new National Standard for Housing Design was introduced, as an 
enhancement of Part M of the Building Regulations, which will be enforced by Building 
Control or an Approved Inspector. This was brought in via 

 Written Ministerial Statement issued 25th March 2015 

 Deregulation Bill (amendments to Building Act 1984) – to enable ‘optional 
requirements’ 

 Deregulation Bill received Royal Assent 26th March 2015 
 

Development Plan   
 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013.  The policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this 
application and are listed at Appendix 1 to this report. 

 
Designations 

 
9.3 The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2016, Islington Core 

Strategy 2011 and Development Management Policies 2013. 
 

Whitehall Park Conservation Area 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 
 
9.4 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10 ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Land Use 

 Design, appearance and impacts on the Conservation Area 

 Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents 

 Residential Mix  

 Quality of Accommodation 

 Accessibility 

 Small Site Housing Contributions and Carbon Offsetting  

 Highways  

 Sustainability  

 Community Infrastructure Levy 

 Other Matters 
 

Page 122



 
Land Use 
 

10.2 Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that housing applications should be considered in the 
context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Local planning authorities 
should normally approve applications for residential development, provided that there are 
not strong economic reasons why such development would be inappropriate. 

 
10.3 Core Strategy Policy CS12 ‘Meeting the housing challenge’ seeks to ensure that the 

Borough has a continuous supply of housing to meet London Plan targets.  London Plan 
Policy 3.4 (and table 3.2) seeks to maximise the supply of additional homes in line with the 
London Plan's guidelines on density, having regard to the site's characteristics in terms of 
urban design, local services and public transport, and neighbour amenity.   
 

10.4 The application site is located within the Central Activities Zone and the Bunhill and 
Clerkenwell key area as identified by the Core Strategy. The diagram supporting policy CS7 
of the Core Strategy identifies the site within a mixed use development area. Part D of 
policy CS7 the policy states that housing growth will be sought across the area with a wide 
range of dwelling types, affordable tenures and family sized homes.   
 

10.5 The Finsbury Local Plan recognises this part of Islington has experienced significant 
change in recent years. The area’s residential population, in particular, has undergone 
considerable expansion. The previous development of the site was largely residential led. 
The development for residential is conducive to the surrounding area and is considered to 
bring economic and social benefits by delivering a new accommodation in an accessible 
and sustainable location and would be of a size for which there is a need. 

 
10.6 It is therefore the case that there is a policy presumption in favour of the delivery of new 

housing, and the site is considered to be a sustainable location for new housing.   
 

10.7 The scheme would deliver 3 residential units which would contribute towards the Borough’s 
targets.  Subject to compliance with other policies, the introduction of these residential units 
is supported in principle.   
 
Design and Conservation  
 

10.8 The current block form is articulated into four components comprising two large and small 
blocks. The two large blocks are 6 storeys (20m in height) and both have a raised 6th floor 
height which emphasise their prominent position and highlight both a significant corner 
(Pear Tree Street/Public Square) and the neighbouring 7 storey housing block to the north. 
The block that links the two large blocks along the public square drops to five storeys with a 
set-back sixth storey which emphasises the scale of the two larger blocks. The current 
block fronts the public space and Pear Tree Street. 
 

10.9 The proposed development would principally comprise the addition of a single storey 
extension with two distinct parts linked via a common walkway. The plan accommodates 2 
no. two-bed flats in a single volume to the south of the extended core and 1 no. two-bed flat to 
the north. All facades would incorporate operable glazed partitions opening out onto private 
terraces. External walls are proposed to be render clad and painted white. 
 

10.10 Policy CS8 of Islington’s Core Strategy set the general principles to be followed by new 
development in the Borough. In terms of design the key, relevant policy from the council’s 
policy is Policy DM2.1 of the adopted 2013 Development Management Policies. Policy 
DM2.1 sets out a series of criteria that should be applied to new development. It 
emphasises the need for design to be of high quality that makes a positive contribution to 
an area’s local character and distinctiveness. 
 

Page 123



10.11 In particular, the Islington Urban Design Guide (UDG) advises there is usually more scope 
for change in the roofline and facades within streets where there are a variety of frontages  
and building heights. The UDG also advises, outside conservation areas, there is more 
scope to introduce roof extensions. The proposed roof additions would rise approximately 
3.6m above the existing parapet and be set back a 2.5m from the majority of the edge of 
the existing building with the presence of balustrades and rooftop terraces. The uncovered 
walkway enables the mass and bulk of the building to be mitigated.  

 
10.12 Pear Tree Street is relatively narrow and enclosed by the surrounding built forms.  

However, there is a kink in the road where the application site can be appreciated from 
public views which is aided by the presence of a public space. This affords the site a 
greater visual presence than other buildings in the vicinity.  There are also views of the 
subject building from Seward Street.  
 

10.13 The height existing building drops along Pear Tree Street which was designed to reflect the 
building heights on the south side of the street, comprising 4 four storeys with a setback 
fifth storey. This part of the roof would remain unaltered.  
 

10.14 The proposed development would involve change at roof top to three of the four ‘blocks’ 
which front onto the public space and Pear Tree Street. The proposed roof additions are 
modestly set back from the buildings parapet and this is considered to reduce the overall 
visual impact of the proposal. 
 

10.15 The prevailing building heights in the area are between 3 and 6 six storeys. However, of 
particular note, within this context is 194-262 Dance Square, which rises between 7-10 
storeys. Immediately opposite to the south of the site, are Finsbury and Heyworth Halls of 
Residence which totals 6 storeys in height. There has also been recent approval and built 
out scheme for a roof addition at 31-41 Pear Tree Street at fourth floor level and Worcester 
Point at 7th floor level. Within the street scene of Pear Tree Street and Dance Square the 
proposal of a setback 6th floor, from ground level upwards would not appear incongruous 
given the general scale of surrounding development.  In this context, the proposed roof 
additions at the subject application site would appear no more visually overbearing or 
incongruous. The proposed roof form, finish and set back position is not considered to be 
visually jarring given similar treatments in the locality.  

 
10.16 In addition, paragraph 132 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that when 

considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. It is acknowledged 
that the site is adjacent to a conservation area. Views in and out of a conservation area are 
a material consideration. However, based on the reasons stated above and the general 
acceptability of the design there is considered to be no material harm to the character and 
appearance of the Hat and Feathers Conservation Area.  
 

10.17 Whilst it would appear modestly taller it is not considered the height differentials in terms of 
overall height and corresponding individual storey heights to be significantly inconsistent or 
visually discordant.  Consequently, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the 
Islington Core Strategy 2011 Policies CS8 and CS9; Islington Development Management 
Policies 2013 (DMP) Policy DM2.1 and Policy DM2.3; London Plan, 2015, Policy 7.6 and 
the Council’s Urban Design Guide 2017. In combination, these policies seek to protect the 
character and appearance of the public realm. 

 
Neighbouring Amenity 

 
10.18 The council’s planning policies seek to ensure that new development does not harm the 

amenity of adjacent residents, either from loss of daylight, sunlight, privacy and overlooking, 
perceived sense of enclosure or noise. 
 

Page 124



10.19 London Plan Policy 7.6 requires buildings and structures not to cause unacceptable harm to 
the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation 
to privacy and overshadowing, in particular. DMP Policy 2.1 requires development to 
provide a good level of amenity including consideration of overshadowing, overlooking, 
privacy, sunlight and daylight, over-dominance, sense of enclosure and outlook. One of the 
core principles is to always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and 
future occupants of land and buildings. 
 

10.20 Daylight and Sunlight: The application has been submitted with a sunlight and daylight 
assessment. The assessment is carried out with reference to the 2011 Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) guidelines which are accepted as the relevant guidance. The 
supporting text to policy DM2.1 identifies that the BRE ‘provides guidance on sunlight layout 
planning to achieve good sun lighting and day lighting’. 
 

10.21 Daylight: the BRE Guidelines stipulate that there should be no real noticeable loss of 
daylight provided that either: 

 
The Vertical Sky Component (VSC) as measured at the centre point of a window is greater 
than 27%; or the VSC is not reduced by greater than 20% of its original value. (Skylight); 

 
And 

 
The daylight distribution, as measured by the No Sky Line (NSL) test where the percentage 
of floor area receiving light is measured, is not reduced by greater than 20% of its original 
value. 

 
10.22 A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment was submitted in support of the application and an 

updated report has been submitted dated March 2017 to show the potential impact to the 
west and south facing windows at first, second, third and fourth floor level to 194-262 
Dance Square and 13-18 Dance Square. If the obstruction angle is less than 25 degrees to 
the horizontal, a new development is unlikely to have a significant effect on daylight. The 
student halls of residence to the south of Pear Tree Street and the western facing windows 
to 116 to 139 Pear Street have also been tested. 
 

10.23 There are a number of properties with inset balconies to the east and north of the 
application sites that may potentially be affected. Where proposed VSC values are less 
than 27%, adverse effect may only occur if proposed VSC is not less than 27% but also 
less than 0.8 its former value. The BRE Guidelines recognise that balconies and projecting 
access ways can restrict daylight to rooms. This is a factor that needs to be considered in 
the assessment of the proposals to those south and west facing windows.   

 
10.24 Whilst the BRE guidance (at paragraph 2.2.11) suggests that overhangs could be 

disregarded in order to ascertain whether it is the presence of the overhang (rather than the 
proposal) that is the main cause of a loss of daylight, the BRE guidance does not state that 
this must be done in all analyses. The overhangs of south and west facing balconies within 
Dance Square will remain in place, and these neighbouring residents would have to live 
with the post-development results. The most relevant results are those ‘with the balconies 
in place’.  
 

10.25 The following paragraphs and tables summarise and comment on the results from the 
submitted daylight/sunlight report.  
 

Page 125



 
 
Figure 1: Perspective view of existing neighbouring properties.   

 

 
 
Figure 2: Perspective view of existing neighbouring properties 
 

Page 126



 
 

  Vertical Sky Component No skyline (daylight distribution) 

Room / 
Window 

Room 
Use 

Existing 
VSC  

Proposed 
VSC (%) 

VSC 
reduction 
(%) 

Whole 
room 
m² 

Previous 
m² 

Proposed 
m² 

NSL 
reduction 
(%) 

1
st
 Floor R4/ 

W4 
LKD 2.02 1.36 0.67         

1
st
 Floor R5/ 

W5 
LKD 1.47 1.2 0.69         

1
st
 Floor R7/ 

W7 
LKD 0.56 0.27 0.48 20.79 2.12 1.5 0.71 

1
st
 Floor R8 / 

W8 
LKD 0.66 0.42 0.64         

1
st
 Floor R9 / 

W9 
LKD 0.56 0.39 0.7         

1
st
 Floor R12 / 

W12 
Bedroom 0.13 0.1 0.77         

2
nd

 Floor R5 / 
W5 

LKD 3.85 2.81 0.73         

2
nd

 Floor R6 / 
W6 

LKD 3.28 2.38 0.73         

2
nd

 Floor R8 / 
W8 

LKD 1.35 0.82 0.61         

2
nd

 Floor R9 / 
W9 

LKD 1.52 1.08 0.71 20.79 5.39 4.68 0.76 

2
nd

 Floor R10 / 
W10 

LKD 1.31 0.99 0.76         

2
nd

 Floor R13 / 
W13 

Bedroom 0.81 0.29 0.69         

3
rd

 Floor R5 / 
W5 

LKD 7.22 5.5 0.76 20.97 10.69 7.77 0.73 

3
rd

 Floor R6 / 
W6 

LKD 6.41 4.79 0.75 16.48 10.9 7.63 0.7 

3
rd

 Floor R8 / 
W8 

LKD 4.95 3.74 0.76 20.79 8.2 6.35 0.77 

3
rd

 Floor R9 / 
W9 

LKD       16.48 8.85 7.31 0.79 

4
th
 Floor R5/ 

W5 
Bedroom       20.97 20.2 10.7 0.53 

4
th
 Floor R6/ 

W6 
Bedroom 9.75 7.71 0.79 16.48 16.42 10.82 0.66 

Table 1: Windows to 194-262 Dance Square that fail VSC and Daylight Distribution Tests. 

Page 127



 
10.26 194-262 Dance Square: The Daylight and Sunlight report indicates failures to the west 

facing habitable rooms in relation to VSC windows within 194-262 Dance Square. These 
properties have a particular sensitive relation to the site, being located directly opposite. At 
first floor level there are fails to 5 windows (W4, W5, W7, W8, W9 and W12). The worst 
affected window is W7 which shows a reduction in 52% of its former value. At second floor 
level windows W5, W6, W8, W9, W10 and W13 fail VSC. At third floor, windows W5, W6 
and W8 fail VSC and at Fourth Floor level window W6 also fails. 
 

10.27 Difference values of 0.7 to 0.79 indicate that reductions in daylight would be noticed, 
however such reductions of between 20% to 30% are generally considered to be a lesser or 
minor infringement in dense urban areas such as this. The BRE guidance does 
acknowledge that its guidance should be applied flexibly in central locations. This is a 
central location, in a densely populated area of the borough. A higher degree of obstruction 
may also be unavoidable if new developments are to match the height and proportions of 
existing buildings. The majority of the windows that fail the VSC test fall between or just 
below the above stated numerical range and their starting VSC percentage, as existing, to a 
number of windows is relatively low. 

 
10.28 A similar test, in relation to daylight is daylight distribution.  The BRE Guide explains that 

the daylight distribution of a neighbouring property may be adversely affected if, after the 
development, the area of the working plane which receives direct skylight is reduced to less 
than 0.8 times its former value.  
 

10.29 Window W7 fails at first floor level, W8 at second floor and windows W5, W6, W8 W9 at 
third floor and W5 and W6 at fourth floor. At fourth floor level, windows W5 and W6 fail the 
daylight distribution test. However, these are identified by the applicants as bedrooms and 
therefore the loss of daylight to these rooms is less important.  

 
10.30 1 Pear Tree Street: The rectangular building to the west of the application site, has 

habitable windows which face north and eastwards. These windows are considered to 
serve living rooms at second, third and fourth floor levels. The Daylight and Sunlight report 
shows no adverse impact in relation to loss of light or sunlight to these particular windows.  
 

10.31 The Orchard Building: The loss of light to communal areas by the removal of roof lights, 
within The Orchard Building itself, is not given the same importance as light to habitable 
rooms. Therefore, little weight is given to the loss of light to the top floor of The Orchard 
Building. 
 

10.32 13-28 Dance Square: The properties with balconies facing south to 13-28 Dance Square 
will continue to have an uninterrupted view due south. Therefore, in section these windows 
not be obstructed and would be considered to retain sufficient daylight and sunlight.  

 
10.33 City University Student Accommodation: The applicants Daylight Sunlight Report measures 

the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) to the north facing rooms the student accommodation. 
This accommodation is for students during their time at university. Individual students would 
occupy the accommodation for less than a year and the main function would be for sleeping 
and studying. It is not permanent living accommodation. As such it is considered 
inappropriate to strictly apply the BRE guidance. The impact of the development on 
adjoining properties in terms of demonstrable harm to daylight is not considered adverse. 
 

10.34 Concerns have been raised to the loss of light to a ground floor nursey. The BRE Guide 
does not protect commercial space in the same way as residential. Any loss of light to a 
commercial premises is not considered reason to justify refusal in this instance 
 

10.35 Summary: overall, in relation to the two tests, windows W8 at first floor level and W8 at 
second floor level fail both VSC and Daylight Distribution tests. These rooms serve 
living/kitchen/dining rooms.  In relation to Daylight Distribution these losses are considered 

Page 128



marginal with those in relation to VSC slightly worse at 36% and 39% their former value 
(failing outside the recommended range of 20%). However, based on the dense urban 
nature of the site, the loss of daylight as tested by VSC and Daylight Distribution to these 
windows is not considered, on balance, significant, as to justify refusal. 

 
10.36 Sunlight: the BRE Guidelines confirm that windows that do not enjoy an orientation within 

90 degrees of due south do not warrant assessment for sunlight losses. For those windows 
that do warrant assessment, it is considered that there would be no real noticeable loss of 
sunlight where: 

 
In 1 year the centre point of the assessed window receives more than 1 quarter (25%) of 
annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), including at least 5% of Annual Winter Probable 
Sunlight Hours (WSPH) between 21 Sept and 21 March – being winter; and less than 0.8 of 
its former hours during either period.  
 
In cases where these requirements are breached there will still be no real noticeable loss of 
sunlight where the reduction in sunlight received over the whole year is no greater than 4% 
of annual probable sunlight hours.   

 
10.37 Where these guidelines are exceeded then sunlighting and/or daylighting may be adversely 

affected. The BRE Guidelines provide numerical guidelines, the document though 
emphasizes that advice given is not mandatory and the guide should not be seen as an 
instrument of planning policy, these (numerical guidelines) are to be interpreted flexibly 
since natural lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design. 

 
10.38 Residential dwellings at the following properties listed, detailed above (please refer to 

Figure 2) have been considered for the purposes of sunlight impacts as a result of the 
proposed development. The APSH test can also be used to check the impact of a 
development on the sunlight availability to neighbouring properties. The test should be 
applied to all main living rooms and conservatories which have a window which faces within 
90 degrees of due south.  
 

10.39 The results show both annual and winter probable sunlight hours.  Those most affected are 
located at the residential properties located at first floor level to Dance Square. The Daylight 
and Sunlight report acknowledges fails in winter sunlight to W5, W7 and W8. However, the 
existing values are considered low at 3% and 1% respectively. Any loss comparative to 
these existing values is considered marginal. The Daylight and Sunlight report shows no 
adverse in relation to annual probable sunlight hours. Overall there is considered to be no 
significant adverse impact on loss of sunlight to those properties.  

 
Outlook and Sense of Enclosure  
 

10.40 The proposed development would be located above a six storey existing building. It would 
be set a considerable distance from any adjoining residential occupier. Whilst the 
development would be appreciated from upper levels of nearby residential properties, 
based on the relative separation distances the proposal is not considered to have an 
adverse impact.   
 
Overlooking/Loss of Privacy  
 

10.41 The proposed roof extensions and external amenity space easterly, southern and western 
direction. The properties with a most sensitive relation to the application site is 192-262 
Dance Square and 13-28 Dance Square. There are similar balconies elsewhere in the 
vicinity, including Dance Square. These properties are located approximately 20m to the 
east of the proposed site. To protect privacy for residential developments and existing 
residential properties, there should be a minimum distance of 18 metres between windows 
of habitable rooms. This does not apply across the public highway; overlooking across a 
public highway does not constitute an unacceptable loss of privacy. As the distance are 

Page 129



over the minimum stated and across a square there is considered to be no adverse impact 
in terms of overlooking to those properties at 194-262 Dance Square. The area of roof 
terraces have been reduced in order to prevent any overlooking backwards, obliquely or 
otherwise into The Orchard building.   
 

10.42 The residential dwellings to the west of the application site are located over 20m away. As 
such there is considered to be no adverse impact on those properties identified. It is 
considered to attach a condition in relation to screening to ensure no overlooking to the 
properties located to the north of the site (1-12 & 13-28 Dance Square).  

 
Construction Work  
 

10.43 Policy DM3.7 of the Development Management Policies seeks to ensure all residential 
development proposals shall demonstrate how potential adverse noise impact on and 
between dwellings will be mitigated. The residential units at roof level are proposed to be 
constructed on a supporting structure elevated above the existing roof. Construction 
impacts of developments of this nature are not normally a material planning consideration. 
Noise and pollution from demolition and construction works is also subject to control under 
the Control of Pollution Act 1974, which states that any building works that can be heard at 
the boundary of the site may only be carried out between 0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday 
and 0800 to 1300 on Saturday and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays. 
 

10.44 The Environmental Protection Officer has raised concerns over the potential disruption that 
construction may cause for the residential and office occupiers below. The Environmental 
Officer has stated access to the roof is considered to be difficult via the existing lift or 
potential use of crane onto the roof and quiet periods/delivery times will have to be 
arranged in liaison with the existing occupiers. Based on the dense nature of the site and 
the concerns raised by neighbouring occupiers and the Environmental Protection Officer, it 
is therefore recommended to attach a condition in the form of a Construction Management 
Plan to ensure no adverse harm to the neighbouring occupiers amenity. The Environmental 
Protection Officer has not raised concern regarding the air quality in the vicinity of the site 
and there is not information to suggest additional residential units would comprise the 
existing air quality of neighbouring or the proposed units themselves.  
 
Summary  
 

10.45 The development of a new dwelling would result in a material intensification of the use of 
the site. Nonetheless, given the predominant character of the surrounding area and the 
overall extent of existing residential development nearby, it is considered that the 
development of the site for three new dwelling in this location would be relatively limited in 
its impact on neighbouring living conditions.   
 

10.46 For these reasons, it is considered that the proposed development would not significantly 
harm the living conditions of the occupiers of No 158.  Accordingly, it does not conflict with 
Policies CS8 and CS9 of Islington’s Core Strategy and Policy DM2.1 of Islington’s Local 
Plan: Development Management Policies insofar as they aim to safeguard residential 
amenity.  The scheme would also adhere to a core principle of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, which is to always ensure a good standard of amenity for all occupants of land 
and buildings. 
 
Residential Mix 
 

10.47 Planning policy and guidance requires a range of unit sizes to be provided on all new 
developments in order to meet specific housing demand and to help foster stable and 
balanced communities. Policies within the London Plan, in particular Policy 3.9, stress that 
communities ‘mixed and balanced by tenure and household income’ should be promoted 
across London’.  
 

Page 130



10.48 Policy DM3.1 (Mix of housing sizes) of the Islington Development Management Policies 
(2013) seeks to secure a good mix of housing sizes on all sites. The proposal consists of 3 
x 2 bedroom flats. The proportion of 2 bed units is considered to provide an acceptable 
range of unit sizes in line with Policy DM3.1.   
 
Quality of Accommodation 
 

10.49 In terms of new residential development, as well as having concern for the external quality 
in design terms it is vital that new units are of the highest quality internally, being, amongst 
other things of sufficient size, functional, accessible, private, offering sufficient storage 
space and also be dual aspect. London Plan (2016) policy 3.5 requires that housing 
developments should be of the highest quality internally, externally and in relation to their 
context and the wider environment. Table 3.3 of the London Plan prescribes the minimum 
space standards for new housing, which is taken directly from the London Housing Design 
Guide space standards. Islington's Development Management policy DM3.4 also accords 
with these requirements, with additional requirements for storage space. 
 

10.50 A new nationally described space standard (NDSS) was introduced on 25 March 2015 
through a written ministerial statement as part of the New National Technical Housing 
Standards.  These new standards came into effect on 1 October 2015 which post-dates the 
determination of the application by the Council.  From this date Councils are expected to 
refer to the NDSS in justifying decisions.  
 

10.51 Policy DM3.4 of the Islington’s Local Plan: Development Management Policies (adopted 
June 2013) sets the context for housing standards for new development.  Table 3.2, which 
supports this Policy gives the minimum gross internal areas (GIA) that new residential 
developments would be expected to achieve.  For 2 bed, 4 person flat the table states that 
a GIA of 70SqM. The proposed floor area of the three flats are 73.4SqM, 78.8Sqm and 
86.2Sqm. The proposal would exceed the floor area required by the above prescribed 
standards in the NDSS and Development Management Policies. The internal layouts of the 
proposed residential unit are considered to be of a functional and satisfactory unit sizes. 
The units are dual aspect with good outlook and natural ventilation. The proposed units 
would also comply with the DM3.4C, exceeding the internal head height of 2.6m.  
 

10.52 The Development Management policy DM3.5 requires the provision of 5 square metres 
plus 1 SqM per person, of good quality private outdoor space at upper levels. The proposed 
development would consist of private terraces which would exceed the amount of private 
space required under policy DM3.5.  
 

10.53 The proposed units would ‘oversail’ the current roof. The Environmental Protection Officer 
has not raised concerns regarding the potential for noise between the proposed units and 
those existing. Based on the above there is considered no reason that those existing 
properties would be adversely impact from noise being transferred.  
 

10.54 For the above reasons it is concluded that the proposed dwelling provide acceptable living 
conditions for future occupants in terms of the standard of accommodation and amenity 
space and complies with Policy 3.5 of the London Plan 2015, Policies CS8 and CS9 of the 
Islington Core Strategy 2011 and Policies DM2.1, DM3.4 and DM3.5 of the Islington 
Development Management and the National Space Standard, 2015.  
 
Accessibility  
 

10.55 As a result of the change introduced by the Deregulation Bill (Royal Ascent 26th March 
2015) Islington is no longer able to insist that developers meet its own SPD standards for 
accessible housing, therefore we can no longer apply our flexible housing standards nor 
wheelchair housing standards. The London Plan Housing SPG states, all dwellings entered 
at the seventh floor (eighth storey) and above should be served by at least two lifts. The 

Page 131



proposal would be served by a single lift offering level access and therefore is considered 
compliant in this regard.   
 

10.56 The new National Standard is broken down into 3 categories; Category 2 is similar but not 
the same as the Lifetime Homes standard and Category 3 is similar to our present 
wheelchair accessible housing standard. Planning must check compliance and condition 
the requirements, if they are not conditioned, Building Control will only enforce the basic 
Category 1 standards. The applicant has stated that access to all three new units has been 
designed and will be built to comply with Part M4(1) of current Building Regulations. Conflicting 
information has also been supplied which states the units will comply with Lifetime Homes 
Standards which exceed the requirements of Category 2.   
 

10.57 The London Housing SPG requires all entrances to ground floor flats should be visible, 
identifiable and accessible from the public realm. The existing common entrance would 
remain unaltered. The new dwellings have level access via a lift and it is acknowledged the 
common parts are uncovered. A condition is recommended to ensure the new dwellings 
internal arrangements comply with Category 2. 
 
Refuse  
 

10.58 The proposal intends to use the existing waste and recycling facilities within the building. 
This accounts for 6 110 litre bins. It is stated the existing store has spare capacity for new 
bin units. Details of these have not been provided in conjunction with the application. It is 
therefore considered appropriate that these details be submitted and reserved by condition. 
 
Affordable Housing and Carbon Offsetting 
 

10.59 The Affordable Housing Small Site Contributions document was adopted on the 18th 
October 2012. This document provides information about the requirements for financial 
contributions from minor residential planning applications (below 10 units) towards the 
provision of affordable housing in Islington. As per the Core Strategy policy CS12, part G 
and the Affordable Housing Small Sites Contributions SPD the requirement for financial 
contributions towards affordable housing relates to residential schemes proposing between 
1 – 9 units which do not provide social rented housing on site. Schemes below this 
threshold will be required to provide a financial contribution towards affordable housing 
elsewhere. The reasons for this approach are explained in the supporting text and in the 
Affordable Housing Small Site Contributions SPD which refers in turn to relevant aspects of 
policy found in the London Plan (2016). The SPD sets out a tested viability requirement for 
a contribution of £60,000 per new dwelling (£180,000 in total).  
 

10.60 The council adopted the Environmental Design Planning Guidance Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) on 25 October 2012. This document is supplementary to 
Islington's Core Strategy policy CS10 Part A, which requires minor new-build developments 
of one residential unit or more to offset all regulated CO2 emissions not dealt with by onsite 
measures through a financial contribution. The cost of the off-set contribution is a flat fee 
based on the development type as follows: Houses (£1,000 per flat). Both small site 
housing contributions and carbon offsetting have been secured via a Unilateral Undertaking 
and the scheme is considered compliant in this regard.  
 
Highways 
 

10.61 Islington policy identifies that all new development shall be car free. Car free development 
means no parking provision will be allowed on site and occupiers will have no ability to 
obtain car parking permits, except for parking needed to meet the needs of disabled people. 
This has been secured via condition and legal agreement.  
 

10.62 The provision of secure, sheltered and appropriately located cycle parking facilities 
(residents) will be expected in accordance with Transport for London’s guidance: ‘Cycle 

Page 132



Parking Standards – TfL Proposed Guidelines’. Subject to there being sufficient capacity, 
the secure and integrated location of the proposed cycle storage is required. Policy DM8.4 
of the Development Management Policies supports sustainable methods of transport and 
requires the provision of 1 cycle space per bedroom. No cycle spaces have been indicated 
in the proposed submission. It is stated secure cycle storage facilities are available within the 

existing building, ‘The Orchard’. It is therefore recommended this detail be conditioned to 
ensure compliance with DM8.4. 
 
Sustainability   
 

10.63 Policy DM7.3 requires minor new-build developments located within 100metres will be 
required to connect to that network including provision of the means to connect to that 
network. The application is beyond 100m from the nearest potential pipework connection. 
Also the development is an extension to an existing building. The development is not 
considered of scope of scale for the new units to be required to connect.  
 

10.64 Policy DM7.2 requires minor developments to achieve best practice energy efficiency 
standards, in terms of design and specification. It is acknowledged there are no solar panel 
proposed as part of the development. The applicant has stated passive design features 
offer a simple way of increasing sustainability. In order to ensure the appropriate level of 
control a condition is recommended to ensure these sustainable targets are met in relation 
to carbon reduction and water efficiency.  Water efficiency standard of 110L/p/day is also 
required as required by Core Strategy Policy (CS10). Policy DM6.5 states that 
developments should maximise the provision of green roofs and the greening of vertical 
surfaces as far as reasonably possible, and where this can be achieved in a sustainable 
manner, without excessive water demand. New-build developments should use all available 
roof space for green roofs, subject to other planning considerations. The proposal 
development would sit above the existing biodiversity roof. This is therefore likely to impact 
is function without direct access to daylight or rain. In accordance with ICS policy CS10 a 
condition is recommended to ensure acceptable replacement of the green/brown roof by to 
the roof of the proposed development.    
 

10.65 In accordance with the Council’s Zero Carbon Policy, the council’s Environmental Design 
SPD states “after minimising CO2 emissions onsite, developments are required to offset all 
remaining CO2 emissions (Policy CS10) through a financial contribution”. The 
Environmental Design SPD states “The calculation of the amount of CO2 to be offset, and 
the resulting financial contribution, shall be specified in the submitted Energy Statement.” A 
carbon offset contribution of £3,000 would be required, based on the three new-build flats, 
in accordance with the Environmental Design SPD. 
 

10.66 There are existing bat boxes on the roof. Bats and their roosts are fully protected by the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (as amended). The legislation affords all bat species European 
Protected Species (EPS) status. The external structures and cladding were inspected from 
roof and ground level and no evidence of bats were found. The Tree Service have also 
provided comment stating no evidence of bats have been seen when inspecting the nearby 
trees. Overall, subject to attached conditions and legal agreement the proposal offers a 
sustainable form of development.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

10.67 This will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor’s adopted Community Infrastructure 
Levy Charging Schedule 2012 and the Islington adopted Community Infrastructure Levy 
Charging Schedule 2014. The payments would be chargeable on implementation of the 
private housing.  
 
 
 

Page 133



Other Matters 
 

10.68 An objection has been received regarding stagnating or loss in property value. The value of 
property is not a material consideration in this regard and therefore carries no weight in the 
assessment of the application.    
 

10.69 Whilst it is acknowledged that there a number of extant permission and building works 
within the vicinity if the site, it is well known within planning that each application must be 
considered on its own merits. Any granting of permission in this particular instance is not 
considered to individually or cumulatively prejudice other developments or neighbouring 
occupiers.  
 

10.70 Overall, the development is considered to be in accordance with planning policies.  
Furthermore, whilst it is acknowledged that residents would experience change to their 
surroundings, it is considered there would be no undue harm to their living conditions. 
Accordingly, the degree of interference that would be caused would be insufficient to give 
rise to a violation of rights under Article 1 or Article 8 of the Human Rights Act.  
 

10.71 The structural implication of the proposed roof extensions to the existing building are not a 
material planning consideration in the assessment of an application of this nature. As such 
little weight is afforded to this issue.  
 

10.72 Overshadowing information has not been submitted in relation to the application. However, 
in relation to the square, it is already largely enclosed on three sides. The proposed roof 
addition would be set back 2.5m and rise 3.6m. The proposal is not considered to 
significantly enclose or overshadow the existing square based on the existing relative 
height of the surrounding buildings. It is acknowledged there may be some overshadowing 
to the open courtyard to Seward Street, however this area contains a number of large trees 
with large canopies which shadow the area. The proposed roof additions are not 
considered to significantly cause adverse overshadowing to either the square or the open 
courtyard to the north west of the application site.  
 

10.73 Fire safety can be a material consideration but the planning authority is entitled to assume 
that the building regime would be correctly and properly applied.  

 
11 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION  
 

Summary 
 
11.1 The principle of the development and providing roof extensions, comprising three flats to a 

residential building is considered acceptable in land use terms. The proposal would result in 
new residential units.  
 

11.2 The additional, set back storey and balustrade would be noticeable in visual and 
streetscape terms. The proposed roof additions are set back from the buildings parapet and 
this is considered to reduce the overall visual impact of the proposal. Overall, the proposed 
extensions are considered to be appropriate in townscape terms and accord with Policy 
DM2.1 of Islington’s Development Management Policies, Policy CS9 of Islington’s Core 
Strategy 2011 as well as guidance in the Council’s Urban Design Guide 2017 (SPD).  
Collectively these seek to ensure that development respects and responds positively to 
existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider context. 
 

11.3 It is acknowledged there would be some impact to the sunlight and daylight to occupiers of 
at Dance Square. However, on balance, overall the proposal would not result in 
unacceptable loss of daylight or sunlight to these occupiers of the adjoining residential 
properties, in particular 194-292 Dance Square. The proposal would not cause an 
unacceptable increase in enclosure levels, loss of outlook nor have a detrimental impact 

Page 134



upon their amenity levels taken as a whole. Subject to condition there would be no adverse 
impact on adjoining occupiers living conditions in terms of noise, vibration or air quality. 
 

11.4 The proposed residential units would provide acceptable standard of accommodation with 
all units achieving minimum internal floorspace standards, dual aspect, and meet the 
required private amenity space standards. A condition is attached to ensure the proposal 
would achieve Category 2 Homes in relation to Building. 
 

11.5 Water usage is limited and carbon emissions reduced via condition. There is the provision 
of a green roof. In addition, Small Sites Affordable Housing (£180,000) and Carbon 
Offsetting (£3,000) contributions would be secured by way of a Unilateral Agreement. 
 

11.6 In accordance with the above assessment, it is considered that the proposed development 
is consistent with the policies of the London Plan, the Islington Core Strategy, the Islington 
Development Plan and associated Supplementary Planning Documents and should be 
approved accordingly. 
 
Conclusion 
 

11.7 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and S106 
legal agreement heads of terms for the reasons and details as set out in Appendix 1 – 
Recommendations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
RECOMMENDATION A 

 
That planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a Deed of Planning 
Obligation made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between 
the Council and all persons with an interest in the land (including mortgagees) in order to 
secure the following planning obligations to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public 
Services and the Service Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – 
Development Management or, in their absence, the Deputy Head of Service:  
 
a) A financial contribution of £180,000 towards the provision of off-site affordable housing.  
b) A financial contribution of £3,000 towards CO2 off setting. 
c) Car free development 

 
 RECOMMENDATION B 
 

That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the 
following:  

 

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5). 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans:  
 
PL-001; PL-100; PL-101 Revision D; PL02 Revision B; PL302 Revision C; PL-
300 Revision C; PL-301 Revision C; PL-303 Revision C; Construction 
Management Statement; Daylight and Sunlight Report to Neighbouring 
Properties dated March 2017.  
  
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1) (a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 
as amended and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and 
in the interest of proper planning. 
 

3 Materials 

 CONDITION:   Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any 
superstructure work commencing on site. The details and samples shall 
include: 
a) render (including colour, texture and method of application); 
b) window treatment (including sections and reveals); 
c) roofing materials; 
d) lift overrun;  

and 
e) any other materials to be used. 
 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so 
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

Page 136



 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure 
that the resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high 
standard. 
 

4 Bin and Cycle Storage  

 CONDITION: Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, no 
occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted shall take place until detailed 
drawings of the bin and bicycle store to serve the residential properties have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and 
these facilities have been provided and made available for use in accordance 
with the details as approved.  
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development. 
 

5 Construction Management Plan 

 CONDITION: A Construction Environmental Management Plan assessing the 
environmental impacts (including (but not limited to) noise & vibration and air 
quality including dust, smoke and odour) of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any works 
commencing on site.  The report shall assess impacts during the construction 
phase of the development on nearby residents and other occupiers together 
with means of mitigating any identified impacts.  The development shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and no change 
therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: In order to protect the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers.  
 

6 Carbon and water efficiency  

 CONDITION: The dwellings hereby permitted shall be constructed to achieve a 
19% reduction in regulated CO2 emissions, compared to compliance with the 
Building Regulations 2013, and a water efficiency target of 110 l/p/d. No 
occupation of the dwellings shall take place until details of how these measures 
have been achieved.  
 
REASON:  In the interest of securing sustainable development. 
 

7 Access 

 CONDTION: All residential units shall be constructed to Category 2 of the 
National Standard for Housing Design as set out in the Approved Document M 
2015 ‘Accessible and adaptable dwellings’ M4 (2).  
  
Evidence, confirming that the appointed Building Control body has assessed 
and confirmed that these requirements will be achieved shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the LPA prior to any superstructure works beginning 
on site.    
  
The development shall be constructed strictly in accordance with the details so 
approved.   
  
REASON: To secure the provision of visitable and adaptable homes 
appropriate to meet diverse and changing needs.  
 

9 Green/Brown Roof 

 CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans and details hereby approved, the roof 
shall be planted with a biodiversity (green/brown) roof.  This shall be 
biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80-150mm); 

Page 137



planted/seeded with a mix of species within the first planting season following 
the practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be focussed 
on wildflower planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of 25% 
sedum). 
 
REASON: in the interests of sustainable design.  
 

10 Screening 

 CONDITION: Notwithstanding the approved drawings details of screening to 
the northern elevation of Unit 6.03, as shown on drawing PL-101 Revision D 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by approved prior to 
commencement of the development.   
 
REASON: In order to protect the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers.  
 

11 Car Free Development  

 CONDITION: All future occupiers of the additional residential units, hereby 
approved shall not be eligible to obtain an on street residents parking permit 
except:  
i) In the case of disabled persons;  
ii) In the case of the resident who is an existing holder of a residents parking 
permit issued by the London Borough of Islington and has held the permit for a 
period of at least one year.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development remains car free.  
 

 
 

List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has 
produced policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the 
Council's website. A pre-application advice service is also offered and 
encouraged. Whilst no pre-application discussions were entered into, the policy 
advice and guidance available on the website was followed by the applicant. 
The applicant therefore worked in a proactive manner taking into consideration 
the policies and guidance available to them, and therefore the LPA delivered a 
positive decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF.  
 

2 Surface Water Drainage 

 It is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for drainage to 
ground, water course or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface water it is 
recommended that the applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated 
or regulated into the receiving public network through on or off site storage. 
When it is proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage 
should be separate and combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. 
Connections are not permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the 
developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames 
Water Developer Services will be required. They can be contacted on 0800 009 
3921.  

 

3 Signage 

 Please note that separate advertisement consent application may be required 
for the display of signage at the site.  
 
 

Page 138



4 Car-Free Development 

 INFORMATIVE: (Car-Free Development) All new developments are car free in 
accordance with Policy CS10 of the Islington Core Strategy 2011. This means 
that no parking provision will be allowed on site and occupiers will have no 
ability to obtain car parking permits, except for parking needed to meet the 
needs of disabled people.  
 

5 CIL 

 Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to 
pay the London Borough of Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
the Mayor of London's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). These charges will 
be calculated in accordance with the London Borough of Islington CIL Charging 
Schedule 2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule 2012. One of 
the development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by submitting an 
Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The Council 
will then issue a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL payable on 
commencement of the development.  
Further information and all CIL forms are available on the Planning Portal at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil 
and the Islington Council website at www.islington.gov.uk/cilinfo. Guidance on 
the Community Infrastructure Levy can be found on the National Planning 
Practice Guidance website at 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-
infrastructure-levy/.  

 
 
 

Page 139



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National and Regional Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that 
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. 
The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment 
of these proposals.   
 

 NPPF - Policy 12 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 

 Planning Practice Guide (2014) 
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  
The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  
 
2 London’s places 

Policy 2.9 Inner London  

 

3 London’s people 

Policy 3.3 Increasing housing supply  

Policy 3.4 Optimising housing potential  

Policy 3.5 Quality and design of housing 

developments  

Policy 3.8 Housing choice  

Policy 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities  

Policy 3.10 Definition of affordable housing  

Policy 3.11 Affordable housing targets  

Policy 3.12 Negotiating affordable housing on 

individual private residential  

and mixed use schemes 

 

5 London’s response to climate change 

Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation  

Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions  

Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction  

Policy 5.7 Renewable energy 

Policy 5.8 Innovative energy technologies  

Policy 5.9 Overheating and cooling  

Policy 5.10 Urban greening  

Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site 

environs 

 

Policy 5.15 Water use and supplies  

Policy 5.17 Waste capacity  

Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and 

demolition waste  

 

6 London’s transport 

Policy 6.1 Strategic approach  

Policy 6.2 Providing public transport capacity 

and safeguarding land for transport  

Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development 

on transport capacity  

transport infrastructure 

Policy 6.9 Cycling  

Policy 6.10 Walking  

Policy 6.13 Parking  

 

7 London’s living places and spaces 

Policy 7.1 Building London’s neighbourhoods 

and communities  

Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment  

Policy 7.3 Designing out crime  

Policy 7.4 Local character  

Policy 7.5 Public realm  

Policy 7.6 Architecture 

 

8 Implementation, monitoring and review 

Policy 8.2 Planning obligations  

Policy 8.3 Community infrastructure levy  

 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 

Page 140



Spatial Strategy 

Policy CS 8 (Enhancing Islington’s Character) 

 

Strategic Policies 

Policy CS 9 (Protecting and Enhancing Islington’s Built and Historic Environment) 

Policy CS 10 (Sustainable Design) 

Policy CS 11 (Waste) 

Policy CS 12 (Meeting the Housing Challenge) 

C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 
Design and Heritage  
Design and Heritage 

DM2.1 Design 

DM2.2 Inclusive Design 

 

Housing 

DM3.1 Mix of housing sizes 

DM3.4 Housing standards 

DM3.5 Private outdoor space 

DM3.7 Noise and vibration (residential 

use) 

 

 

Energy and Environmental Standards 

DM7.1 Sustainable design and 

construction statements 

DM7.4 Sustainable design standards 

 

Transport 

DM8.1 Movement hierarchy 

DM8.2 Managing transport impacts 

DM8.3 Public transport 

DM8.4 Walking and cycling 

DM8.5 Vehicle parking 

DM8.6 Delivery and servicing for new 

Developments 

 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



- . ' 
. 

� .  

Islington SE GIS Print Template -

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission or the controller or Her 
Majesty's Stationery Office,© Crown Copyright. 

P2016/4087/FUL

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE B  

Date: 02 October 2017 NON-EXEMPT 

 

Application number P2017/1597/S73 

Application type Full Planning Application  

Ward Highbury East 

Listed building Not listed 

Conservation area None 

Development Plan Context Employment Growth Area 
Within 50m of Aberdeen Park Conservation Area 
Within 50m of Highbury Fields Conservation Area 

Licensing Implications None 

Site Address Unit 9 & 10, 9 Frogmore Industrial Estate, 99 Kelvin Road, 
London, N5 2PL 

Proposal Section 73 application for the variation to conditions 3 
(hours of operation and deliveries) of planning consent ref 
P122329 dated 12/08/2013 for the:  
Retention of unit 9 & unit 10 for use as B8 storage and 
distribution with ancillary trade counter. 
 
The variation seeks to alter the hours of operation and 
deliveries to:  
07:30-18:00 hrs Monday to Friday  
07:30-13:00 hrs Saturday  
Closed on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
 

 

Case Officer Joe Aggar 

Applicant Mr Mark Churchill. 

Agent Redbourn Group Limited - Ms Michele Bradley 

 
 
1. RECOMMENDATION 
 
  The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission: 
 

1. Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1;  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Development Management Service 
Planning and Development Division 
Environment and Regeneration Department 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item B5



 
 

2. SITE PLAN (site outlined in black) 
 

 
 

 

Page 146



 
2. PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET 

 

 
 
Image 1:  Aerial view of the application site 
 
 

 
 
Image 2: Aerial view in northerly direction 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 147



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Image 3: View towards Units 9 & 10 Frogmore Industrial Estate  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Image 4: View to the rear of on Kelvin Road.  
 
 
 
 

Page 148



 
 

 
 
Image 5: View looking east to Unit 9 &10.   
 
4.0 SUMMARY  
 
4.1 Planning permission is sought for the variation to condition 3 (hours of operation and 

deliveries) of planning consent ref P122329 dated 12/08/2013. Planning permission 
P122329 was for the Retention of unit 9 & unit 10 for use as B8 storage and distribution 
with ancillary trade counter. 
 

4.2 The variation seeks to alter the hours of operation and deliveries to:  
07:30-18:00 hrs Monday to Friday  
07:30-13:00 hrs Saturday  
Closed on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
 

4.3 The amendment to the condition would extend hours of operation and delivery by 30 
minutes in the morning (from 8am to 7:30am) from Monday to Saturday. The application 
has been called into committee by Councillors. 
 

4.4 The issues arising from the application are the impact on neighboring amenity in terms of 
noise and disturbance from servicing and delivery due to the extended hours in the 
morning. These matters are outweighed by the existing context in which the site is locate, 
the modest nature of the proposal and addressing the matter through condition.    

 
4.5 The application is referred to committee as two councillors have requested the planning 

application to be heard at planning committee. The proposal is considered to be acceptable 
and it is recommended that the application be approved. 
 

 

Page 149



 
5. SITE AND SURROUNDING 
 
5.1 The industrial estate is rectangular in shape and comprises 10, two storey commercial units 

arranged in an irregular U-shape to the southern part of the estate. Each of the units have a 
loading bay to the front elevation. Marked customer and employee car parking abuts the 
rear gardens of the residential terraced properties located to the north of the site, located on 
Kelvin Road. The industrial estate is accessed from Kelvin Road. The application site 
comprises two of the commercial unit (operating as Howdens) which are located to the west 
of Frogmore Industrial Estate.  

 
5.2 To the east of the site is a four storey L-shaped residential block with an area of open 

space known as ‘The Woodlands’. To the west is a Ladbroke House, a substantial 4 storey, 
former university building. The site is located within an Employment Growth Area and is 
also located within 50m of Aberdeen Park Conservation Area and Highbury Field 
Conservation. The site is not statutorily listed nor is it locally listed.  

 
5.3 There are instances of commercial and education uses within the vicinity however the 

surrounding area is largely residential. The Highbury Barn Local Shopping Area is also 
located within approximately 50m.   

 
6. PROPOSAL (in Detail) 
 
6.1 Planning permission is sought for the variation to condition 3 (hours of operation and 

deliveries) of planning consent ref P122329 dated 12/08/2013. Planning permission 
P122329 was for the Retention of unit 9 & unit 10 for use as B8 storage and distribution 
with ancillary trade counter. 
 

6.2      The variation seeks to alter the hours of operation and deliveries to:  
07:30-18:00 hrs Monday to Friday  
07:30-13:00 hrs Saturday  
Closed on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
 
The condition currently allows hours of operation and delivery from: 

 
0800 hours to 18.00 hours on Monday to Friday 
08.00 hours to 13.00 Saturdays  
Not operate on Sunday and bank holidays.  

 
6.3 The amendment to the condition would extend hours of operation and delivery by 30 

minutes in the morning. 
 
7. RELEVANT HISTORY: 
  

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Unit 3, Frogmore Industrial Estate, planning application re: P002384 for the ‘Change of use 

from commercial printers (Class B1) to electrical wholesalers (Class B8) with small ancillary 
counter’ was GRANTED on the 15/01/2001.   

  
7.2 Unit 4 and 5, Frogmore Industrial Estate, planning application re: P101346 for the ‘Change 

of Use from B8 (Warehouse) to B2 (Garage with MOT Facility)’ was GRANTED on the 
19/08/2010.   
 

Page 150



 CONDITION: The Garage with MOT facilities hereby approved shall not operate except 
between the hours of 8.00am and 6.00pm on Mondays to Friday between 10.00am and 
1.00pm on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays.  

 
 REASON: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the enjoyment by 
neighbouring occupiers of their premises. 

 
7.3 Unit 5, Frogmore Industrial Estate, planning application re: P110996 for the ‘Change of use 

of existing industrial estate unit from class B2 (General industrial) to class D2 (Assembly 
and leisure) for use as a gymnasium’ was REFUSED on the 20/10/2011.   

 
7.4 Unit 9 & 10, Frogmore Industrial Estate, planning application re: P122329 for the ‘Retention 

of unit 9 & unit 10 for use as B8 storage and distribution with ancillary trade counter’ was 
GRANTED on the 12/08/2013.   

 
 CONDITION: The B8 use hereby approved shall not operate outside the hours of:  

 
0800 hours to 18.00 hours on Monday to Friday 
08.00 hours to 13.00 Saturdays  
Not operate on Sunday and bank holidays. 
 
No deliveries shall be made to the premises outside the above hours of operation. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed development does not have an adverse impact on 
neighbouring residential amenity in accordance with policy CS12F of the Islington Core 
Strategy 2011. 

 
ENFORCEMENT 

 
7.5 Unit 9 & 10, Frogmore Industrial Estate -  E/2017/0082 – Breach of Condition – Case 

Closed. Enforcement informed the operator on 03 April 2017, via letter, they were operating 
outside the hours stipulated by condition.   
 

7.6 Unit 9 & 10, Frogmore Industrial Estate -  E/2017/019– Breach of Condition. 
  
7.7 Frogmore Industrial Estate - E/2017/019 – Unauthorised storage of building materials.  
 
 PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE: 
 
7.7 None.  
 
8. CONSULTATION 
 

Public Consultation 
 
8.1 Letters were sent to 79 occupants of adjoining and nearby properties at Aberdeen Park, 

Kelvin Road, Melody Lane and Highbury Grove on 04 May 2017. The public consultation of 
the application expired on 29 May 2017. One objection was received following the public 
consultation. The application has been called into Planning Committee by Cllr Erdogan and 
Cllr Gantly.   

 
8.2  The issues raised can be summarised as follows (with the paragraph that provides 

responses to each issue indicated in brackets): 
 

Page 151



- Early morning disturbance, from noises related to service and delivery (See paragraph 
10.11) 

 
Internal Consultees 

 
8.6 Highways: No comment at the time of writing the report. 

 
8.7 Noise Officer: The 3/5/16 complaint is from a one off other complainant but all other 

complaints are from a single complainant on Kelvin Road.  The ASB team have not 
witnessed a nuisance and most calls have just been logged without visiting the 
complainant’s property.  A diary sheet is provided, completed by the resident which is in 
relation to Howdens.  Planning Enforcement appear to have been involved and it looks like 
they may have been operating outside of the previously consented hours of 0800-1800 
Monday to Friday and 0800-1300 Saturday – extending the hours of use further does give 
cause for concern with this track record. 
 
Some of the activities generating complaints fall between 0730 and 0800 but the vast 
majority do not.  In noise terms we would look to protect the night time for the average 
person, commonly taken to be 2300 until 0700.  Taken purely from a noise impact 
perspective, it would be difficult to argue that a 30-minute extension of the hours, outside of 
the normal night time hours and would lead to a significant adverse impact that could not be 
controlled.  There are likely to be some objections with the history and close proximity of the 
estate to residential occupiers on Kelvin Road and therefore to attempt to tackle the issue 
the following condition requiring a NMP to be submitted: 
 
“A Noise Management Plan assessing the impact of the B8 operation and extended hours 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
extended hours hereby permitted commencing on site.  The report shall assess impacts of 
the use on nearby residents and other occupiers together with means of mitigating any 
identified impacts.  The B8 use shall be operated strictly in accordance with the details so 
approved and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority." 
 
The NMP should have clear management controls set out to control the hours of use of the 
site and delivery noise, shouting and worker behaviour, idling engines, loading/unloading 
noise, forklifts & pallet jacks, reversing alarms etc. 

 
External Consultees 
 

8.8 None. 
 
9. RELEVANT POLICIES 

 
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.  This report 
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents. 

 
National Guidance 

 
9.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek 

to secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and 
social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material 
considerations and have been taken into account as part of the assessment of these 
proposals.  

 
 

Page 152



Development Plan   
 
9.2 The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2015, Islington Core Strategy 

2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site 
Allocations 2013. The policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this 
application and are listed at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD) 

 
9.3 The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2. 
 
10. ASSESSMENT  
 
10.1 The main issues arising from this proposal relate to: 
 

 Acknowledgement of the scope of what may and may not be considered under Section 73 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 Nature of the variation and whether the change(s) materially/adversely alter the nature of 
the scheme 

 Any significant material alterations since the original grant of planning permission.  
 

Original application  
 
10.2 There is planning history surrounding the development and its delivery hours, amongst 

other matters. The unit was originally granted permission was originally granted planning 
permission in August 2013 (Ref P122329) with conditions imposed thereon controlling its 
opening hours and permitted delivery times. These operation hours were 0800 hours to 
18.00 hours on Monday to Friday and 08.00 hours to 13.00 Saturdays and not at all on 
Sunday and bank holidays. No deliveries were allowed outside the above hours of 
operation. 

 
10.3 Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 concerns ‘Determination of 

application to develop land without compliance with conditions previously attached’. It is 
colloquially known as ‘varying’ or ‘amending’ conditions. Section 73 applications also 
involve consideration of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be 
granted.  Where an application under s73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a fresh grant 
of permission and the notice should list all conditions pertaining to it. The application cannot 
be used to vary the time limit for implementation.   
 

10.4 Alterations to planning policy and other material considerations since the original grant of 
planning permission are relevant and need to be considered.  However, these must be 
considered in light of the matters discussed in the previous paragraphs and the fact that the 
permission is extant.  
 

 Variation to Opening hours and delivery times. 
 
 

10.5 London Plan policy 7.6 (part B) states that buildings should not cause unacceptable harm to 
the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation 
to privacy, overshadowing, wind and microclimate. Policy 7.15 (part B) of the London Plan 
states that development proposals should seek to manage noise, including by avoiding 
significant adverse noise impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new 
development; mitigating and minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise 
on, from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of new developments; separating new noise 
sensitive development from major noise sources through the use of distance, screening, or 

Page 153



internal layout in preference to sole reliance on sound insulation; and promoting new 
technologies and improved practices to reduce noise at source. Development Management 
Policy DM2.1 (part Ax) confirms that, for a development proposal to be acceptable it is 
required to provide a good level of amenity including consideration of noise and the impact 
of disturbance, hours of operation, vibration, pollution, fumes between and within 
developments. These considerations apply to the amenities of any existing residents, and 
of future residents of proposed developments. 

 
10.6    The site sits within the Frogmore Industrial Estate which is a relatively large are comprising 

commercial units, located within an Employment Growth Area. This comprises 10 
commercial units which comprise, electrical and plumbing distributors, a MOT centre unit 
and a timber merchant.  The site has marked car parking spaces for both employees and 
customers and within the estate there is standing space for delivery/serving with each unit 
having a loading bay area. The site has a single vehicular access from Kelvin Road. This 
leads into a gated service yard.   

 
10.7 To north of the site abuts the rear boundary walls to 16 residential terraced properties 

located on Kelvin Road. The surrounding area is a mixture of commercial and residential, 
with the site located in close proximity to Highbury Park and close to a Local Shopping Area 
and former University building. Therefore, there is a high degree of activity with traffic within 
the site and the surrounding roads. It is acknowledged that the terraced properties (67b-97) 
Kelvin Road have a particular sensitive relationship to the Frogmore Industrial Estates 
based on the proximity and nature of the commercial units. 
 

10.8 There are no physical changes proposed to the store or its means of access for deliveries. 
The variation of the condition and its replacement would have the effect of allowing 
deliveries to the unit to take place over a slightly greater timeslot with opening times and 
deliveries proposed 30 minutes earlier in the morning from Monday to Saturday. 

 
10.9 The residential properties most likely to be affected by any noise generated by the 

movements of delivery vehicles to and from the commercial unit are those situated in Kelvin 
Road. These are situated to the north of the site. The rear gardens and the service yard is 
separated by a medium height masonry boundary wall.  

 
10.10 Deliveries would therefore take place from 0730hrs to 1800hrs Monday to Friday and 

0730hrs to 1300hrs on Saturday as opposed to the current opening and delivery times of 
0800hrs, to 1800hrs on Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300hrs on Saturday. The number of 
deliveries taking place throughout this period has not been commented on by the applicant. 
In this respect the situation that would arise with a marginal change in the hours that 
deliveries and loading could take place would be unlikely to change to any material extent 
as the number of deliveries that would take place to the unit in total over a given period of 
time would not necessarily increase if the condition were to be modified in the manner 
proposed. 

 
10.11 A diary sheet has been submitted by a resident over a 2 week monitoring the disturbances 

at Units 9 and 10. The Environmental Health Officer has also provided a list of noise 
complaints, the timings and their nature. Since May 2016, The councils Public Protection 
Team have recorded 18 complaints and some of these activities generating complaints fell 
between 0730 and 0800 but the vast majority did not.  In noise terms, Public Protection 
Officer has stated they would look to protect the night time for the average person, 
commonly taken to be 2300 until 0700.  Overall, taken purely from a noise impact 
perspective it is difficult to substantiate that 30-minute extension of the hours, outside of the 
normal night time hours would cause significant nuisance or undue harm to neighbouring 
occupiers’ amenity. The impact of earlier opening times and delivery noise needs to be 
considered in the context of the site which is located amongst other commercial activities. 

Page 154



Moreover, this needs to be tempered against, in planning terms, that the majority of the 
commercial units are not restricted in terms of opening and delivery times. Due to the 
history of complaints and proximity of site to nearby residential uses it is recommended to 
attach a Noise Management Plan to have clear management controls in the event of any 
approval. The ability to control such matters by condition is a benefit of the proposal. 
 

10.12 In conclusion, the additional 30 minutes during which opening hours and deliveries to Units 
9 &10 are sought would have very little, if any, negative impact on the living conditions of 
the adjoining residents, subject to condition. As noted in paragraph 10.11, the normal hours 
of protection of nigh time noise levels is between the hours of 0700 and 2300hrs. The 
commercial units would continue to operate within these hours. It is considered that the 
modest changes to the original condition as proposed would not lead to an unacceptable 
impact on the living conditions or amenities of the local residents and there would therefore 
be no material conflict with either the local plan or with paragraph 17 and 123 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, which seek to provide a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupiers of land and building and mitigate and reduce to a minimum 
adverse impacts on health and quality of life arising from noise from new development, 
including through the use of conditions.  
 

10.13 The objections from one neighbour in particular are noted based on historic complaints. 
However, based on the above assessment the times and number of deliveries would not 
result in adverse harm to neighbouring occupiers in terms of noise or disturbance. The 
opening times would bring modest economic benefits. However, this has not been a 
determining factor within the assessment of the application.  

 
Highways and Transportation 

 
10.28 The existing estate is accessed from Kelvin Road with Highbury Park located close by. The 

estate is used by local traders and small/medium sized business with vans being the main 
mode of transport. There are separate CPZ controls in the surrounding residential streets to 
further ensure no parking pressures will be exerted on surrounding roads adjacent to the 
site.   
 

10.29 There is not significant information to show that there would be any adverse effects of the 
development on the operation of the highway network or to highway safety. There is no 
formal footway within the estate and as such there is potential conflict with the estate traffic 
in regard to pedestrian safety. However, this situation is extant and previously mentioned, 
by increasing the opening and delivery times of one unit within the estate, is not considered 
to materially increase the frequency of daily deliveries that would result in an acceptable 
level of traffic generation.  In conclusion the proposal would not conflict with DM8.6 of the 
Development Management Polices.  
 

11.  SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 
 

Summary 
 
11.1 The proposal for extended operating and delivery times is on balance not considered to 

cause undue noise or disturbance to neighbouring residential occupiers, notably those 
located on Kelvin Road.   
 

11.2 The impact of the proposal is not considered to cause an adverse impact on the local 
highway in terms of traffic generation or highway safety. 

 
11.3  As such, the proposed development is considered to accord with the policies in the London 

plan, Islington Core Strategy, Islington Development Management Policies and the National 

Page 155



Planning Policy Framework and as such is recommended for an approval subject to 
appropriate conditions. 

 
Conclusion 
 

11.5 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in 
Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATION. 

 

Page 156



APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
RECOMMENDATION A 
 
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following: 
 
List of Conditions: 
 

1 Commencement  

 CONDITION:  The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the 
expiration of 12/08/2016. 
 
REASON: To ensure the commencement timescale for the development is not 
extended beyond that of the original planning permission granted on 12/08/2013 [LBI 
ref: P122329].  Furthermore, to comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5) 
 

2 Approved plans list 

 CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  
 
Site location plan, Supporting Statement incorporating Design and Access Statement 
from Howden Joinery Properties Limited dated October 2012, drawing numbers: 
29585_01, 29585_02 & DE01/REV A. 
 
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning. 
 

3 Operating and Service and Delivery Hours (Details) 

 CONDITION: The B8 use hereby approved shall not operate outside the hours of:  
 
0730 hours to 1800 hours on Monday to Friday 
0730 hours to 1300 hours Saturdays  
Not operate on Sunday and bank holidays. 
 
No deliveries shall be made to the premises outside the above hours of operation. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed development does not have an adverse 
impact on neighbouring residential amenity. 
 

4 Noise Management Plan  

 CONDITION: A Noise Management Plan assessing the impact of the B8 operation 
and extended hours shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the extended hours hereby permitted commencing on site.  
The report shall assess impacts of the use on nearby residents and other occupiers 
together with means of mitigating any identified impacts.  The B8 use shall be 
operated strictly in accordance with the details so approved and no change therefrom 
shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposed development does not have an adverse 
impact on neighbouring residential amenity. 
 

Page 157



 
 
List of Informatives: 
 

1 Positive Statement 

 To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning Authority has produced 
policies and written guidance, all of which is available on the Council's website.  
 
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged. 
The LPA and the applicant have worked positively and proactively in a collaborative 
manner through both the pre-application and the application stages to deliver an 
acceptable development in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
The LPA delivered the decision in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 
 

 
 

Page 158



APPENDIX 2:    RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the 
determination of this planning application. 
 
1. National Guidance 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) seek to 
secure positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social 
progress for this and future generations. The NPPF and PPG are material considerations and have 
been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.  
 
2. Development Plan   
 
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011, 
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.  
The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application: 
 
A)   The London Plan 2016 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London  

 
Policy 7.4 Local Character 
Policy 7.6 Architecture 
 
B)   Islington Core Strategy 2011 
 
Strategic Policies 
 
Policy CS 12 – Meeting the housing challenge 
Policy CS13 – Employment Spaces 

 
C)   Development Management Policies June 2013 
 

- Policy DM2.1 – Design 
- Policy DM8.4 - Walking and cycling 
- Policy DM8.5 - Vehicle parking 
- Policy DM8.6 - Delivery and Servicing for new Developments 
 

 
3.     Designations 
 

Employment Growth Area 
Within 50m of Aberdeen Park Conservation Area 
Within 50m of Highbury Fields Conservation Area 
 

4.     SPD/SPGS 
 

None  
 
 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTHGATE SE GIS Print Template 

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. 

               P2017/1597/S73 

 

LB

35.6m

34.9m

A
B

E
R

D
E

E
N

 P
A

R
K

KELVIN

Frogmore Industrial Estate

ROAD

1
0

KELVIN ROAD

MELODY LANE

LB

Kelvin Road

43.3m

Play Area

41.2m

1
2
4

63

1
4
2

1
3
4

6
9

L
o
d
g
e

E
scu

a
n

19

1
 t
o
 2

4

7
9

26

2

6

22

14

32

1
0
0

L
o
d
g
e
 M

e
w

s
9

8

2
4

5
3

2
1

1
4

Beaconsfield

1 to 8

El Sub Sta

1 to 23

The Woodlands

1
0

8

Lodge

7

7
1

67b69

6
7

2

L
yn

d
o
n
 C

o
u
rt

8

83

43

2
6

29

31

30

33

57 to 80

4
0

3
2

Gardner Court

27 to 46

8
1
 to

 1
0
2

1 to 26

1

El

Sub

Sta

2

97

4

Kelvin Works

4
6

4
0

2
1

2
1
a

2
1
b

5
2

Ladbroke House

6
2
 to

 6
6

5
6

S
h
e
lte

r

2
4

2
4

PO

1
1

2
8

PH

3

4
7
 t
o
 5

6

1
4

G
a
rd

n
e
r C

o
u
rt

6
0

1
5
7

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

XX

X XXXXXXXXXXX
XX

X

X

XX

X

X

X

X

X
X X

XXXXXXXXXX

X

X

XXXXXXXXXX

X X

X

X

X

X

X

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A5 Order of Business
	A6 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	B1 44 Pear Street, London, EC1V 3SB
	MAP P2017-0865-FUL 44 Pear Tree Street London EC1V 3SB

	B2 60 Halliford Street, N1 3EQ
	Map P2017-2464-S73 60 Halliford Street, London, London, N1 3EQ

	B3 Newington Green Primary School, 105 Matthias Road, N16 8NP
	Map P2017-1518-FUL, Newington Green Primary School,  105 Matthias Road, N16 8NP

	B4 Orchard Building, 25 Pear Tree Street, EC1V 3AP
	MAP P2016-4087-FUL 25 Pear Tree Street London EC1V 3AP

	B5 Unit 9 & 10, 9 Frogmore Industrial Estate, 99 Kelvin Road, N5 2PL
	Map P2017-1597-S73 Unit 9 & 10 9 Frogmore Industrial Estate, 99 Kelvin Road, London, N5 2PL




